# Louisiana State University LSU Digital Commons

LSU Doctoral Dissertations

Graduate School

2-22-2019

# Genetic Analysis of Drought Tolerance in Rice (Oryza sativa L.)

Uttam Bhattarai ubhatt3@lsu.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool\_dissertations Part of the <u>Plant Breeding and Genetics Commons</u>

# **Recommended** Citation

Bhattarai, Uttam, "Genetic Analysis of Drought Tolerance in Rice (Oryza sativa L.)" (2019). *LSU Doctoral Dissertations*. 4808. https://digitalcommons.lsu.edu/gradschool\_dissertations/4808

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized graduate school editor of LSU Digital Commons. For more information, please contactgradetd@lsu.edu.

# GENETIC ANALYSIS OF DROUGHT TOLERANCE IN RICE (Oryza sativa L.)

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in

The School of Plant, Environmental Management, and Soil Sciences

by Uttam Bhattarai B.S. Tribhuvan University, Nepal, 2010 M.S. Assam Agricultural University, India, 2013 M.S. Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, USA, 2017 May 2019

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere thanks to my major advisor Dr. Prasanta K. Subudhi for providing me all the guidance and support during my entire study period at LSU. I am also thankful to my committee members, Dr. Stephen Harrison and Dr. Adam Famoso, for their continuous inspiration. Additionally, I would also like to thank Dr. Maria Bampasidou for her willingness to serve as a Dean's representative in my doctoral committee.

I would like to thank my past lab members Dr. Ramesh Dhakal, and Dr. Teresa de Leon for their continuous encouragement and co-ordination during my study and research. I am also thankful to all the lab members who worked with me at different stages of my research. My thanks are due to the friendly staff members at the AgCenter greenhouse facility for providing the facilities and resources necessary for my research. I am also thankful to all the members of SPESS for providing me a good learning and research environment.

My family has always been helpful to me during my study period. I would like to thank my parents for their continuous encouragement, support, and blessings. I am thankful to my brother, sister, brother in law and sister in law for their inspiration throughout my life. Finally, I would like to thank my wife, Bindu for her unending love and support.

List of Tables	V
List of Figures	vii
Abstract	viii
Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1. Rice: Importance and production	1
1.2. Rice water requirements	1
1.3. What is drought?	2
1.4. Drought responses in rice	3
1.5. Genetic diversity in rice	4
1.6. OTLs for root traits under drought stress	5
1.7. OTLs for vield and agronomic traits under drought stress	5
1.8. Rationale and objectives of the research	6
1.9. References	
Chapter 2. Evaluation of Genetic Diversity, Population Structure, and Marker-Tra	it Association
for Drought Tolerance in Rice Germplasm of the United States	10
2.1. Introduction	10
2.2. Materials and methods	
2.3. Results	16
2.4. Discussion	
2.5. Conclusions	
2.6. References	
Chapter 3. Identification of Drought Responsive QTLs During Vegetative Growth	Stage of Rice
Using a Saturated GBS-Based SNP Linkage Map	
3.1. Introduction	
3.2. Materials and methods	42
3.3. Results	45
3.4. Discussion	62
3.5. Conclusions	68
3.6. References	69
Chapter 4. Genetic Analysis of Yield and Agronomic Traits Under Reproductive S	Stage Drought
Stress in Rice Using a High-Resolution Linkage Map	
4.1. Introduction	
4.2. Materials and methods	
4.5. Kesults	
4.4. Discussion	
4.5. Conclusions	
4.6. Reterences	95
Chapter 5. Conclusions	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

# **Table of Contents**

Appendix A. Supplementary Information for Chapter 2	102
Appendix B. Supplementary Information for Chapter 3	108
Appendix C. Supplementary Information for Chapter 4	115
Appendix D: Permissions to Reprint	124
Vita	128

# List of Tables

Table 2.1. Estimation of phenotypic and genetic parameters for various agronomic traits, yield, and yield related traits in rice genotypes under drought stress    17
Table 2.2. Pearson correlation coefficients among various agronomic traits, yield, and yield-related traits in rice genotypes under drought stress    17
Table 2.3. Mean value of each group identified by cluster analysis for agronomic traits, yield, and yield related traits in the USA rice genotypes under drought stress
Table 2.4. Classification of the USA rice genotypes for drought tolerance based on various agronomic traits, yield, and yield related traits under drought stress  20
Table 2.5. Details of SSR markers used in genotyping of the rice genotypes, major allelefrequency, number of alleles, genetic diversity, and PIC values
Table 2.6. Analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) among the eight sub-populations identified by 'Structure' software
Table 2.7. Significant marker trait association in rice genotypes under drought stress using GLM    (Q) and MLM (Q+K) model
Table 3.1. Phenotypic characterization of parents and RIL population developed from the crossCocodrie x N-22 for various root and shoot traits under drought stress and non-stressenvironments
Table 3.2. Pearson correlation matrix among various root and shoot traits in the Cocodrie x N-22RIL population under drought stress and non-stress environments
Table 3.3. Summary of the SNP markers distribution and genome coverage in the linkage map ofthe Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population
Table 3.4. Additive QTLs for various root and shoot related traits in the Cocodrie x N-22 RIL    population under water stressed condition identified by ICIM
Table 3.5. Additive QTLs for various root and shoot related traits in the Cocodrie x N-22 RILpopulation under irrigated condition as identified by ICIM
Table 3.6. Additive QTLs for various root and shoot related traits identified by Interval Mapping(IM) in Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population under water stressed condition
Table 3.7. Additive QTLs for various root and shoot related traits identified by Interval Mapping(IM) in the Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population under irrigated condition

Table 3.8. List of previously reported QTLs co-localized with the QTLs identified in this    study
Table 3.9. Gene ontology (GO) analysis of QTL regions for each drought responsive trait64
Table 4.1. Various statistical parameters for yield and yield-related traits under reproductivestage drought stress in Cocodrie × N-22 RIL population
Table 4.2. Correlation coefficients among various yield and yield-related traits underreproductive stage drought stress in Cocodrie × N-22 RIL population
Table 4.3. List of additive QTLs for yield and yield-related traits identified using ICIM in Cocodrie $\times$ N-22 RIL population under reproductive stage drought stress
Table 4.4. Gene ontology (GO) analysis of the genes present in QTL interval for each trait90
Table 4.5. List of differentially expressed genes present within the identified important drought responsive QTL regions in N-22

# List of Figures

Figure 2.1. Principal component analysis (PCA) plot of various agronomic traits, yield, and yield-related traits in the USA rice genotypes
Figure 2.2. Clustering of the rice genotypes based on nine phenotypic traits under drought stress
Figure 2.3. Estimation of population structure using $LnP(D)$ derived $\Delta K$ for determining the optimum number of subpopulations
Figure 2.4. The estimated population structure of rice genotypes (K=8)27
Figure 2.5. Unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA) tree of rice genotypes using SSR markers
Figure 3.1. Frequency distribution of various root and shoot traits under water stress condition in Cocodrie x N-22 RIL F8 population
Figure 3.2. Map positions of QTLs for eight root and shoot traits on the genetic linkage map developed in an F <sub>8</sub> RIL population from the cross Cocodrie x N-22
Figure 4.1. Frequency distribution for various yield and yield related traits in Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population under reproductive stage drought stress
Figure 4.2. Principal component (PC) analysis of eight yield and yield related traits in rice84
Figure 4.3. Genetic map showing the positions of QTLs for eight yield and yield related traits in Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population

#### Abstract

Drought is a major challenge in rice production system worldwide. We conducted a phenotypic screening of the USA rice genotypes for drought tolerance and assessed genetic diversity using SSR markers. Identification of QTLs for drought tolerance during both vegetative and reproductive stage was done using genotyping by sequencing (GBS) based saturated SNP linkage map. The rice genotypes Jes, Leah, Roy J, Jazzman, and Madison were found to be drought tolerant. Population structure analysis grouped the USA rice genotypes into California, Louisiana, and Arkansas types. Marker-trait association showed that markers RM570 and RM351 were significantly associated with grain yield, spikelet fertility, and harvest index with 7% of the phenotypic variance. RM302 and RM461 were significantly associated with shoot dry weight with 9% of the phenotypic variance. Fourteen additive QTLs were identified for root length, shoot length, fresh root mass, fresh shoot mass, number of tillers, dry root mass, dry shoot mass, and root-shoot ratio. A majority of the drought responsive QTLs were located on chromosome 1. The expression of QTLs varied under stress and irrigated conditions. Shoot length QTLs qSL1.38 and qSL1.11 were congruent to dry shoot mass QTL qDSM1.38 and dry root mass QTL qDRM1.11, respectively. Analysis of genes present within QTL intervals revealed many potential candidate genes such as laccase, Calvin cycle protein, serine threonine protein kinase, heat shock protein, and WRKY protein. In the reproductive stage drought screening, 21 QTLs were discovered for days to flowering, plant height, leaf rolling score, plant dry matter content, spikelet fertility, grain yield, yield index, and harvest index. A major QTL for plant height *qPH1.38* was identified in a narrow confidence interval on chromosome 1. The QTLs, qDTF3.01 and qPH1.38, overlapped with the previously identified QTL qDTY1.1 and Hd9, respectively. A large-effect QTL qLRS1.37 was identified close to the sd1 locus on chromosome 1. A grain yield QTL qGY1.42 located on chromosome 1 contained only 4

viii

candidate genes. There was no overlapping of QTLs for the root traits and the yield attributes. The important candidate genes present within the large effect drought tolerance QTL regions are MYB transcription factors, no apical meristem protein (NAC), potassium channel protein, nuclear matrix protein1, and chlorophyll A-B binding protein. The drought tolerant US rice genotypes identified in the genetic diversity analysis will be valuable for breeding programs whereas the candidate genes and the QTL information will set the foundation for application of marker-assisted pyramiding approach to improve drought tolerance in rice.

#### **Chapter 1. Introduction**

# 1.1. Rice: Importance and production

Rice (*Oryza Sativa* L.) is an important cereal crop in the world both in terms of production and consumption. It is the staple food for almost half of the world's population. Almost 90% of rice is produced in Asia (USDA 2018a). The global production of rice in 2017 was 725 million metric tons (USDA 2018b). China is the major producer of rice followed by India. Rice production in USA is concentrated in six major states, *viz*. California, Arkansas, Louisiana, Texas, Mississippi, and Missouri. The USA is ranked sixth among the rice exporting countries in the world with an annual export of 3.3 million metric tons in 2017. Among the US states, Arkansas produces the largest amount of rice followed by California and Louisiana (Statista 2018). The total area under rice cultivation in the USA in 2017 was 996 thousand hectares with a total production of 9 million metric tons (USDA 2018b).

#### **1.2. Rice water requirements**

Rice is the biggest user of irrigation water in the world accounting for 34-43% of the total world's irrigation water or 24-30% of the entire world's fresh water resources. Rice is grown continuously flooded from transplanting until 7-10 days before harvest (Rice knowledge bank, IRRI, http://www.knowledgebank.irri.org/step-by-step-production/growth/water-management). The water requirement in rice varies depending upon the rice growing ecosystem. Rice is grown in both lowland and upland ecosystems. The water requirement of rice in lowland ecosystem is quite high. On an average, the water requirement of rice during its entire growth period to produce 1kg of rice is 1300-1500 mm, which is equal to 1432 liters of water. More than 90% of rice in the world is grown under lowland rice ecosystem (Halwart and Gupta 2004). The water requirement depends on the soil type of the rice growing area. Rice is usually grown in clayey

soils and the water requirement in heavy clay soil is 400 mm compared to 2000 mm in coarsetextured soil (Rice knowledge bank, IRRI, http://www.knowledgebank.irri.org/step-by-stepproduction/growth/water-management). The rise in temperature is expected to increase the water requirement for rice cultivation by 2-5% in 2046. Climate change is also expected to decrease the precipitation, which may affect the rainfed rice growing ecosystem in the world (Wang et al. 2012).

#### **1.3. What is drought?**

In general, every drought definition is associated with low availability of water. Wilhite and Glantz (1985) classified drought into four major categories: meteorological, hydrological, agricultural, and socio-economic drought. Agricultural drought is of the major concern in crop growth and production and is defined as the insufficiency of water for crop growth. The level of water requirement in crops differs depending on the type of plant and its growth stage. Drought can be classified into three major categories based on the timing of its occurrence in lowland rice cultivation systems (Chang et al. 1979). Vegetative drought occurs at the seedling stage and is less harmful to the plants because they have optimum time to recover even after drought. Intermittent drought occurs between the rainfall events. It affects the plant's vegetative development. Terminal drought occurs during the flowering stage resulting in drastic reduction in grain yield. Plant breeding programs for drought tolerance are designed for a specific environmental condition called target environment (Fischer et al. 2003). Multiple target environments can be defined for a crop. The target environment for a lowland rice breeding program may depend on the rainfall pattern, soil type, frequency, and severity of the drought events.

#### **1.4. Drought responses in rice**

Rice exhibits a large reduction in grain yield under drought. Rice plant displays various mechanisms to cope with the drought stress. Drought avoidance is a mechanism in which the plant tries to maintain its osmotic level either by developing a deeper root system or by reducing the plant water use. Delay in flowering is another strategy adapted by plants to escape from the drought environment. Drought tolerance is the ability of the plant to minimize reduction in grain yield even after exposure to drought conditions (Kamoshita et al. 2008). Several phenotypic and physiological adaptive mechanisms protect rice plants under drought stress.

Higher leaf rolling, reduction in spikelet fertility, and reduction in grain yield are some of the major phenotypic changes in rice plants under drought stress (Bhattarai and Subudhi 2018a). Other physiological responses of plants under drought include reduction in leaf water content, increased canopy temperature, reduction in chlorophyll content, and increased proline accumulation (Shukla et al. 2012). Seedling stage drought screening can be done to assess drought tolerance in rice (Kato et al. 2008). However, it may not be the primary indication of the plant's drought tolerance ability for sustainable yield. Most of drought tolerance studies conducted at reproductive stage are based on plant height, days to flowering, and yield (Ghimire et al. 2012; Palanog et al. 2014; Prince et al. 2015). Roots traits are important attributes that help rice plant to withstand drought. Drought tolerant plants tend to increase root length under drought stress (Bhattarai and Subudhi 2018b). Root length, root volume, root mass, and root angle are some important traits for consideration in drought tolerance screening.

Identification of traits that can distinguish drought tolerant varieties from susceptible ones is necessary for any successful breeding program. Drought tolerance traits in rice have been classified as primary, secondary, integrated, phenological, and plant type traits (Kamoshita et al.

2008). Primary traits can be constitutive traits (root depth, branching angle) or induced traits (hard pan penetration, osmotic adjustment). Plant type traits (plant height, number of tillers) and phonological traits (days to flowering) are the characteristics of the plant and are highly heritable. Secondary traits (relative leaf water content, leaf rolling score, canopy temperature) are the combined effect of the primary traits and have influence on integrated traits (harvest index, spikelet fertility, grain yield).

## **1.5.** Genetic diversity in rice

Genetic diversity study among the available germplasms is necessary before starting any crop improvement program. It helps to assess variability among the genotypes and identify suitable donors. Rice is a highly diverse plant species with various genome compositions (AA, BB, CC, DD, EE, FF, GG, HH, JJ, KK, and LL). The genus *Oryza* is comprised of 27 species and only two (*O. sativa and O. glaberrima*) are cultivated species (GRisP 2013). The classification of *Oryza sativa* into two sub-groups, *indica* and *japonica*, has been widely accepted. There are approximately 140,000 rice genotypes in the world. The International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) has preserved 100,000 rice genotypes from all around the world (FAO 2003). The USA rice genotypes are less diverse. Most of the southern USA rice varieties were found to be derived from 22 plant introductions and the rice varieties from California were found to be derived from 23 introductions in early 1900s (Dilday 1990).

Various techniques have been used to study genetic diversity in rice. Principal component analysis and cluster analysis have been extensively used to group the genotypes (Das et al. 2013). Molecular markers like SSR and SNPs are widely used to uncover the small genetic variations among the individuals. The population structure analysis, a model-based approach, is

broadly used as a tool to understand the genetic variability (Das et al. 2013). Analysis of molecular variance, discriminant analysis, and principal coordinate analysis are also used.

## 1.6. QTLs for root traits under drought stress

The drought tolerance ability in rice depends on the root system. A drought tolerant genotype tends to increase root length and number of lateral roots under drought stress (Zheng et al. 2003; Uga et al. 2013). Various QTLs for root length, root thickness, and root penetration ability have been detected and incorporated into rice varieties to enhance drought tolerance (Steele et al. 2006). Besides these, some large effect QTLs were detected for root penetration index and root pulling force on chromosome 4 (Zhang et al. 2001), root penetration index on chromosome 3 and 10 (Ali et al. 2000). Zheng et al. (2003) identified 18 QTLs for seminal root length, adventitious root number, lateral root length, and lateral root number. Incorporation of these QTLs into the elite germplasm could be useful to increase the drought tolerance in rice.

# 1.7. QTLs for yield and agronomic traits under drought stress

Enhancing grain yield is the main objective of any rice breeding program. Identification of yield and yield-related traits and their introgression into adapted varieties is one of the best strategies to increase grain yield under drought. Several grain yield QTLs in various chromosomes of rice have been identified under drought. *QTL12.1* was the first identified major grain yield QTL in rice under drought (Bernier et al. 2007). Another large effect QTL for grain yield, *qDTY1.1*, was identified on chromosome 1 (Ghimire et al. 2012). Besides these, *qDTY2.2*, *qDTY3.1*, *qDTY3.2*, *qDTY4.1*, *qDTY6.1*, *qDTY9.1* were other major effect QTLs identified in rice (Venuprasad et al. 2009,2012b; Swamy et al. 2013; Yadav et al. 2013; Sandhu et al. 2014). The identified QTLs should be consistent in multiple genetic backgrounds and various target environments (Vikram et al. 2011; Prince et al. 2015). Marker assisted pyramiding of the large

effect QTLs in adapted varietal background is necessary to achieve higher grain yield under drought (Shamsudin et al. 2016).

#### **1.8.** Rationale and objectives of the research

Rice cultivation requires large amount of water. Scarcity of water and irregular rainfall pattern heavily affect rice production. Exploration of available rice germplasm for drought tolerance is necessary to breed drought tolerant varieties. The identification of QTLs and underlying candidate genes in QTL intervals can be helpful to adopt marker-assisted selection in breeding programs. The overall goal of this study is to generate genomic tools and resources to facilitate drought breeding efforts in USA rice. The specific objectives are as follows:

- Evaluation of genetic diversity, population structure, and marker-trait association for drought tolerance in rice germplasm of the United States
- Identification of drought responsive QTLs during vegetative growth stage of rice using a saturated GBS-based SNP linkage map
- Genetic analysis of yield and agronomic traits under reproductive stage drought stress in rice using a high-resolution linkage map

# 1.9. References

- Ali ML, Pathan MS, Zhang J, Bai G, Sarkarung S, Nguyen HT (2000) Mapping QTLs for root traits in a recombinant inbreed population from two *indica* ecotypes in rice. Theor Appl Genet 101:756-766
- Bhattarai U, Subudhi P (2018a) Genetic analysis of yield and agronomic traits under reproductive-stage drought stress in rice using a high-resolution linkage map. Gene 669:69-76
- Bhattarai, U, Subudhi PK (2018b) Identification of drought responsive QTLs during vegetative growth stage of rice using a saturated GBS-based SNP linkage map. Euphytica 214:38

- Bernier J, Serraj R, Kumar A, Venuprasad R, Impa S, Gowda RPV, Oane R, Spaner D, Altin G (2009) The large-effect drought resistance QTL *qtl12.1* increases water uptake in upland rice. Field Crops Res 110:139-146
- Brouwer C, Heibloem M (1986) Irrigation water management: Irrigation water needs. Training Manual No. 3. FAO
- Chang TT, Somrith B, O'Toole JC (1979) Potential of improving drought resistance in rainfed lowland rice. In: Rainfed Lowland Rice: Selected Papers from the 1978 International Rice Research Conference. International Rice Research Institute, Los Baños, Philippines, pp. 149-164
- Das B, Sengupta S, Parida SK, Roy B, Gosh M, Prasad M, Ghose TK (2013) Genetic diversity and population structure of rice landraces from Eastern and North-Eastern states of India. BMC Genet 14:71
- Dilday RH (1900) Contribution of ancestral lines in the development of new cultivars of rice. Crop Sci 30:905-911
- FAO Corporate Document Repository (2003) Sustainable rice production for food security; Proceedings of the 20<sup>th</sup> session of international rice commission, Bangkok Thailand.
- Fischer KS, Fukai SR, Lafitte R, McLaren G (2003) Know your target environment. In: Fischer KS, Lafitte R, Fukai S, Atlin G, Hardy B (ed.) Breeding rice for drought prone environments. IRRI, Los Baños, Philippines.
- Ghimire KH, Quiatchon LA, Vikram P, Swamy BPM, Dixit S, Ahmed H, Hernandez JE, Borromeo TH, Kumar A (2012) Identification and mapping of a QTL (*qDTY1.1*) with a consistent effect on grain yield under drought. Field Crops Res 131:88-96.
- GRiSP (Global Rice Science Partnership) (2013) Rice Almanac. Los Baños (Philippines): International Rice Research Institute
- Halwart M, Gupta MV (2004) Culture of fish in rice fields. FAO and The World Fish Center.
- Kamoshita A, Babu RC, Boopathi NM, Fukai S (2008) Phenotypic and genotypic analysis of drought-resistance traits for development of rice cultivars adapted to rainfed environments. Field Crops Res 109:1-23
- Kato Y, Hirotsu S, Nemoto K, Yamagishi J (2008) Identification of QTLs controlling rice drought tolerance at seedling stage in hydroponic culture. Euphytica 160:423-430
- Palanog AD, Swamy BPM, Shamsudin NAA, Dixit S, Hernandez JE, Boromeo TH, Cruz PCS, Kumar A (2014) Grain yield QTLs with consistent-effect under reproductive-stage drought stress in rice. Field Crops Res 161:46-54

- Prince SJ, Beena R, Gomez SM, Senthivel S, Babu RC (2015) Mapping consistent rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) yield QTLs under drought stress in target rainfed environments. Rice 8:25
- Sandhu N, Singh A, Dixit S, Cruz MTS, Maturan PC, Jain RK, Kumar A (2014) Identification and mapping of stable QTL with main and epistasis effect on rice grain yield under upland drought stress. BMC Genet 15:63
- Shamsudin NAA, Swamy BPM, Ratnam W, Cruz, MTS, Sandhu N, Raman AK, Kumar A (2016) Pyramiding drought yield QTLs into a high quality Malaysian rice cultivar MRQ74 improves yield under reproductive stage drought. Rice 9:21
- Shukla N, Awasthi RP, Rawat L, Kumar J (2012) Biochemical and physiological responses of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) as influenced by *Trichoderma harzianum* under drought stress. Plant Physiol Biochem 54:78-88
- Statista (2018) https://www.statista.com/topics/1443/rice/
- Steele KA, Price AH, Shashidhar HE, Witcombe JR (2006) Marker-assisted selection to introgress rice QTLs controlling root traits into an Indian upland rice variety. Theor Appl Genet 109:1247-1260
- Swamy BPM, Ahmed HU, Henry A, et al. (2013) Genetic, physiological, and gene expression analyses reveal that multiple QTL enhance yield of rice mega-variety IR64 under drought. PLoS ONE 8:e62795
- Uga Y, Sugimoto K, Ogawa S, Tane J, Ishitani M, Hara N, Kitomi Y, Inukai Y, Ono K, Kanno N et al. (2013) Control of root system architecture by deeper rooting 1 increases rice yield under drought conditions. Nat Gent 45:1097-1102
- USDA (2018a) Economic research service. https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/crops/rice/
- USDA (2018b) Economic research service. https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/rice-yearbook/
- Venuprasad R, Dalid C, Del-Valle M, Zhao D, Espiritu M, Sta-Cruz MT, Amante M, Kumar A, Atlin GN (2009) Identification and characterization of large-effect quantitative trait loci for grain yield under lowland drought stress in rice using bulk-segregant analysis. Theor Appl Genet 120:177-90
- Venuprasad R, Bool ME, Quiatchon L, Cruz MTS, Amante M, Atlin GN (2012) A large-effect QTL for rice grain yield under upland drought stress on chromosome 1. Mol Bred 30:535-547
- Vikram P, Swamy BPM, Dixit S, Ahmed HU, Cruz MTS, Singh AK, Kumar A (2011) *qDTY*<sub>1.1</sub>, a major QTL for rice grain yield under reproductive-stage drought stress with a consistent effect in multiple elite genetic backgrounds. BMC Genet 12:89

- Wang W, Sun F, Luo Y, Xu J (2012) Changes of rice water demand and irrigation water requirement in southeast china under future climate change. Procedia Engg 28:341-345
- Wilhite DA, Glantz MH (1985) Understanding the drought phenomenon: The role of definitions. Water International 10:111-20
- Yadaw RB, Dixit S, Raman A, Mishra KK, Vikram P, Swamy BPM, Sta Cruz MT, Maturan PT, Pandey M, Kumar A (2013) A QTL for high grain yield under lowland drought in the background of popular rice variety Sabitri from Nepal. Field Crops Res 144:281-287
- Zhang J, Zheng HG, Aarti A, Pantuwan G, Nguyen TT, Tripathy JN, et al. (2001) Locating genomic regions associated with components of drought resistance in rice: comparative mapping within and across species. Theor Appl Genet 103:19-29
- Zheng BS, Yang L, Zhang WP, Mao CZ, Wu YR, Yi KK, Liu FY, Wu P (2003) Mapping QTLs and candidate genes for rice root traits under different water supply conditions and comparative analysis across three populations. Theor Appl Genet 107:1505-1515

# Chapter 2. Evaluation of Genetic Diversity, Population Structure, and Marker-Trait Association for Drought Tolerance in Rice Germplasm of the United States

## **2.1. Introduction**

Rice is an important cereal crop both in terms of production and consumption. Nearly half of the world's population relies on rice for their food. Global per capita rice consumption is increasing every year (Mohanty 2013). Various biotic and abiotic factors affect rice production. Rice is a hydrophyte and requires a large amount of water for its growth and development. Since the majority of rice producing areas in Asia and Africa are dependent on rain, drought stress, particularly during reproductive stages, reduces rice yield drastically and threatens food security for millions of people. Droughts in California and water restrictions in Texas have negatively affected rice production in the USA. It shifted the rice acreage to other crops leading to a decline in rice production (Howitt et al. 2015). Drought tolerance studies in rice are necessary to explore the available genetic resources, to understand the mechanism of tolerance, and to develop varieties suitable for water stress environments.

Genetic diversity analysis helps to understand the variability present in rice germplasm. There are an estimated 140,000 diverse rice genotypes in the world. The gene bank in IRRI has preserved ~100,000 genotypes (FAO 2003). These genotypes have several desirable traits, which can be exploited for genetic enhancement. Identification of the rice genotypes with enhanced or stable yield under drought stress is an important prerequisite for breeding drought tolerant varieties. Genetic diversity study unravels such variation among the genotypes and explores the desirable agronomic attributes in them. Principal component analysis and cluster analysis based on the phenotypic attributes can be used to assess the genetic variability (Islam et al. 2018). Plant height, leaf rolling score, grain yield, spikelet fertility, and harvest index are some important traits used in drought screening experiments (Kamoshita et al. 2008).

The environmental influence on phenotypic trait expression limits the utility of genetic diversity studies based on phenotypic traits. On the contrary, assessment of genetic variability using molecular markers is useful in the context of crop improvement. Simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers have been extensively used to evaluate genetic diversity in rice (Das et al. 2013; Anandan et al. 2016). The SSR markers are multi-allelic and can detect more genetic variation compared to SNP (Tabanao et al. 2014) and AFLP markers (Xu et al. 2004). Narrow genetic diversity in USA rice genotypes was observed in a previous study using SSR markers (Lu et al. 2005). However, the study was based on cultivars that have been released in the USA during the 20<sup>th</sup> century. A comprehensive study of the genetic diversity in all available US germplasm, including the recently developed genotypes, is necessary.

Population structure analysis is a model-based approach that classifies individuals to subpopulations. It helps to identify the admixture or migrants in a population (Pritchard et al. 2000). Identifying the population structure before association analysis reduces type I and type II errors, which may arise due to unequal allele frequency between sub-groups (Pritchard et al. 2000).

Marker trait association is useful to identify the marker loci linked to the traits of interest. It is based on the principle of linkage disequilibrium i.e. non-random association between the alleles at different loci (Anandan et al. 2016). Compared with the bi-parental mapping approach, the association mapping accounts for the recombination events that have been accumulated from the past several generations. Therefore, the results from such type of analysis reflect a larger amount of variation in the population.

There has been no comprehensive study on drought tolerance ability of the USA rice genotypes till date. The objectives of this study were: (i) to screen the USA rice genotype collection for drought tolerance at the reproductive stage under greenhouse conditions, (ii) to

study the genetic variation and population structure in US rice collection, and (iii) to identify markers associated with agronomic traits, yield and yield-attributing traits under drought stress.

# 2.2. Materials and methods

## 2.2.1. Plant materials and drought tolerance screening

The present study material consisted of 205 rice genotypes collected from National Genetic Resource Program (NRGS), Louisiana Rice Research Station (LRRS), and International Rice Research Institute (IRRI). Of these, 29 rice genotypes collected from IRRI were developed in different countries around the world. The remaining 176 rice genotypes were developed in various rice growing states of the USA. It included 60 genotypes from Louisiana, 47 from Texas, 34 from Arkansas, 26 from California, 7 from Missouri, and 2 from Mississippi. The details of the genotypes used in the experiment and their states of origin were listed in Appendix Table A1.

The above rice genotypes were screened for drought tolerance at the reproductive stage under greenhouse conditions. The experiment was conducted in a complete randomized design (CRD) with two replications. Plants were grown in 2-gallon plastic pots filled with silty clay soil. Three plants were allowed to grow in each pot. Plants were allowed to grow under ambient conditions with no moisture stress until the emergence of the panicles. Once a plant showed panicle initiation, it was removed from the watered bench and placed in a concrete bench without water. After exposing the plants to drought stress for one week without irrigation, the plants were measured to assess the level of drought tolerance in rice. Days to flowering (DTF) was measured as the number of days from planting to the emergence of the panicle. Number of tillers (NT) in each plant was counted. Leaf rolling score (LRS) was given following the protocol from standard evaluation system of rice (IRRI 2002) in the scale of 1-9. Shoot fresh weight (FW) was measured

as the fresh weight of the above-ground plant. Shoot dry weight (DW) was measured after drying the plant samples in oven at 65<sup>o</sup>C for one week. Plant dry matter content (DMC) was measured as the ratio of shoot dry weight to shoot fresh weight and expressed in percentage. Spikelet fertility (SF) was calculated as the ratio of the number of fertile spikelets to the total number of spikelets in a plant and expressed in percentage. Grain yield (GY) was measured in each of the three plants and averaged. Harvest index (HI) was calculated as the ratio of grain yield to shoot dry weight and expressed in percentage.

## 2.2.2. Genotyping

Eighty SSR markers were used to genotype 184 rice genotypes. DNA was isolated from young leaf tissues of each genotype using CTAB method (Chen and Ronald 1999). Quantification of DNA was done using spectrophotometer (Nanodrop ND-1000, Thermofisher Scientific, MA, USA). A final DNA concentration of 50ng/µl was used for PCR amplification. The PCR reaction mixture contained 3µl of 50ng/µl DNA, 12.8 µl of water, 2.5µl of 10x PCR mixture, 2.5µl each of 25mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, and 2mM dNTPs, 1.25µl 50 ng/µl of both forward and reverse primers, and 1U of Taq polymerase (Promega Corporation, Madison, USA). The PCR reaction profile consisted of 35 cycles of the following steps: denaturation at 94°C for 45s; annealing at 55°C for 45s (varied depending on the SSR marker); and extension at 72°C for 1 minute with a final extension at 72°C for 5 min. The annealing temperature used for PCR reactions was obtained from the Gramene database (http://archive.gramene.org/markers/). The PCR products were run in 4.5% SFR agarose gel and were viewed under UV using gel documentation system.

## 2.2.3. Statistical analysis

The mean values of the two replications were used for analysis. Mean, standard deviation (SD), genotypic coefficient of variation (GCV), phenotypic coefficient of variation (PCV), and heritability (h<sup>2</sup>) for each of the traits were determined. GCV, PCV, and heritability for each of the traits were calculated in Microsoft excel using the following formulae mentioned in Singh and Chaudhary (1979):

$$GCV = \left(\frac{\sigma_g^2}{\overline{X}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times 100$$
$$PCV = \left(\frac{\sigma_p^2}{\overline{X}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times 100$$
$$h^2(\%) = \frac{\sigma_g^2}{\sigma_p^2} \times 100$$

where,  $\sigma_p^2$  = phenotypic variance,  $\sigma_g^2$  = genotypic variance and  $\overline{X}$  = grand mean of the genotypes for the trait of interest.

Correlations among the traits were calculated using Proc Corr procedure in SAS (SAS Inc. 2011). Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to study the relationship among the genotypes and to identify the important variables contributing to the phenotype. Cluster analysis was used to group the genotypes based on the phenotypic traits. PCA and cluster analysis was done using JMP (SAS Inc. 2013).

# 2.2.4. Genetic diversity and population structure analysis

The presence and absence of the alleles were scored as 1 and 0, respectively. The expected band size of the PCR products was determined from the Gramene website (http://www.gramene.org/marker/). Gene diversity, average number of alleles per locus (AL),

major allele frequency (MAF), and polymorphism information content (PIC) were calculated using PowerMarker software V 3.5 (Liu and Muse 2005). Average number of alleles is the mean of the alleles present in all of the genotypes for a specific marker. Major allele frequency is the relative frequency of the most common allele for a particular marker. PIC was calculated as follows:

$$PIC_i = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^n P_i^2$$

Where, 'i' is the  $i^{th}$  allele of the  $j^{th}$  marker, n is the number of alleles at the  $j^{th}$  marker and P is the allele frequency

A model-based program 'Structure 2.2' (Pritchard et al. 2000) was used to assess the population structure. The parameters were set to 50,000 burns-in period followed by 50,000 Markov Chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) simulations. It allowed the admixtures and correlated allele frequencies. The genotypes were classified into sub-populations based on its maximum membership probability. A genotype was considered to be in a sub-population if >70% of its composition came from that group, otherwise it was classified as an admixture. The optimum number of sub-population (K) was determined by running K values from 2 to 10. Each K value was run ten times. True value of K was determined using *adhoc* statistics  $\Delta$ K proposed by Evanno et al. (2005) in 'Structure harvester' (Earl and Vonholdt 2012).

The unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA) clustering was done using DARwin software (Perrier and Jacquemoud-Collet 2006). Dissimilarity matrix used for constructing the tree was computed using a shared allele index. The Molecular Analysis of Variance (MANOVA) among the sub-populations identified by structure was computed using GenAlex V 6.5 with 1000 permutations (Peakall and Smouse 2012).

# 2.2.5. Marker-trait associations

Association of markers with traits was determined using generalized linear model (GLM) and mixed linear model (MLM) in TASSEL 5 (Bradbury et al. 2007). A significant marker trait association was declared when the p-value was less than 0.05.

# 2.3. Results

Significant variation for all nine traits was observed among genotypes (Table 2.1, Appendix Figure A1). The mean days to flowering for all rice genotypes grown under the greenhouse condition was ~75 days. The average leaf rolling score after exposure to drought was quite high (6.2). The percentage of phenotypic variance explained by our data was greater than 60% for all the variables. Both GCV and PCV were high for yield related traits i.e. spikelet fertility, grain yield, and harvest index. The GCV and PCV for days to flowering were low (12.5% and 12.9%, respectively). High heritability was observed for all the traits. There was a significant positive correlation between days to flowering and yield-related traits (Table 2.2). The number of tillers was negatively correlated with grain yield (-0.13) and harvest index (-0.17). Significant and moderate correlations between leaf rolling score and yield related traits were observed. Plant fresh weight did not correlate significantly with yield. However, plant dry matter content was significantly and negatively correlated with grain yield (-0.28) and other yield related traits.

#### 2.3.1. Principal component analysis

Principal component analysis was done to identify the grouping pattern among the genotypes (Figure 2.1a). The first two principal components accounted for 36% and 31% of the genetic variance (Figure 2.1b). The scree plot indicated that the two principal components would be sufficient to explain most of the variability in the dataset (Figure 2.1c). The eigen values (Appendix Table A2) for three principal components were greater than one. These three

Traits	Mean	Range	R-square <sup>a</sup>	<b>GCV</b> <sup>b</sup>	PCV <sup>c</sup>	Heritability <sup>d</sup> (%)
Days to flowering	74.9	62-88	0.94	12.5	12.9	93.6
Number of tillers	4.0	2.5-7	0.69	24.7	33.1	55.6
Leaf rolling score	6.2	3-9	0.73	28.2	35.2	64.2
Fresh weight (g/plant)	86.4	29.2-230.4	0.88	48.8	52.5	86.6
Dry weight (g/plant)	38.8	25-93.5	0.91	36.8	38.7	90.2
Plant dry matter content (%)	47.9	13.9-90.0	0.76	28.3	33.8	69.9
Spikelet fertility (%)	30.4	0.1-90.0	0.88	99.1	106.0	87.5
Grain yield (g/plant)	5.7	0.1-46.3	0.87	104.5	112.7	86.0
Harvest index (%)	15.4	0.1-62.4	0.88	103.9	111.4	86.9

Table 2.1. Estimation of phenotypic and genetic parameters for various agronomic traits, yield, and yield related traits in rice genotypes under drought stress

<sup>a</sup>Amount of variation explained by the genotypes for the specific trait; <sup>b</sup>Genotypic coefficient of variation; <sup>c</sup>Phenotypic coefficient of variation; <sup>d</sup>Broad sense heritability; <sup>e</sup>Leaf rolling score was measured in the scale of 1-9, 1 being highly tolerant and 9 is highly susceptible

Table 2.2. Pearson correlation coefficients among various agronomic traits, yield, and yield-related traits in rice genotypes under drought stress

	DTF	NT	LRS	FW	DW	PDMC	SF	GY	HI
DTF	1.00	-0.06	-0.19**	$0.55^{**}$	0.53**	-0.39**	0.19**	0.23**	$0.14^{**}$
NT		1.00	-0.07	$0.29^{**}$	$0.25^{**}$	-0.25**	-0.11	-0.13**	-0.17**
LRS			1.00	-0.17**	0.07	$0.52^{**}$	-0.37**	-0.45**	-0.46**
FW				1.00	$0.84^{**}$	-0.66**	-0.07	0.03	-0.11
DW					1.00	-0.30**	-0.21**	-0.13	-0.26**
PDMC						1.00	-0.21**	$-0.28^{**}$	-0.22
SF							1.00	$0.68^{**}$	$0.70^{**}$
GY								1.00	$0.93^{**}$
HI									1.00
44									

<sup>\*\*</sup>Significant at 0.01 level of probability; DTF, Days to flowering; NT, Number of tillers; LRS, Leaf rolling score; FW, Fresh plant weight (g/plant); DW, Dry plant weight (g/plant); PDMC, Plant dry matter content (%); SF, Spikelet fertility (%); GY, Grain yield (g/plant); HI, Harvest index (%)

principal components could be used to represent all the variables in the data set. PCA classified

the nine variables into three groups (Appendix Table A3). Principal Component 1 (PC1)

represented yield related traits viz. leaf rolling score, spikelet fertility, grain yield, and harvest

index. PC2 indicated shoot related traits such as days to flowering, fresh weight, dry weight, and

plant dry matter content and PC3 represented the number of tillers. The most representative

variable in group 1 and group 2 were harvest index and fresh weight, which represented 73% and

68% of the variability within the group, respectively. PCA did not show any distinct clustering of the USA genotypes contingent to any state. However, most of the genotypes from California were clustered in quadrant 3.



Figure 2.1. Principal component analysis (PCA) plot of various agronomic traits, yield, and yield-related traits in the USA rice genotypes. (a) Scatter plot of the various rice genotypes represented in two major principal component axes. No sufficient clustering was observed except the California genotypes in the third quadrant. (b) Grouping of the variables in two principal components. PC1 represented yield-related traits and PC2 represented the agronomic traits. (c) Scree plot showing the eigen values for all the nine principal components

# 2.3.2. Cluster analysis

The nine phenotypic traits in rice under drought stress (Table 2.3) classified the genotypes into six clusters (Table 2.4, Figure 2. 2). The level of tolerance of each cluster was assessed by mean values of grain yield and yield-related traits (spikelet fertility and harvest index). The genotypes clustered in group 6 were considered to be highly tolerant under drought stress. The

mean grain yield of genotypes in group 6 was 10.3 g/plant; the spikelet fertility and harvest index were 54.4% and 28.4%, respectively. Group 6 included drought tolerant check genotypes (Dular, SLO16, and Kalia), salt tolerant genotype (Geumgangbyeo), and Bengal. It also included many genotypes from Louisiana, Texas, Arkansas, and California. Group 3 included the rice genotypes that were moderately tolerant to drought. It included drought tolerant checks (N-22, Chengri, Djogolon, and Pin Kaeo) and some USA rice genotypes (Newbonnet, Cypress, and Caffey). The mean spikelet fertility, grain yield, and harvest index for the genotypes in this group were 46%, 6.3g/plant, and 22%, respectively. Tolerant rice genotypes, Early prolific, Rexona, Hybrid mix, and Jefferson, were grouped in Cluster 4. The spikelet fertility, grain yield, and harvest index of the genotypes in this group were 25%, 4g/plant and 11%, respectively. Cluster 1, 2, and 5 contained the genotypes that were susceptible to drought. The mean grain yield for these groups was 2.5, 3, and 1.5 g/plant, respectively. Cluster 5 contained the genotypes, which were most susceptible to drought. It included popular genotypes Alan, Terso, Tauri Mai, Nipponbare, Cocodrie, and Texmont.

Table 2.3. Mean value of each group identified by cluster analysis for agronomic traits, yield, and yield related traits in the USA rice genotypes under drought stress

Group <sup>a</sup>	Count <sup>b</sup>	DTF	NT	LRS	FW	DW	PDMC	SF	GY	HI
1 (S)	36	83.0	3.8	6.8	121.4	52.8	44.7	15.3	2.5	5.9
2 (MS)	37	70.3	4.0	6.9	77.3	33.7	47.5	15.1	3.0	8.4
3 (T)	22	70.1	4.0	6.8	57.2	32.0	57.7	46.0	6.3	21.6
4 (MT)	17	72.4	6.0	6.0	97.0	42.5	47.1	25.4	4.0	11.1
5 (HS)	17	66.5	3.3	8.0	39.4	28.7	73.7	13.1	1.5	5.4
6 (HT)	68	77.2	3.7	4.9	91.6	37.9	42.2	54.4	10.3	28.4

<sup>a</sup>Six different groups identified by cluster analysis: susceptible (S), moderately susceptible (MS), tolerant (T), moderately tolerant (MT), highly susceptible (HS), and highly tolerant (HT); <sup>b</sup>Number of rice genotypes in each group; DTF, Days to flowering; NT, Number of tillers; LRS, Leaf rolling score; FW, Fresh plant weight (g/plant); DW, Dry plant weight (g/plant); PDMC, Plant dry matter content (%); SF, Spikelet fertility (%); GY, Grain Yield (g/plant); HI, Harvest index (%)

Group (Level of	List of rice genotypes
tolerance)	
Group 1 (Susceptible)	Starbonnet-1, Rexark-1, Starbonnet-2, Bluebonnet, Toro, Nova, Glutinous selection, FL378, Melrose, Arkansas fortune, Prelude, Rexark Rogue-9262, RD, Nova-66, Stormproof, Carolina Gold, Rexark-2, Lady wright, Sierra, Zenith-2, Epagri, C-4, Tokalon, Texas Patna, TP-49, Moroberekan, Lacrosse, Salvo, Delitus-120, Delitus, Rexark Rogue-9214, Nira-43, Nira, Cheriviruppu, Pokkali
Group 2 (Moderately Susceptible)	Bond, CL162, Tebonnet, S-201, Calrose, Gulfrose, Early Colusa, Vista, M-202, Cheniere, M-102, Jackson, Azucena, LA-0702086, R-52, Sabine, M-301, Calrose-2, Conway, M-201, Catahoula, Bluebelle, Vegold, Bluebelle-2, Pacos, Caloro, MS-1995-15, Gold Zenith, Brazos, Smooth Zenith, Newrex, Kamrose, Colusa, Family-24, Nato, Calady, Skybonnet
Group 3 (Tolerant)	Newbonnet, Cypress, Jazzman-2, Jodon, R-50, Pin Kaeo, N-22, Trenasse, Presidio, Kokubelle, Lafitte, Mermentau, Dixieblle, Palmyra, Rico-1, Early Wataribur, Maybelle, Della-2, Chengri, Kalia-2, Djogolon, Caffey
Group 4 (Moderately Tolerant)	Early Prolific, MS-1996-9, CL261, Hybrid Mix, Lebonnet, Lotus, Damodar, Rexona, S-301, CL111, M-204, CL131, R27, Neches, Lavaoa, Bellemont, Jefferson
Group 5 (Highly Susceptible)	Alan, Terso, Tauri Mai, M-103, Carlpearl, Maxwell, Nipponbare, M-401, Belle Patna, Earlirose, M302, Cocodrie, Millie, Texmont, Gody, Rossmont, Adair
Group 6 (Highly Tolerant)	Zenith, Mars, Arkose selection, Saturn Rouge, Della, Hill Long Grain, Nortai, Cody, Jasmine-85, Evangeline, Dawn, Asahi, Rey, Acadia, CR5272, Saturn, SLO16, Northrose, Bengal, Dellamti, Katy, Taggert, FL478, Lacarus, CL152, MO R-500, Arkose, Gold Nato, Earl, LAH10, LA0802140, CL181, Wells, Templeton, TCCP-266, CL161, Glutinous Zenith, Hill medium, Magnolia, R54, Century Rogue, Toro-2, Short Century, Century Patna, SP14, Orion, CSR-11, Jupiter, Mercury, Dellrose, Geumgangbyeo, CL142, Madison, R- 609, Roy J, Neptune, Lacassine, Pirogue, Dellmont, Jazzman, Leah, IRRI147, Ecrevisse, PSVRC, Dular, Jes, Kalia, LA110

Table 2.4. Classification of the USA rice genotypes for drought tolerance based on various agronomic traits, yield, and yield related traits under drought stress



Figure 2.2. Clustering of the rice genotypes based on nine phenotypic traits under drought stress

# 2.3.3 Genetic diversity

Among the 80 SSR markers used for genotyping, five markers (RM7187, RM192,

RM126, RM116, and RM512) were monomorphic (Table 2.5). The maximum number of alleles

was 6 in RM8085. A total of 272 alleles were observed with an average of 3.4 alleles per SSR

marker. The major allele frequency for the polymorphic markers ranged between 0.39-0.97, with

an average of 0.74. The genetic diversity of the markers varied from 0.05 (RM598) to 0.66

(RM8219). Polymorphism information content (PIC) among the polymorphic markers ranged

between 0.05 (RM598) to 0.58 (RM488, RM8219, and RM 3428).

Table 2.5. Details of SSR markers used in genotyping of the rice genotypes, major allele frequency, number of alleles, genetic diversity, and PIC values

		Desitiona		Product	Major	No. of	Genetic	
Marker	Chr.	(Mb)	Repeat motif <sup>b</sup>	size <sup>c</sup>	allele	alleles	diversity	PIC <sup>d</sup>
		$(\mathbf{W}\mathbf{I}0)$		(bp)	frequency	ancies	urversity	
RM259	1	7.4	(CT)17	162	0.81	3	0.33	0.29
RM493	1	12.2	(CTT)9	211	0.73	3	0.43	0.38
RM466	1	17.2	(AG)17	230	0.59	3	0.56	0.49
RM129	1	19	(CGG)8	205	0.83	3	0.30	0.27
RM9	1	23.3	(GA)15GT(GA)2	136	0.78	4	0.36	0.33
RM488	1	24.8	(GA)17	177	0.53	5	0.63	0.58
RM246	1	27.3	(CT)20	116	0.82	6	0.33	0.31
RM302	1	32.9	(GT)30(AT)8	156	0.81	4	0.33	0.30
RM212	1	33	(CT)24	136	0.87	4	0.24	0.23
RM8085	1	34.8	(AG)26	126	0.53	6	0.58	0.49
RM315	1	36.7	(AT)4(GT)10	133	0.76	3	0.39	0.35
RM431	1	38.8	(AG)16	251	0.80	4	0.34	0.31
RM104	1	40.1	(GA)9	222	0.66	4	0.48	0.41
RM84	1	NA	(TCT)10	113	0.87	4	0.23	0.22
RM110	2	1.3	(GA)15	156	0.80	4	0.33	0.30
RM174	2	7	(AGG)7(GA)10	208	0.58	3	0.56	0.48
RM550	2	12.4	(CCT)8	231	0.69	3	0.47	0.42
RM262	2	20.7	(CT)16	154	0.86	3	0.25	0.23
RM13600	2	24.2	(AG)11	122	0.61	5	0.57	0.51

Table 2.5. continued

		Desitiona		Product	Major	No. of	Ganatia	
Marker	Chr.	(Mb)	Repeat motif <sup>b</sup>	size <sup>c</sup>	allele	no. or alleles	diversity	PIC <sup>d</sup>
		(1010)		(bp)	frequency	uncies	urversity	
RM263	2	25.8	(CT)34	199	0.72	4	0.45	0.40
RM240	2	31.4	(CT)21	132	0.73	4	0.44	0.40
RM211	2	NA	(TC)3A(TC)18	161	0.85	4	0.26	0.25
RM327	2	NA	(CAT)11(CTT)5	213	0.78	4	0.36	0.34
RM60	3	0.1	(AATT)5AATCT(AATT)	165	0.75	4	0.40	0.36
RM7332	3	0.4	(ACAT)11	205	0.69	2	0.43	0.34
RM523	3	1.3	(TC)14	148	0.59	4	0.58	0.53
RM22	3	1.5	(GA)22	194	0.65	3	0.47	0.38
RM569	3	1.9	(CT)16	175	0.54	4	0.61	0.54
RM517	3	6.1	(CT)15	266	0.67	3	0.45	0.36
RM14980	3	13.9	(AG)17	382	0.84	3	0.27	0.24
RM16	3	23.1	(TCG)5(GA)16	181	0.71	4	0.45	0.41
RM168	3	28.0	T15(GT)14	116	0.8	5	0.34	0.32
RM570	3	35.5	(AG)15	208	0.45	4	0.64	0.57
RM335	4	0.7	(CTT)25	104	0.57	4	0.61	0.56
RM3471	4	6.3	(CT)21	147	0.59	3	0.57	0.51
RM6314	4	18.4	(CTT)11	169	0.82	3	0.30	0.26
RM6250	4	24.8	(CTC)8	187	0.95	2	0.10	0.09
RM7187	4	27.4	(ATAG)7	157	1.00	1	0.00	0.00
RM437	5	3.8	(AG)13	275	0.86	3	0.24	0.23
RM289	5	7.8	G11(GA)16	108	0.86	3	0.25	0.23
RM598	5	16.7	(GCA)9	159	0.97	3	0.05	0.05
RM6054	5	22.7	(CCG)12	128	0.78	4	0.34	0.30
RM274	5	26.8	(GA)15-7-(CGG)5	160	0.84	3	0.28	0.26
RM587	6	2.3	(CTT)18	217	0.77	3	0.38	0.34
RM3	6	19.4	(GA)2GG(GA)25	145	0.87	6	0.23	0.23
RM5371	6	25.8	(TC)13	143	0.76	3	0.38	0.34
RM461	6	30.1	(AAAC)6	195	0.52	3	0.56	0.46
RM314	6	NA	(GT)8(CG)3(GT)5	118	0.95	3	0.10	0.10
RM192	7	0.2	(TGG)5	267	1.00	1	0.00	0.00
RM3449	7	13.4	(CT)19	179	0.72	3	0.44	0.4
RM5793	7	17.4	(AGC)8	127	0.85	4	0.27	0.26
RM351	7	23.9	(CCG)9(CGAAG)4	134	0.71	3	0.45	0.40
RM172	7	29.5	(AGG)6	159	0.51	3	0.56	0.46

Table 2.5. continued

Marker	Chr.	Position <sup>a</sup> (Mb)	Repeat motif <sup>b</sup>	Product size <sup>c</sup> (bp)	Major allele frequency	No. of alleles	Genetic diversity	PIC <sup>d</sup>
RM152	8	0.6	(GGC)10	151	0.72	4	0.44	0.4
RM1376	8	3.1	(AG)31	199	0.59	4	0.58	0.54
RM515	8	20.2	(GA)11	211	0.52	3	0.61	0.53
RM256	8	24.2	(CT)21	127	0.93	3	0.13	0.12
RM126	8	NA	(GA)7	171	1.00	1	0.00	0.00
RM8219	9	1.5	(GA)11	169	0.39	3	0.66	0.58
RM6475	9	12.8	(GCC)9	209	0.67	4	0.51	0.47
RM566	9	14.7	(AG)15	239	0.6	5	0.58	0.53
RM107	9	20	(GA)7	189	0.84	3	0.28	0.26
RM6707	9	22.2	(TAT)8	113	0.79	3	0.33	0.28
RM6862	9	NA	(TGC)9	113	0.78	2	0.34	0.28
RM216	10	5.3	(CT)18	146	0.66	5	0.51	0.46
RM8207	10	9.8	(TTC)23	191	0.52	4	0.63	0.58
RM596	10	15.2	(GAC)10	188	0.67	2	0.44	0.35
RM258	10	18	(GA)21(GGA)3	148	0.85	3	0.27	0.24
RM3451	10	21.5	(CT)19	208	0.77	4	0.37	0.33
RM271	10	NA	(GA)15	101	0.82	4	0.31	0.29
RM26045	11	1.8	(TC)12	297	0.49	3	0.59	0.51
RM116	11	5.7	(CT)9	258	1.00	1	0.00	0.00
RM3428	11	13.4	(CT)18	156	0.42	3	0.65	0.58
RM209	11	17.8	(CT)18	134	0.6	4	0.58	0.53
RM7277	11	24.2	(ATCT)10	148	0.83	2	0.29	0.25
RM7187	11	NA	(AT)29(GT)7	146	0.94	4	0.11	0.11
RM20	12	0.9	(ATT)14	140	0.86	3	0.25	0.23
RM512	12	5.1	(TTTA)5	214	1.00	1	0.00	0.00
RM7195	12	9.9	(ATAG)7	138	0.73	4	0.44	0.40
RM5609	12	23.9	(AAG)9	158	0.84	3	0.28	0.26
Mean					0.74	3.4	0.37	0.33

<sup>a</sup>Physical position of the marker in the chromosome in megabase (Mb); <sup>b</sup>Repeat sequence of the SSR marker; <sup>c</sup>Expected size of the PCR product in base pair (bp); <sup>d</sup>Polymorphism information content

#### **2.3.4.** Population structure analysis

The population structure of the rice genotypes was analyzed with software 'Structure' using Bayesian clustering method. The membership fractions of 2-10 were used to classify the genotypes (Appendix Figure A2). The log likelihood LnP (D) and Evanno's deltaK identified eight distinct clusters of the population (Figure 2.3, Figure 2.4). The subgroup 1 (SG1) contained 12 genotypes all of which were *japonica* type. The other genotypes grouped together in this subgroup were admixtures. It contained the genotypes from Arkansas and Texas. Subgroup 2 (SG2) contained 19 genotypes and some admixtures. This subgroup was mostly dominated by the rice genotypes from Texas. All the genotypes in SG2 were *japonica* subspecies. SG3 contained the check genotypes and salt tolerant lines obtained from IRRI. They were mostly of *indica* subspecies. A few Louisiana genotypes and two weedy rice (MS-1995-15 and MS-1996-9) genotypes obtained from Mississippi fell in this subgroup. Fourteen genotypes were under SG4. All of them, except Moroberekan and R-27, were from Louisiana. SG5 contained four genotypes (Delitus-1206, Evangeline, Nira, and Leah) from Louisiana. SG6 contained 26 genotypes from Texas and Louisiana. All sixteen genotypes in SG7 were from Louisiana except Pin Kaeo and Kalia. Among the 20 genotypes in SG8, three (Arkose, Asahi, and Kamrose) were from Arkansas and the others were developed in California.

In the Unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA) clustering, Louisiana genotypes were separated from other USA rice genotypes (Figure 2.5). The check genotypes obtained from IRRI were highly diverse and did not cluster together with the USA genotypes. The rice genotypes from Arkansas, California, and Texas were grouped together. However, California genotypes were separated from other USA genotypes within the subgroup.



Figure 2.3. Estimation of population structure using LnP(D) derived  $\Delta K$  for determining the optimum number of subpopulations. The maximum value of delta K was found to be at K=8, which indicated the entire population can be divided into eight subpopulations

## 2.3.5. Analysis of molecular variance

Eight subpopulation groups obtained by 'Structure' were analyzed for the significant genetic differentiation between and among the groups. AMOVA revealed that 42% of the total variation was among the groups and 58% of the total variation was within the group (Table 2.6). The variation within the group and the variation among the groups were significantly different.

# 2.3.6. Marker trait association

GLM and MLM revealed 53 and 25 marker-trait association for nine yield and agronomic traits, respectively (Table 2.7). Five marker trait associations were observed for days to flowering using GLM method and two associations were observed using MLM method. RM517 and RM3471 were associated with days to flowering in both methods. RM168, associated with number of tillers, contributed only 3% of the phenotypic variance (PV). GLM and MLM together


Figure 2.4. The estimated population structure of rice genotypes (K=8). The y-axis corresponded to the subgroup membership and the x-axis represented the genotype. The genotypes with the probability of  $\geq$ 70% were assigned to a specific subgroup, while the others were classified as admixtures.

detected four markers (RM129, RM351, RM256, and RM216) linked to leaf rolling score.

RM351 in chromosome 7 showed a strong association (6% PV) with leaf rolling score. Besides

these, GLM detected RM 129, RM152, and RM216, which contributed 5% of the genetic

variation for leaf rolling score. There were five markers that were significantly associated with

shoot fresh weight, in both GLM and MLM methods. RM302 in chromosome 1 located at 33 Mb



Figure 2.5. Unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA) tree of rice genotypes using SSR markers. Different color codes represented rice genotypes developed in various states in the USA. Check genotypes were developed in different countries of the world and were obtained from IRRI.

Table 2.6. Analysis of molecular variance (AMOVA) among the eight sub-populations identified by 'Structure' software

Source of variation	DF <sup>a</sup>	SS <sup>b</sup>	MSS <sup>c</sup>	Estimated variance	% variance	P-value <sup>c</sup>
Among Population	7	790.77	112.96	6.34	42	< 0.0001
Within Population	124	1095.75	8.84	8.84	58	< 0.0001
Total	131	1886.52		15.18	100	

<sup>a</sup>Degree of freedom; <sup>b,</sup>Sum of squares; <sup>c</sup>Mean sum of squares; <sup>d</sup>Level of significance

position showed 5% phenotypic variation for fresh weight. For dry weight, GLM and MLM

detected 14 and 5 markers, respectively. RM302, RM3471, RM461, and RM8207 explained 9%,

6%, 8%, and 7% of the phenotypic variability, respectively for dry weight in GLM analysis.

RM315 showed association with plant dry matter content in both methods. Both GLM and MLM

(Mb) $\overline{F_{value} - P_{value}^{c} R_{scuere}^{d} F_{value} - P_{value}^{c}}$	R-square <sup>d</sup>
(1910) I - value	it square
RM246 1 27.3 6.46 0.01 0.03	
RM22 3 1.5 8.12 <0.01 0.03 7.61 0.01	0.04
Days to RM517 3 6.2 5.00 0.03 0.02	
RM335 4 0.7 4.38 0.04 0.02	
RM3471 4 6.3 10.25 <0.01 0.05 4.87 0.03	0.03
No. of Tillers RM168 3 28.1 4.80 0.03 0.03 4.16 0.04	0.03
RM129 1 19.0 9.23 <0.01 0.05 4.26 0.04	0.02
RM168 3 28.1 7.69 0.01 0.04	
RM570 3 35.6 8.35 <0.01 0.04	
Leaf rolling RM351 7 23.9 10.53 <0.01 0.06 5.25 0.02	0.04
RM152 8 0.7 10.60 <0.01 0.05	
RM256 8 24.3 4.54 <0.01 0.02 5.51 0.02	0.03
RM566 9 14.7 4.98 0.03 0.02	
RM216 10 5.4 11.27 <0.01 0.05 4.38 0.04	0.02
RM7195 12 9.9 4.68 0.03 0.03	
RM302 1 33 10.27 <0.01 0.05 10.1 <0.01	0.05
RM431 1 38.9 6.08 0.01 0.03 6.81 0.01	0.04
RM3471 4 6.3 5.50 0.02 0.03 4.32 0.04	0.02
Fresh weightRM28957.84.720.030.025.620.02	0.03
RM5371 6 25.8 6.06 0.01 0.03 4.22 0.04	0.02
RM1376 8 3.2 5.25 0.02 0.03	
RM566 9 14.7 4.58 0.03 0.02	
RM129 1 19.0 5.98 0.02 0.03	
RM302 1 33.0 20.95 <0.01 0.09 5.74 0.02	0.04
RM212 1 33.1 4.66 0.03 0.02	
RM262 2 20.8 4.48 0.04 0.02	
RM1498 3 13.9 7.17 0.01 0.03	
RM570 3 35.6 7.58 0.01 0.03	
Dry weight RM3471 4 6.3 11.72 <0.01 0.06 8.43 <0.01	0.05
RM289 5 7.8 6.39 0.01 0.03 6.82 0.01	0.04
RM587 6 2.3 4.98 0.03 0.02 3.98 0.05	0.02
RM3 6 19.5 4.56 0.03 0.02	
RM5371 6 25.8 7.54 0.01 0.03	
RM461 6 30.1 9.77 <0.01 0.08 8.45 <0.01	0.09
RM351 7 23.9 8.37 <0.01 0.04	
RM8207 10 9.8 7.48 0.01 0.07	
Plant dry matter RM315 1 36.7 6.60 0.01 0.03 6.27 0.01	0.04
content RM6054 5 22.8 4.33 0.04 0.02	

Table 2.7. Significant marker trait association in rice genotypes under drought stress using GLM (Q) and MLM (Q+K) model

Table 2.7 continued

Traits Marker		Chr.	Pos.	GL	LM <sup>a</sup> (Q) M	Model	ML	$M^{b}(Q+K)$	) Model
			$(Mb) \overline{F}$	<sup>7</sup> -value	P-value <sup>c</sup>	<sup>2</sup> R-square <sup>d</sup>	F-value	P-value <sup>c</sup>	R-square <sup>d</sup>
	RM431	1	38.9	6.09	0.01	0.03	4.44	0.04	0.03
	RM168	3	28.1	5.23	0.02	0.03			
Spikelet fortility	RM570	3	35.6	11.76	< 0.01	0.06	7.25	0.01	0.04
spikelet lettinty	RM6054	5	22.8	8.95	< 0.01	0.04	7.17	0.01	0.04
	RM351	7	23.9	6.68	0.01	0.04	5.02	0.03	0.03
	RM216	10	5.4	5.29	0.02	0.03			
	RM523	3	1.3	5.38	0.02	0.03			
Crain	RM517	3	6.2	5.50	0.02	0.03			
Viald	RM570	3	35.6	5.80	0.02	0.03	4.12	0.04	0.03
Tielu	RM351	7	23.9	6.56	0.01	0.04			
	RM256	8	24.3	5.47	0.02	0.03			
	RM523	3	1.3	5.41	0.02	0.03			
Harvest	RM570	3	35.6	5.27	0.02	0.03	4.04	0.04	0.03
Index	RM598	5	16.8	4.12	0.04	0.02			
	RM351	7	23.9	10.51	< 0.01	0.06	5.23	0.02	0.07

<sup>a</sup>Generalized linear model; <sup>b</sup>Mixed linear model (MLM accounts for the population structure and kinship matrix); <sup>c</sup>Level of significance; <sup>d</sup>Variance contributed by the marker

detected four markers associated with spikelet fertility. RM 570 located in 35.6 Mb region of chromosome 3 contributed 6% of the phenotypic variance for spikelet fertility in GLM model. GLM detected five markers associated with grain yield. RM570 was detected in both the methods. Four marker trait associations were detected for harvest index in rice using GLM method. MLM detected two markers (RM570 and RM351) associated with harvest index. RM351 showed a strong association with harvest index with a phenotypic variance of 6% and 7% by GLM and MLM methods, respectively.

# 2.4. Discussion

Exploring the available genetic resources is the first step in any successful breeding program. Drought tolerance studies in the USA rice germplasm have been given the least attention until now. However, with the current trend of climate change, drought is becoming a major threat to crop production, especially in rice. Drought increases the days to flowering, reduces the plant height, and reduces spikelet fertility, resulting in reduced grain yield (Kamoshita et al. 2008; Ndjiondjop et al. 2010; Sandhu and Kumar 2017; Bhattarai and Subudhi 2018a). Leaf rolling is an important first indicator for measuring drought responsiveness in rice (Prince et al. 2015; Bhattarai and Subudhi 2018b). A high average leaf rolling score of USA rice germplasm indicated their susceptibility under drought. Correlation studies indicated that leaf rolling score negatively affected grain yield and spikelet fertility in rice. Therefore, early selection for yield could be done by scoring the leaf rolling under drought stress. A reduction in spikelet fertility observed under drought stress was responsible for the drastic reduction in grain yield and harvest index. The yield reduction of >50% under drought stress was reported in earlier studies (Vikram et al. 2011; Swamy et. al. 2017). The genotypic coefficient of variation and the phenotypic coefficient of variation indicated a wide variation in yield, spikelet fertility, and harvest index. It indicated that the USA rice germplasm collection include both drought tolerant and susceptible genotypes. High heritability for grain yield and yield attributing traits under drought stress implied that these traits could be used as primary selection criteria in any drought screening experiment (Kumar et al. 2014). Heritability values of >70% for days to flowering and grain yield had been reported earlier (Vikram et al. 2011; Dixit et al. 2014; Swamy et al. 2017). The heritability for grain yield under drought stress was high compared to that of non-stress (Swamy et al. 2017).

High degree of variation for drought tolerance in USA rice germplasm was evident from the principal component analysis. The variation in drought tolerance among rice genotypes was not dependent on the state of origin, except for the rice genotypes from California. Most of the California genotypes were separated from the rice genotypes from other states and were more susceptible to drought. PCA further clarified that the three variables i.e. harvest index, fresh weight, and number of tillers, were sufficient to capture most of the variation in the data. These

31

three important traits could be used to screen the rice genotypes for drought tolerance.

Furthermore, cluster analysis of the USA rice genotypes grouped them according to their level of drought tolerance. Tolerant genotypes had high spikelet fertility and grain yield under drought compared to that of the susceptible ones. The rice genotypes from various states grouped under the drought tolerant category included Zenith, Mars, Arkrose, Asahi, Katy (from Arkansas), Dawn, Madison, Hill Long Grain (from Texas), MO R-500 (from Missouri), Rey, Della, Acadia, Saturn, Bengal, Dellmati, Taggert, Magnolia, Wells, Templeton (from Louisiana). The inclusion of CL142, CL111, and Mermentau under the drought tolerant group in our study was in agreement with an earlier study (Singh et al. 2017). Some deep rooting genotypes like Moroberekan and Azucena were clustered in the susceptible group. This may be due to the fact that these deep rooting genotypes were not able to penetrate into the soil in the pot experiment. Some salt tolerant rice genotypes like Damodar, Cypress, Caffey, Jupiter, and Jazzman (De Leon et al. 2015) showed drought tolerance under the greenhouse conditions. The rice genotypes showing both salt and drought tolerance may be due to similar physiological responses and co-expression of the genes under both stress conditions (Nounjan et al. 2018).

The rice genotypes from six major rice growing states of the USA were evaluated for genetic diversity using molecular markers. SSR markers were useful to identify small allelic variation among the individuals (Tabanao et al. 2014). The average PIC in our study was 0.33 which was less compared to the average PIC of 0.54 in the global rice collection (Zhang et al. 2011). The PIC value with a range of 0.21 - 0.50 was observed in USA rice in previous studies (Xu et al. 2004; Lu et al. 2005). A lower PIC value indicated the presence of low genetic diversity in USA rice germplasm (Xu et al. 2004; Islam et al. 2018). The genetic diversity of *japonica* subspecies was small compared to its *indica* counterpart. The average PIC of the global *japonica* rice

collection was 0.42 and the European collection of tropical *japonica* rice was 0.37 (Courtois et al. 2012). The dominance of *japonica* subspecies in USA rice germplasm collection may be the reason for low genetic diversity compared to the global collection.

A model-based approach of population structure identified eight subgroups. Previous studies in rice had identified two to eight subpopulations (Nachimuthu et al. 2015; Anandan et al. 2016; Pradhan et al. 2016; Islam et al. 2018). The threshold to identify a genotype into a specific subgroup varied from 60-80%. Our stringent threshold of 70% similarity, to be in a specific group, identified 49 genotypes as admixtures. Population structure analysis separated the check genotypes of *indica* group from the *japonica* USA genotypes. The rice genotypes from California, Louisiana, and Arkansas were different from each other, whereas the rice genotypes from Texas appeared to be a mixture of the rice genotypes from Louisiana and Arkansas. Few rice genotypes from Arkansas matched closely with the California rice genotypes. It was concluded that the USA rice genotypes could be classified into three major groups depending on the state of origin i.e. Louisiana, Arkansas, and California. These differences in rice genotypes from the three major rice-growing states may be due to the different rice growing ecosystems prevailing in those regions. A similar study in US weedy rice showed variation in the rice genotypes according to the region of origin (Shivarin et al. 2010).

The result of the model-based structure analysis agreed to the results from the UPGMA tree. It indicated that the USA rice genotypes were completely different from the Asian rice genotypes (Lu et al. 2005) as they were separated distinctly from each other. The two weedy rice genotypes from Mississippi (MS-1995-15 and MS1996-9) were closer to the *indica* type check genotypes.

Marker-trait association studies have been implemented in many germplasm collections to identify the molecular markers linked with a trait of interest (Pradhan et al. 2016; Swamy et al.

33

2017). The marker RM22, associated with days to flowering under drought stress, co-localized with previously identified QTLs *qDTF3.01* (Bhattarai and Subudhi 2018a), *DTY3.2* (Vikram et al. 2016) and heading date locus hd9 (Lin et al. 2012). RM246 was linked to days to flowering and photosynthetic rate in rice (Ramchander et al. 2016). This explained the probable correlation between the photosynthetic rate and the days to flowering. A previously identified marker RM517 controlling the DTF QTL (qDTF3.3) (Vikram et al. 2016) was identified in our study. RM152 was correlated with the leaf rolling score, which was associated with leaf water content and stomatal conductance in rice under drought stress (Ramchander et al. 2016). RM216 colocalized with the previously identified QTL *qDTY10.1* (Vikram et al. 2011). RM302 was linked with plant fresh weight and plant dry weight with a phenotypic variance of 9%. This marker colocalized with the previously identified QTL for leaf water content (Ramchander et al. 2016) suggesting dependence of plant biomass on leaf water content. Both plant biomass and leaf water content were highly correlated with drought tolerance in rice. The two novel markers (RM8207 and RM461), identified in this study with a contribution of 7-8% toward phenotypic variance, were responsible for plant dry weight under stress. The markers, RM212 and RM262, which colocalized with the previously identified QTLs for plant height (Prince et al 2015) and grain yield (Swamy et al. 2017), were associated with plant dry weight under stress. The markers associated with grain yield and yield components could be used directly to select plants for yield. RM431, closely linked to QTL qDTY1.1 (Venuprasad et al. 2012), was related to spikelet fertility. A new marker, RM351, on chromosome 7 was associated with spikelet fertility, grain yield, and harvest index with a phenotypic variance of 7%. RM523 and RM570 were the two important markers controlling grain yield and harvest index in rice. These novel markers could be used in drought breeding program for direct selection of yield.

## **2.5.** Conclusions

Drought in rice is a major constraint in rice growing areas of the USA and other parts of the world. It is predominantly grown in lowland, well-watered condition. However, the disturbance in the global climate is limiting the availability of water for agricultural purpose. Since drought tolerance studies in the USA rice germplasm are limited, the drought tolerant USA genotypes identified in this study will be useful for breeding drought tolerant rice varieties. A low genetic diversity observed in USA rice germplasm calls for introduction of the new diverse germplasm to enhance genetic diversity. The molecular markers that were associated with the gain yield and agronomic traits under drought stress will be useful for marker-assisted breeding to develop varieties with enhanced yield and stability under drought prone areas.

## 2.6. References

- Anandan A, Anumalla M, Pradhan SK, Ali J (2016) Population structure, genetic diversity, and trait association analysis in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) germplasm for early seedling vigor (ESV) using trait linked SSR markers. PLoS ONE 11(3):e0152406
- Bhattarai U, Subudhi P (2018a) Genetic analysis of yield and agronomic traits under reproductive-stage drought stress in rice using a high-resolution linkage map. Gene 669:69-76
- Bhattarai U, Subudhi P (2018b) Identification of drought responsive QTLs during vegetative growth stage of rice using a saturated GBS-based SNP linkage map. Euphytica 214:38
- Bradbury PJ, Zhang Z, Kroon DE, Casstevens TM, Ramdoss Y, Buckler ES (2007) TASSEL: software for association mapping of complex traits in diverse samples. Bioinformatics 23:2633-2635
- Chen DH, Ronald PC (1999) A rapid DNA minipreparation method suitable for AFLP and other applications. Plant Mol Biol Rep 17:53-57
- Courtois B, Frouin J, Greco R, Bruschi G, Droc G, Hamelin C, Ruiz M, Clement G, Evrard JC, Coppenole SV, Katsantonis D, Oliveira M, Negrao S, Matos C, Cavigiolo S, Lupotto E, Piffanelli P, Ahmadi N (2012) Genetic diversity and population structure in a European collection of rice. Crop Sci 52:1163-1675

- Das B, Sengupta S, Parida SK, Roy B, Gosh M, Prasad M, Ghose TK (2013) Genetic diversity and population structure of rice landraces from Eastern and North-Eastern states of India. BMC Genet 14:71
- De Leon TB, Linscombe S, Gregorio G, Subudhi PK (2015) Genetic variation in southern USA rice genotypes for seedling salinity tolerance. Front Plant Sci 6:374
- Dixit S, Huang BE, Cruz MTS, Maturan PT, Ontoy JCE, Kumar A (2014) QTLs for tolerance of drought and breeding for tolerance of abiotic and biotic stress: An integrated approach. PLoS ONE 9(10):e109574
- Earl DA, Vonholdt BM (2012) Structure harvester: a website and program for visualizing structure output and implementing the Evanno method. Conserv Genet Resour 4:359-361
- Evanno G, Regnaut S, and Goudet J (2005) Detecting the number of clusters of individuals using the software STRUCTURE: a simulation study. Mol Ecol 14:2611-2620
- FAO corporate document repository (2003) Sustainable rice production for food security; Proceedings of the 20<sup>th</sup> session of international rice commission, Bangkok, Thailand
- Howitt R, McEwan D, Azuara JM, Lund J, Sumner D (2015) Economic analysis of the 2015 for California agriculture. UC Davis Center for Watershed Science. California Department of Food and Agriculture, University of California-Davis
- International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) (2002) Standard evaluation system for rice (SES). Philippines (http://www.knowledgebank.irri.org/images/docs/rice-standard-evaluation-system.pdf).
- Islam MZ, Khalequzzaman M, Prince MFRK, Siddique MA, Rashid ESMH, Ahmed MSU, Pittendrigh BR, Ali MP (2018) Diversity and population structure of red rice germplasm in Bangladesh. PLoS ONE 13(5):e0196096
- Kamoshita A, Babu RC, Boopathi M, Fukai S (2008) Phenotypic and genotypic analysis of drought-resistance traits for development of rice cultivars adapted to rainfed environments. Field Crops Res 109:1-23
- Kumar A, Dixit S, Ram T, Yadaw RB, Mishra KK, Mandal NP (2014) Breeding high-yielding drought-tolerant rice: genetic variations and conventional and molecular approaches. J Exp Bot 65:6265-6278
- Lin H, Ashikar M, Yamanouchi U, Sasaki T, Yano M (2002) Identification and characterization of a quantitative trait locus, *Hd9*, controlling heading date in rice. Breed Sci 52:35-41
- Liu K and Muse SV (2005) PowerMarker: an integrated analysis environment for genetic marker analysis. Bioinformatics 21:2128-2129

- Lu H, Redus MA, Coburn JR, Rutger N, Mccouch SR, Tai TH (2005) Population structure and breeding patterns of 145 U.S. rice cultivars based on SSR marker analysis. Crop Sci 45:66-76
- Mohanty S (2013) Trends in global rice consumption. Rice Today. International Rice Research Institute. Philippines
- Nachimuthu VV, Muthurajan R, Duraialaguraja S, Sivakami R, Pandin BA, Ponniah G, Gunasekaran K, Swaminathan M, Suji KK, Sabariappan R (2015) Analysis of population structure and genetic diversity in rice germplasm using SSR markers: an initiative towards association mapping of agronomic traits in *Oryza sativa*. Rice 8:30
- Ndjiondjop M, Cisse F, Futakuchi K, Lorieux M, Manneh B, Bocco R, Fatondji B (2010) Effect of drought on rice (*Oryza* spp.) genotypes according to their drought tolerance level. In: Innovation and partnerships to realize Africa's rice potential. Second Africa Rice Congress, Bamako, Mali 1.5.1-1.5.8
- Nounjan N, Chansongkrow P, charoensawan V, Siangliw JL, Toojinda T, Chadchawan S, Theerakulpisut P (2018) High performance of photosynthesis and osmotic adjustment are associated with salt tolerance ability in rice carrying drought tolerance QTL; physiological and co-expression network analysis. Front Plant Sci 9:1135
- Peakall R, Smouse PE (2012) GenAlEx 6.5: genetic analysis in Excel. Population genetic software for teaching and research an update. Bioinformatics 28:2537-2539
- Perrier X, Jacquemound-collet JP (2006) DARwin Software. http://darwin.cirad.fr/darwin
- Pradhan SK, Barik SR, Sahoo A, Mohapatra S, Nayak DK, Mahender A, Mehar J, Anandan A, Pandit E (2016) Population structure, genetic diversity and molecular marker-trait association analysis for high temperature stress tolerance in rice. PLoS ONE 11(8):e0160027
- Prince SJ, Beena R, Gomez SM, Senthivel S, Babu RC (2015) Mapping consistent rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) yield QTLs under drought stress in target rainfed environments. Rice 8:25
- Pritchard JK, Stephens M, Donnelly P (2000) Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. Genetics 155:945-959
- Ramchander S, Raveendran M, Robin S (2016) Mapping QTLs for physiological traits associated with drought tolerance in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). J Invest Genomics 3:00052
- Sandhu N, Kumar A (2017) Bridging the rice yield gaps under drought: QTLs, genes and their use in breeding programs. Agron 7:27

SAS Institute Inc. (2011) Base SAS 9.3 Procedures Guide. SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC

SAS Institute Inc. (2013) Using JMP11. SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC

- Shivrain VK, Burgos NR, Agrama HA, Rauth AL, Lu B, Sales MA, Boyett V, Gealy DR, Moldenhauer K (2010) Genetic diversity of weedy red rice (*Oryza sativa*) in Arkansas, USA. Weed Res 50:289-302
- Singh B, Reddy KR, Redona ED, Walker T (2017) Screening of rice cultivars for morphophysiological responses to early-season soil moisture stress. Rice Sci 24:322-335
- Singh RK, Chaudhary BD (1979) Biometrical methods in quantitative genetic analysis. Kalyani Publishers, New Delhi, India
- Swamy BPM, Shamsudin NAA, Rahman SNA, Mauleon R, Ratnam W, Cruz MTS, Kumar A (2017) Association mapping of yield and yield related traits under reproductive stage drought stress in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Rice 10:21
- Tabanao DA, Pocsedio AE, Yabes JC, Nino MC, Millas RA, Sevilla NRL, Yulong Z, Yu J (2014) Genetic diversity and population structure in a rice drought stress panel. Plant Genet Resour 13:195-205
- Venuprasad R, Bool ME, Quiatchon L, Atlin GN (2012) A QTL for rice grain yield in aerobic environments with large effects in three genetic backgrounds. Theor Appl Genet 124:323-332
- Vikram P, Swamy BPM, Dixit S, Ahmed HU, Cruz MTS, Singh AK, Kumar A (2011) *qDTY1.1*, a major QTL for rice grain yield under reproductive-stage drought stress with a consistent effect in multiple elite genetic backgrounds. BMC Genet 12:89
- Vikram P, Swamy BPM, Dixit S, Trinidad J, Cruz MTS, Maturan PC, Amante M, Kumar A (2016) Linkages and interactions analysis of major effect drought grain yield QTLs in rice. PLoS ONE 11(3):e0151532
- Xu Y, Beachell H, McCouch SR (2004) A marker-based approach to broadening the genetic base of rice in the USA. Crop Sci 44:1947-1959
- Zhang P, Li J, Li X, Liu X, Zhao X, Lu Y (2011) Population structure and genetic diversity in a rice core collection (*Oryza sativa* L.) investigated with SSR markers PLoS ONE 6(12):e27565

## Chapter 3. Identification of Drought Responsive QTLs During Vegetative Growth Stage of Rice Using a Saturated GBS-Based SNP Linkage Map

## **3.1. Introduction**

Rice is predominantly grown in well-watered conditions. But it is also grown in upland and rainfed lowlands, which constitutes 45% of the global rice production area. The majority of the rice growing areas in Asia and Africa are dependent on rain (Hijmas and Serraj 2009). The yield reduction in rice grown in these drought-affected areas is estimated to be 44-71% (Pandey and Bhandari 2009). Therefore, development of drought tolerant rice varieties is necessary to improve food security on a global scale.

Drought may occur at any growth stage of the crop. Early season drought occurs at the vegetative stage of growth and affects leaf growth and stem elongation. Intermittent drought occurring in between the rainfall intervals affects the development of the root system. Terminal drought occurs at the end of the growing period particularly during the flowering stage, affecting grain filling and spikelet fertility (Kamoshita et al. 2008). There are three mechanisms of plant's tolerance to drought stress i.e. drought escape, drought avoidance, and drought tolerance (Basu et al. 2016). Efforts are made to incorporate these mechanisms for developing drought tolerant rice varieties using both conventional and molecular breeding approaches.

Identification of QTLs for drought tolerance is a preferred breeding strategy to develop varieties tolerant to drought. However, the cost involved in phenotyping and genotyping of large number of individuals in breeding programs has been a significant bottleneck. The stage of plant growth, target environment, and the intensity of drought are important factors to be considered while identifying the QTLs for drought tolerance in rice (Kamoshita et al. 2002). Several QTLs

This chapter, previously published as Bhattarai, U, Subudhi PK (2018) Identification of drought responsive QTLs during vegetative growth stage of rice using a saturated GBS-based SNP linkage map. Euphytica 214:38, is reprinted here by the permission of Springer Nature

have been identified for drought tolerance traits at both seedling and reproductive stages (Srividhya et al. 2011; Vikram et al. 2011; Venuprasad et al. 2012; Palanog et al. 2014; Sandhu et al. 2014; Saikumar et al. 2014; Prince et al. 2015; Swamy et al. 2017). Consistent and large effect QTLs for yield under drought stress are necessary for use in breeding program. Prince et al. (2015) identified large effect yield QTLs on chromosomes 1, 4, and 6 which can be introgressed to stabilize rice productivity under drought stressed environments. Identification of drought responsive QTLs in seedling stage is more focused on root and shoot traits. Deep root traits in plants are responsible for tolerance to a drought environment and increased yield (Uga et al. 2013). The study on drought tolerance should therefore include identification and incorporation of both root and shoot trait QTLs during seedling, vegetative and reproductive growth stages of the plant.

Precise phenotyping of traits associated with drought tolerance is required for precise identification of QTLs. Two types of phenotyping strategies have been suggested by Blum (2002). The first strategy includes phenotyping of the constitutive traits like flowering time, stay green traits, and root depth etc. The second one involves phenotyping of the stress responsive traits under drought stress. It includes accumulation of osmolytes, membrane thermostability, and leaf water content etc. Drought resistance mechanism in rice includes both drought tolerance via osmotic adjustment and drought avoidance aided by a deep root system (Zhang J. et al. 2001).

Roots are important plant organs for plant growth and survival. Proper growth of root is essential in rice during seedling establishment, nutrient uptake, and water absorption. Longer root length, higher root biomass, and increased root shoot ratio are necessary for plants to

40

increase the water absorption capacity and remain productive under drought stress (Comas et al. 2013). QTLs governing the root traits under drought stress in rice have been identified by various researchers (Champoux et al. 1995; Ali et al. 2000; Zhang J et al. 2001; Zhang WP et al. 2001; Courtois et al. 2003). A deep root system combined with tissue tolerance and shorter growth duration is an important drought avoidance strategy in rice (Champoux et al. 1995; Dixit et al. 2014). Both additive and epistatic QTLs are important in controlling root traits in rice (Zhang WP et al. 2001). Pleiotropic effects have been reported for some highly correlated traits (Ali et al. 2000). Therefore, selection for root traits can be done by selecting other secondary traits.

Identifying the best marker system for QTL analysis is crucial in any molecular breeding program. Various markers systems (RFLP, RAPD, SSR, and AFLP etc.) have been used to map many agronomic traits on the rice genome (Gowda et al. 2003). However, these marker systems are labor-intensive, technically demanding, and are not amenable for generating markers in large number for constructing a saturated linkage map. Availability of whole genome sequence information of rice made it easy to generate unlimited number of markers in rice. Single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) marker is now preferred by many researchers for genotyping in breeding programs due to increased efficiency and cost effectiveness (Swamy and Kumar 2013). Genotyping by sequencing (GBS) is amenable for generating large number of markers, which can be used to prepare a saturated genetic map to identify QTLs with narrow confidence intervals (De Leon et al. 2016). In this study, we mapped the QTLs related to root and shoot traits in a recombinant inbred line (RIL) population developed from the cross Cocodrie x N-22 under drought stress at the vegetative stage using a high-density GBS-based SNP linkage map and identified several potential candidate genes involved in enhancing drought tolerance.

#### **3.2.** Materials and methods

## 3.2.1. Plant materials and phenotyping

A RIL population was developed from a cross involving two rice varieties, N-22 and Cocodrie. Cocodrie is a drought susceptible US variety released by the Louisiana State University Agricultural Center (Linscombe et al. 2000) and N-22 is a well-known donor for drought tolerance (Vikram et al. 2011). The F<sub>1</sub> plants were selfed to generate F<sub>2</sub> generation which was then advanced by single seed descent method to obtain  $F_{7:8}$  RILs. One hundred and eighty-one RILs and two parents were phenotyped during the vegetative growth stage for root and shoot traits inside a plastic tunnel at Louisiana State University during the summer of 2015 (June-July) (Appendix Figure B1). Seventy-five-centimeter-long plastic pots were used to allow maximum root growth of plants. The pots were filled with sand and soil (1:1) and placed vertically in a 30cm deep tray filled with water. Five seeds were planted in each pot and allowed to grow for one week. After one week, three plants per pot were retained to grow until the measurements were taken. The experiment was conducted in a completely randomized design with two replications. There were two sets of experiments: control experiment, where plants were allowed to grow in well-irrigated condition and stress experiment, where drought stress was imposed. After five weeks of plant growth, water was drained out from the tray in the stress experiment and irrigation was withheld for 10 days. Measurements were taken on 45-day old plants. The plants along with soil were taken out of the pot and washed with water to remove soil from the roots. Root length was measured from the base of the culm to the tip of the root. Shoot length was measured from the base of the culm to the tip of the plant. Fresh root mass was measured immediately after washing the roots and draining the residual water from it. Fresh shoot mass was measured by detaching the shoot from the plant. Dry root and shoot mass were

42

measured after oven drying the samples at 65°C for 5 days. Numbers of tillers were counted. Root-shoot ratio was derived as the ratio of dry root weight to dry shoot weight.

### **3.2.2. Data analysis**

The mean value from each pot was used for analysis. The distributions of all the traits were visualized by making the frequency distribution graphs in Microsoft Excel 2010. SAS 9.3 was used for statistical analysis (SAS Institute 2011). Descriptive statistics were obtained using PROC MEANS procedure in SAS. Analysis of variance was done using PROC GLLIMIX in SAS with line as a fixed effect and replication as a random effect. Pearson correlation coefficients among the traits was computed for both stressed and non-stressed environment using PROC CORR procedure in SAS. Broad-sense heritability was estimated on family mean basis using the SAS code of Holland et al. (2003).

#### **3.2.3. DNA Isolation and sequencing**

Leaf samples were collected from 21-day old seedlings of each of the 181 RILs and parents (Cocodrie and N-22). DNA was isolated using modified CTAB method (Murray and Thomson 1980) and purified using Genomic DNA clean and concentrator (Zymo Research Corp. CA, USA) following manufacturer's instruction. DNA quantity was assessed using NanoDrop ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, USA) and the samples were diluted to 30-100 ng/ $\mu$ L for library construction. *ApeKI* restriction enzyme was used for library preparation following a protocol modified from Elshire et al. (2011). Library preparation and single-end sequencing of the GBS libraries were done at the Genomic Diversity Facility of the Cornell University.

#### 3.2.4. Sequence data analysis and SNP identification

The raw sequence was analyzed using Tassel 3 GBS pipeline (Glaubitz et al. 2014). A Tassel plugin was used to remove the raw sequences without having a barcode. Good barcoded reads were aligned with the reference sequence using Bowtie 2 (Langmead and Salzberg 2012). SNP calling and filtering were done using the Tassel pipeline. The duplicate SNPs were merged and the SNPs with low coverage and high heterozygosity were removed. SNPs having a high rate of genotyping error or not in linkage disequilibrium (LD) with other nearby SNPs on the same chromosome were purged. The SNPs retained after filtering using Tassel pipeline were subjected to manual filtering. The heterozygous SNPs were encoded as missing. SNPs with monomorphic allele between the two parental lines were discarded. All the SNP markers with >10% of the missing value were removed manually before analysis. A total of 4748 SNP markers were retained for linkage map construction.

### **3.2.5.** Linkage map construction and QTL analysis

Linkage map construction and QTL analysis were done using QTL ICIMapping 4.1 (Meng et al. 2015). Since our mapping population is a RIL population, we used '2' to represent the Cocodrie allele, '0' to represent the N-22 allele and '-1' for any missing data. The grouping of the SNP markers was based on their physical map location on the chromosomes. The ordering of the markers within each chromosome was based on the recombination events between the markers. Recombination distance was calculated using Kosambi mapping function (Kosambi 1944).

Eight phenotypic traits were used for QTL mapping. Mean phenotypic data was used for analysis. Interval mapping (IM) and Inclusive Composite Interval mapping (ICIM) were used to detect the additive QTLs. A logarithm of odds (LOD) value greater than 2 was used to declare the significant QTLs. Since rice is a diploid species and the average chromosome length in our experiment was ~140cM, the LOD value 2 is sufficient to explain almost 95 percent of the probability of being a significant QTL in that region (Ooijen 1999). A LOD value greater than 3 was used to declare the significant epistatic QTLs. The left and the right markers flanking the QTLs were determined. QTLs were named according to the trait name, chromosome number, and their physical map position on the genome. For example, *qSL1.38* represents QTL for shoot length on chromosome 1 at 38 Mb position of the genome. The parental source of QTL effect was determined from the additive effects of the QTLs.

### 3.2.6. Identification of candidate gene and gene ontology

The position of SNP markers flanking the QTL regions was used against the MSU rice reference genome annotation release 7.0 to identify the genes present within the QTL regions. All the genes within the identified QTLs were listed. These gene lists for each trait were annotated into different gene ontology groups using agriGO gene ontology (GO) analysis toolkit (Tian et al. 2017). The significant gene ontology terms were classified into three major functional groups: biological process, molecular function, and cellular component.

## **3.3. Results**

### 3.3.1. Phenotypic performance

There was a significant difference in performance between the parents in both stressed and non-stressed environments for all traits (Table 3.1). Mean values for all the traits were higher in N-22 compared with Cocodrie and distributions of these traits were normal (Figure 3.1). Transgressive segregation of RILs was observed on both sides of the distribution. There were significant differences among the RILs for all the traits. Heritability for all the traits was high in both environments. Root length of Cocodrie remained the same in both stressed and non-stressed conditions whereas it was increased in N-22 under water stress (Appendix Figure B2). The mean root lengths of the RILs lie between the parents in both environments. Both parents experienced a reduction in shoot length, fresh and dry shoot mass under water stress. N-22 showed a greater reduction in shoot length compared with Cocodrie. The mean and range of the RIL population for shoot length were smaller under water stress than in the non-stress environment. N-22 had greater fresh root mass and shoot mass compared to Cocodrie under both environments. Although both parents and the RIL population showed a reduction in fresh root mass under water stress for N-22; however, it was decreased for Cocodrie and the RIL population. Dry shoot mass was reduced in both parents under water stress condition. N-22 and RIL mean showed a decrease in dry root mass under water stressed condition compared to well-irrigated condition. Root-shoot ratio increased for both the parents and RIL population under drought stress.

### **3.3.2.** Correlations among the traits

Significant correlation was observed among many of the traits studied (Table 3.2). Root length was significantly and positively correlated to most of the traits in both conditions with the exception of number of tillers and root shoot ratio under drought stress. However, number of tillers and root-shoot ratio were significantly correlated to root length only under non-stress condition. Shoot length, fresh root mass, fresh shoot mass, dry root mass, and dry shoot mass were significantly and positively correlated to each other in both the conditions. Number of tillers was negatively correlated to shoot length but uncorrelated to root-shoot ratio under drought stress. The root-shoot ratio was negatively correlated to dry shoot mass and positively correlated to dry root mass under drought stressed environment.



Figure 3.1. Frequency distribution of various root and shoot traits under water stress condition in Cocodrie x N-22 RIL F8 population

#### 3.3.3. GBS and Linkage map construction

The molecular linkage map, constructed using 4748 SNP markers, covered 365 Mb of rice genome with a total genetic length of 1693cM (Table 3.3). The average length of chromosome per SNP was 141 cM with 2.8 markers per cM. There were 2007 recombination points along the whole rice genome with 2.4 SNPs per unique recombination points. A total of 19 gaps greater than 5 cM length were found along 12 rice chromosomes of which the maximum number of 4 gaps was on chromosome 1.

## 3.3.4. QTL mapping

Inclusive composite interval mapping (ICIM) identified fourteen QTLs for various roots and shoot traits in rice under water stress condition (Table 3.4; Figure 3.2) and nineteen QTLs under irrigated condition (Table 3.5). Twenty-seven QTLs were identified by interval mapping (Table 3.6) under water stress condition and thirty-one QTLs were identified under irrigated condition (Table 3.7).

### 3.3.4.1. Root length QTLs

Both IM and ICIM mapping detected one QTL (*qRL12.04*) for root length in chromosome 12 under water stressed environment (Table 3.4; Table 3.6). The QTL explained 5% of the total phenotypic variation and the allele with increased effect was contributed by N-22. Two QTLs for root length, *qRL2.04* and *qRL1.08*, identified under non-stress condition (Table 3.5) explained 7% and 5% of the phenotypic variation, respectively, and the desirable alleles for both the QTLs were contributed by N-22. There were four pairs of epistatic QTLs for root length identified by interval mapping (Appendix Table B1). None of those epistatic QTLs co-localized with the additive QTLs. Among four pairs of epistatic QTLs, three of those have the mean increasing effect from N-22 allele and only Cocodrie contributed the trait enhancing allele for *qRL6.28*. These epistatic QTLs contributed 9% of the total phenotypic variation.

### **3.3.4.2.** Shoot length QTLs

Five shoot length QTLs were identified under water stressed condition. The *qSL1.38* was detected in both IM and ICIM methods and it accounted for 19% and 35% of the phenotypic variation, respectively. Among the shoot length QTLs under drought stress, *qSL1.37* and *qSL4.06* were the major effect QTLs with a high LOD score contributing 36% and 18% of the total phenotypic variation, respectively. The allele with increasing mean effect was contributed byN-22 for *qSL1.37* whereas it was Cocodrie for *qSL4.06*. Four additive QTLs were detected for shoot length under non-stress condition. Nine pairs of epistatic QTLs were identified for shoot length. One of the additive QTL *qSL4.25* co-localized with the epistatic QTL. These epistatic

<b></b>		Noi	n-Stresse	ed					% reduction in trait mean under stress <sup>c</sup>			
I rait"	Cocodrie mean	N-22 mean	RIL mean	RIL Range	h <sup>2b</sup>	Cocodrie mean	N-22	RIL mean	RIL Range	h <sup>2</sup>	Cocodrie	N-22
RL (cm)	41.75	53.00*	47.39	17.2-74.0	0.72	41.00	64.50**	50.89	28.7-78.6	0.86	1.80	-21.7
SL (cm)	82.75	103.00*	92.15	33.1-142.2	0.80	70.05	73.65 <sup>ns</sup>	79.66	40.6- 119.5	0.90	15.35	29.35
FRM (g)	1.64	3.27**	2.38	1.0-4.7	0.76	1.45	3.08**	2.08	1.0-5.9	0.84	11.59	5.81
FSM (g)	6.10	12.74**	8.79	2.9-23.5	0.72	4.05	7.02*	5.20	0.7-15.2	0.81	33.61	44.9
NT	2.84	4.83**	3.97	1.0-8.7	0.65	2.33	5.84**	3.43	1.0-7.0	0.67	17.96	-20.91
DSM (g)	2.22	3.20*	3.03	0.6-8.4	0.77	1.69	2.23*	1.90	0.8-3.7	0.72	23.87	30.31
DRM (g)	0.19	0.50**	0.40	0.03-1.37	0.86	0.24	0.46**	0.37	0.07-0.83	0.80	26.32	8.00
RSR	0.08	0.16**	0.13	0.03-0.47	0.81	0.14	0.21**	0.19	0.05-0.69	0.73	-75.00	-31.26

Table 3.1. Phenotypic characterization of parents and RIL population developed from the cross Cocodrie x N-22 for various root and shoot traits under drought stress and non-stress environments

<sup>a</sup> RL, Root length; SL, Shoot length; FRM, Fresh root mass; FSM, Fresh shoot mass; NT, Number of tillers; DSM, Dry shoot mass; DRM, Dry root mass; RSR, Root shoot ratio; CV, coefficient of variation. <sup>b</sup> h<sup>2</sup>: Broad sense heritability on family mean basis.\*, \*\*: Significant difference between the means of Cocodrie and N-22 at 5% and 1% level of probability, respectively. <sup>ns</sup> not significant <sup>c</sup> Negative values indicate increase in trait means.

Table 3.2. Pearson correlation matrix among various root and shoot traits in the Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population under drought stress and non-stress environments. Values above diagonal are the correlation among traits under non-stress condition and values below diagonal are the correlations among traits under drought stress condition

Trait <sup>a</sup>	RL (cm)	SL (cm)	FRM(g)	FSM (g)	NT	DSM (g)	DRM (g)	RSR
RL (cm)	1.00	0.17*	0.47***	0.53***	0.28***	0.45***	0.46***	0.31***
SL (cm)	0.25***	1.00	0.22**	0.30***	-0.12	0.46***	0.37***	0.12
FRM (g)	0.26***	0.21**	1.00	0.57***	0.42***	0.51***	0.52***	0.32***
FSM (g)	0.38***	0.32***	0.57***	1.00	0.43	0.63***	0.54***	0.26***
NT	0.07	-0.31***	0.26***	0.42***	1.00	0.27***	0.38***	0.31***
DSM (g)	0.23**	0.54***	0.40***	0.51***	0.15*	1.00	0.58***	0.07
DRM (g)	0.16*	0.34***	0.21**	0.23**	0.15*	0.41***	1.00	0.80***
RSR	0.04	0.02	-0.03	-0.07	0.09	-0.23**	0.71***	1.00

<sup>a</sup> RL, Root length; SL, Shoot length; FRM, Fresh root mass; FSM, Fresh shoot mass; NT, Number of tillers; DSM, Dry shoot mass; DRM, Dry root mass; RSR, Root shoot ratio. \* significant at 0.05 level of probability; \*\* significant at 0.01 level of probability; \*\*\* significant at <0.001 level of probability.

Chr	No. of SNP Markers	Chromosome length coverage (bp) <sup>a</sup>	Genetic length (cM) <sup>b</sup>	No. of recombination points	No. of SNP markers/cM	No. of SNP markers/unique position	Minimum interval (cM)	Maximum interval (cM)	Average interval (cM)	No. of gaps >5cM
1	711	43219493	238.8	278	2.98	2.56	0.30	7.54	0.86	4
2	596	35384138	161.9	210	3.68	2.84	0.30	8.86	0.77	2
3	509	35756527	187.1	258	2.72	1.97	0.30	4.73	0.73	0
4	288	35464762	158.9	148	1.81	1.95	0.31	7.20	1.07	3
5	320	29187384	120.9	158	2.65	2.02	0.30	6.34	0.77	1
6	357	29702863	141.1	157	2.53	2.27	0.30	9.74	0.90	1
7	394	29327089	141.6	165	2.78	2.38	0.30	7.42	0.86	1
8	279	28081119	125.1	137	2.23	2.04	0.30	7.32	0.91	1
9	354	22348084	98.8	144	3.58	2.46	0.30	7.94	0.69	1
10	310	22051113	95.8	115	3.23	2.70	0.30	5.09	0.83	1
11	306	27689871	111.9	113	2.73	2.71	0.30	5.80	0.99	2
12	324	27095052	110.9	124	2.92	2.61	0.30	9.44	0.90	2
Total	4748	365307495	1692.8	2007	33.86	28.51	3.61	87.42	10.28	19
Mean	395.7	30442291.3	141.1	167.3	2.82	2.38	0.30	7.28	0.84	1.58

Table 3.3. Summary of the SNP markers distribution and genome coverage in the linkage map of the Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population

<sup>a</sup> Physical length of chromosome in base pairs (bp). <sup>b</sup> Length of the chromosome based on recombination events and measured in centimorgan (cM).

QTLs showed 3-9% of the phenotypic variation. The alleles for four of the nine epistatic QTLs were contributed by N-22 and the alleles for other five epistatic QTLs were from Cocodrie.

## 3.3.4.3. Fresh root mass QTLs

One additive QTL (*qFRM1.36*), detected by both IM and ICIM for fresh root mass under water stress condition, explained 7% of the total phenotypic variation and the desirable allele was contributed by N-22. Two QTLs (*qFRM1.37 and qFRM7.11*) for fresh root mass under non-stress condition accounted for 11% and 5% of the phenotypic variation, respectively. Ten pairs of epistatic QTLs were found for fresh root mass. The alleles with increasing effect for all of these epistatic QTLs were from N-22. None of the additive QTL for fresh root mass co-localized with the epistatic QTLs.

#### **3.3.4.4. Fresh shoot mass QTLs**

One additive QTL (*qFSM8.11*) explaining 5% of the total phenotypic variation for fresh shoot mass was identified on chromosome 8 by both IM and ICIM mapping under water stress condition. The increasing mean effect for this QTL was contributed by Cocodrie allele. Four additive QTLs were identified for fresh shoot mass during irrigated condition with each explaining 4-8% of the total phenotypic variation. Seven pairs of epistatic QTLs were detected for fresh root mass. None of these epistatic QTLs co-localized with the additive QTLs. Four and five pairs of interacting QTLs have increasing effects from N-22 and Cocodrie, respectively.

### **3.3.4.5.** Number of tillers QTLs

Two additive QTLs on chromosome 3 were detected for number of tillers under drought stress. Each QTL explained 7% of the phenotypic variation and the allele for increasing mean effect in these QTLs were contributed by N-22. Two pairs of epistatic QTLs were detected for number of tillers in rice under drought. N-22 allele contributed toward increased effect at both of

Trait <sup>a</sup>	QTL <sup>b</sup>	Chr	Position (cM)	Left Marker	Right Marker	Interval Size (bp)	LOD <sup>c</sup>	PVE (%) <sup>d</sup>	Additive effect	Number of genes in the QTL	Parental allele with increasing effect
RL	qRL12.04	12	30	S12_4402981	S12_4833513	430532	2.2	5.1	-2.35	49	N-22
	qSL1.11	1	68	S1_11086521	S1_11356196	269675	2.2	1.6	1.90	38	Cocodrie
	qSL1.38	1	188	S1_38023681	S1_38286772	263091	30.4	35.8	-8.87	43	N-22
SL	qSL3.24	3	109	S3_24014766	S3_24061769	47003	2.7	2.1	2.18	9	Cocodrie
	qSL4.06	4	32	S4_6504436	S4_6630807	126371	17.6	17.9	6.23	19	Cocodrie
	qSL4.29	4	115	S4_29179250	S4_29482850	303600	3.2	2.6	2.40	43	Cocodrie
FRM	qFRM1.36	1	180	S1_36461341	S1_36027561	433780	2.6	6.7	-0.15	65	N-22
FSM	qFSM8.11	8	53	S8_11845128	S8_15630955	3785827	2.2	5.4	0.40	539	Cocodrie
NT	qNT3.34	3	180	S3_34874041	S3_35150742	276701	3.3	6.4	-0.19	52	N-22
1 1	qNT3.28	3	135	S3_28513305	S3_28809504	296199	3.4	6.8	-0.19	44	N-22
	qDRM1.11	1	68	S1_11086521	S1_11356196	269675	2.4	5.5	0.03	38	Cocodrie
DRM	qDRM1.37	1	184	S1_37376121	S1_37561874	185753	3.4	7.6	-0.04	35	N-22
	qDRM8.25	8	104	S8_25099054	S8_25341501	242447	2.2	4.4	-0.03	35	N-22
DSM	qDSM1.38	1	188	S1_38023681	S1_38286772	263091	4.9	11.3	-0.13	43	N-22

Table 3.4. Additive QTLs for various root and shoot related traits in the Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population under water stressed condition identified by ICIM

<sup>a</sup> RL, Root length; SL, Shoot length; FRM, Fresh root mass; FSM, Fresh shoot mass; NT, Number of tillers; DRM, Dry root mass; DSM, Dry shoot mass.

<sup>b</sup> *qRL*, *qSL*, *qFRM*, *qFSM*, *qNT*, *qDRM*, and *qDSM* are QTLs for root length, shoot length, fresh root mass, fresh shoot mass, number of tillers, dry root mass, and dry shoot mass, respectively. The number before the decimal indicate chromosome and the number after decimal indicate the physical location of the QTL in mega base pair.

<sup>c</sup> LOD: Logarithm of odds

<sup>d</sup> PVE (%): Percentage of phenotypic variance explained by the QTL

										No. of	Parental
Trait <sup>a</sup>	OTI <sup>b</sup>	Chr	Position	I aft Markar	Pight Marker	Interval		PVE	Additive	genes	allele with
Han	QIL	CIII.	(cM)	Lett Marker	Kigin Marker	size (bp)	LOD	(%) <sup>d</sup>	effect	in the	increasing
										QTL	effect
DI	qRL1.08	1	49	S1_8361311	S1_8402167	40856	2.9	5.0	-2.18	7	N-22
KL	qRL2.04	2	22	S2_4310292	S2_4408126	97834	3.4	8.4	-2.82	15	N-22
	qSL1.14	1	80	S1_14612053	S1_17898781	3286728	2.1	3.0	2.94	477	Cocodrie
CI	qSL1.38	1	188	S1_38023681	S1_38286772	263091	23.4	42.3	-10.29	43	N-22
SL	qSL4.32	4	132	S4_32621161	S4_33263832	642671	3.3	4.6	3.38	100	Cocodrie
	qSL5.23	5	93	S5_23719865	S5_23790439	70574	2.3	3.0	-2.70	14	N-22
EDM	qFRM1.37	1	182	S1_37089296	S1_37273187	183891	5.1	11.2	-0.22	25	N-22
ГКIИ	qFRM7.11	7	54	S7_11034818	S7_12924619	1889801	2.6	5.4	0.15	258	Cocodrie
	qFSM1.38	1	190	S1_38286772	S1_38611845	325073	3.7	7.8	-0.76	50	N-22
ECM	qFSM3.13	3	90	S3_13604998	S3_16656021	3051023	3.2	6.6	0.70	450	Cocodrie
LOM	qFSM5.20	5	73	S5_20111573	S5_20319917	208344	2.6	5.4	-0.63	26	N-22
	qFSM10.11	10	41	S10_11045261	S10_11388953	343692	2.3	4.4	0.59	43	Cocodrie
	qDRM2.03	2	19	S2_3854717	S2_4310292	455575	2.0	3.2	-0.04	72	N-22
	qDRM3.30	3	157	S3_30663783	S3_30800456	136673	2.2	3.2	-0.04	26	N-22
DKM	qDRM6.10	6	58	S6_10836601	S6_11170855	334254	3.9	6.0	0.06	48	Cocodrie
	qDRM6.06	6	34	S6_6463372	S6_7403500	940128	6.7	10.8	-0.08	135	N-22
DCM	qDSM1.37	1	182	S1_37089296	S1_37273187	183891	4.6	11.8	-0.30	25	N-22
D2M	qDSM7.05	7	110	S7_5450298	S7_5566085	115787	2.0	4.3	0.18	24	Cocodrie
RSR	qRSR2.03	2	17	S2_3854717	S2_4310292	455575	3.9	8.2	-0.02	73	N-22

Table 3.5. Additive QTLs for various root and shoot related traits in the Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population under irrigated condition as identified by ICIM

<sup>a</sup> RL: Root length, SL: Shoot length, FRM: Fresh root mass, FSM: Fresh shoot mass, NT: Number of tillers, DRM: Dry root mass, DSM: Dry shoot mass, RSR: Root shoot ratio.

<sup>b</sup> The number before the decimal indicate chromosome and the number after decimal indicate the physical location of the QTL in mega base pair.

<sup>c</sup> LOD: Logarithm of odds.

<sup>d</sup> PVE (%): Percentage of phenotypic variance explained by the QTL.

Phenotype	QTL <sup>a</sup>	Chr	Position (cM)	Left Marker	Right Marker	Interval Size (bp)	LOD b	PVE (%) <sup>c</sup>	Additive effect	Number of genes in the QTL	Parental allele with increasing effect
Root Length-IM	qRL12.04	12	30	S12_4402981	S12_4833513	430532	2.2	5.1	-2.35	49	N-22
	qSL1.37	1	182	S1_37089296	S1_37273187	183891	17.4	16.0	-8.02	25	N-22
	qSL1.38	1	188	S1_38023681	S1_38286772	263091	22.3	19.3	-8.75	43	N-22
Shoot	qSL1.39	1	200	S1_39692180	S1_39526933	165247	9.9	9.7	-6.16	25	N-22
length_IM	qSL4.25	4	97	S4_25750452	S4_27194959	1444507	2.6	2.8	3.31	226	Cocodrie
iciigtii-iivi	qSL7.005	7	1	S7_553805	S7_612387	58582	2.7	2.9	3.38	8	Cocodrie
	qSL7.03	7	24	S7_3920648	S7_4483382	562734	3.3	3.8	3.87	79	Cocodrie
	qSL9.03	9	4	S9_3884948	S9_4427876	542928	2.5	2.7	3.23	73	Cocodrie
	qFRM1.22a	1	92	S1_22128076	S1_22191567	63491	2.5	4.4	0.22	7	Cocodrie
Fresh Root	qFRM1.22b	1	98	S1_22796323	S1_22958631	162308	2.2	3.8	0.20	23	Cocodrie
Mass-IM	qFRM1.36	1	180	S1_36461341	S1_36027561	433780	2.7	4.7	-0.16	65	N-22
	qFRM5.28	5	119	S5_28710628	S5_28744011	33383	2.0	3.6	-0.14	5	N-22
Fresh Shoot Mass-IM	qFSM8.11	8	53	S8_11845128	S8_15630955	3785827	2.2	5.4	0.40	539	Cocodrie
	qNT3.34	3	180	S3_34874041	S3_35150742	276701	2.0	3.7	-0.17	52	N-22
	qNT3.28	3	135	S3_28513305	S3_28809504	296199	3.4	6.3	-0.22	44	N-22
No. of	qNT3.27	3	126	S3_27263281	S3_27364861	101580	3.2	5.8	-0.21	15	N-22
Tillers-IM	qNT3.06	3	35	S3_6156903	S3_6332631	175728	2.3	4.1	0.17	26	Cocodrie
	qNT4.05	4	30	S4_5728245	S4_6059987	331742	2.7	5.1	-0.19	52	N-22
	qNT5.23	5	89	S5_23200302	S5_23218617	18315	2.7	4.9	0.19	1	Cocodrie
Dry Poot	qDRM1.21	1	89	S1_21626281	S1_21068987	557294	2.4	5.2	0.04	72	Cocodrie
	qDRM1.38	1	188	S1_38023681	S1_38286772	263091	2.7	6.1	-0.03	43	N-22
111455-1111	qDRM8.25	8	104	S8_25099054	S8_25341501	242447	2.3	4.9	-0.03	36	N-22

Table 3.6. Additive QTLs for various root and shoot related traits identified by Interval Mapping (IM) in Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population under water stressed condition

Table 3.6. continued

Phenotype	QTL <sup>a</sup>	Chr	Position (cM)	Left Marker	Right Marker	Interval Size (bp)	LOD b	PVE (%) <sup>c</sup>	Additive effect	Number of genes in the QTL	Parental allele with increasing effect
	qDSM1.28	1	134	S1_28234412	S1_28190405	44007	2.6	3.7	-0.10	4	N-22
Dry Shoot	qDSM1.36	1	180	S1_36461341	S1_36027561	433780	4.5	6.4	-0.13	65	N-22
Mass-IM	qDSM1.38	1	188	S1_38023681	S1_38286772	263091	4.9	7.1	-0.13	43	N-22
	qDSM8.08	8	47	S8_8971655	S8_9136647	164992	2.2	3.2	0.09	20	Cocodrie
Root											
Shoot	qRSR10.11	10	41	S10_11045261	S10_11388953	343692	3.0	8.5	-0.02	42	N-22
ratio-IM											

<sup>a</sup> qRL, qSL, qFRM, qFSM, qNT, qDRM, qDSM, and qRSR are QTLs for root length, shoot length, fresh root mass, fresh shoot mass, number of tillers, dry root mass, dry shoot mass, and root shoot ratio, respectively. The number before the decimal indicate chromosome and the number after decimal indicate the physical location of the QTL in mega base pair; <sup>b</sup>LOD is logarithm of odds; <sup>c</sup> PVE (%) is percentage of phenotypic variance explained by the QTL

Phenotype	QTL <sup>a</sup>	Chr.	Position (cM)	Left Marker	Right Marker	Interval size (bp)	LOD <sup>b</sup>	PVE (%) <sup>c</sup>	Additive effect	No. of genes in the QTL	Parental allele with increasing effect
Root Length - IM	qRL2.04	2	22	S2_4310292	S2_4408126	97834	3.4	7.1	-2.82	15	N-22
	qSL1.21	1	91	S1_21230560	S1_21995746	765186	2.9	2.4	5.32	110	Cocodrie
Shoot	qSL1.33	1	168	S1_33239950	S1_33415088	175138	5.1	4.2	-5.35	22	N-22
Jongth	qSL1.35	1	178	S1_35776217	S1_35761539	-14678	13.4	9.9	-8.30	1	N-22
In Im	qSL1.37	1	182	S1_37089296	S1_37273187	183891	14.9	11.1	-8.81	25	N-22
1101	qSL1.38	1	189	S1_38023681	S1_38286772	263091	21.6	14.9	-10.18	41	N-22
	qSL1.39	1	200	S1_39692180	S1_39526933	165247	6.7	5.3	-6.06	25	N-22
Fresh	qFRM1.37	1	182	S1_37089296	S1_37273187	183891	3.9	6.8	-0.20	25	N-22
Root Mass- IM	qFRM1.38	1	190	S1_38286772	S1_38611845	325073	3.8	6.5	-0.19	51	N-22
	qFSM1.36	1	181	S1_36252166	S1_37068548	816382	2.8	4.8	-0.70	119	N-22
Fresh	qFSM1.38	1	190	S1_38286772	S1_38611845	325073	3.2	5.5	-0.75	51	N-22
Shoot	qFSM3.16	3	89	S3_16260951	S3_16599892	338941	2.4	4.8	0.71	40	Cocodrie
Mass-IM	qFSM3.12	3	72	S3_12741486	S3_12847784	106298	2.2	3.7	0.61	20	Cocodrie
	qFSM6.06	6	34	S6_6463372	S6_7403500	940128	2.1	3.6	-0.60	134	N-22
	qNT3.31	3	158	S3_31005190	S3_31490364	485174	3.3	4.7	-0.26	71	N-22
Number of	qNT6.27	6	116	S6_27149332	S6_27427622	278290	3.5	5.1	-0.27	46	N-22
Tillers -	qNT6.26	6	111	S6_26499660	S6_26675063	175403	3.3	5.0	-0.27	23	N-22
IM	qNT6.25	6	106	S6_25146090	S6_25717883	571793	3.1	4.7	-0.26	89	N-22
	qNT6.24	6	95	S6_24332630	S6_24728241	395611	2.7	4.2	-0.25	48	N-22

Table 3.7. Additive QTLs for various root and shoot related traits identified by Interval Mapping (IM) in the Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population under irrigated condition

Table 3.7. continued

Phenotype	QTL <sup>a</sup>	Chr.	Position (cM)	Left Marker	Right Marker	Interval size (bp)	LOD <sup>b</sup>	PVE (%) <sup>c</sup>	Additive effect	No. of genes in the QTL	Parental allele with increasing effect
	qDRM2.03	2	20	S2_3854717	S2_4310292	455575	2.1	3.8	-0.05	73	N-22
Dry Root	qDRM3.30	3	157	S3_30663783	S3_30800456	136673	2.2	3.7	-0.05	26	N-22
Mass – IM	qDRM3.16	3	91	S3_16459035	S3_16450935	8100	3.5	5.9	0.06	1	Cocodrie
	qDRM3.13	3	78	S3_13860899	S3_13948553	87654	3.8	6.5	0.07	10	Cocodrie
	qDRM6.06	6	34	S6_6463372	S6_7403500	940128	3.3	5.6	-0.06	135	N-22
	qDSM1.37	1	182	S1_37089296	S1_37273187	183891	4.8	8.1	-0.32	25	N-22
Dry Shoot	qDSM1.38	1	190	S1_38286772	S1_38611845	325073	4.4	7.1	-0.30	51	N-22
Mass - IM	qDSM3.12	3	74	S3_12907150	S3_12946497	39347	2.9	4.6	0.24	3	Cocodrie
	qDSM10.05	10	26	S10_5341617	S10_5412997	71380	3.0	5.1	0.27	11	Cocodrie
Root	qRSR2.03	2	17	S2_3854717	S2_4310292	455575	3.4	6.8	-0.02	73	N-22
Shoot	qRSR3.34	3	180	S3_34874041	S3_35150742	276701	2.0	4.2	-0.01	53	N-22
Ratio - IM	qRSR6.06	6	33	S6_6463372	S6_7403500	940128	2.3	4.8	-0.02	135	N-22

<sup>a</sup> qRL, qSL, qFRM, qFSM, qNT, qDRM, qDSM and qRSR are QTLs for root length, shoot length, fresh root mass, fresh shoot mass, number of tillers, dry root mass, dry shoot mass and root shoot ratio respectively. The number before the decimal indicate chromosome and the number after decimal indicate the physical location of the QTL in mega base pair. <sup>b</sup> LOD is logarithm of odds <sup>c</sup> PVE (%) is percentage of phenotypic variance explained by the QTL



Figure 3.2. Map positions of QTLs for eight root and shoot traits on the genetic linkage map developed in an  $F_8$  RIL population from the cross Cocodrie x N-22. QTLs for these traits under drought stress and irrigated conditions were identified using ICIM mapping procedure. The QTLs expressed under drought stress are indicated by the arrow heads and the QTLs expressed under irrigated condition are indicated by the triangle. The QTL alleles contributing toward increased mean by N-22 are indicated by the arrows pointing upwards and the QTL alleles contributed by Cocodrie are shown by the arrows pointing downwards. Vertical triangles indicated the increasing mean effect for the trait by N-22 allele, whereas the triangle pointing downwards showed the Cocodrie allele responsible for the increasing effect on the trait. Dark regions in the linkage map are the marker saturated regions and the white regions are the gaps between the markers.

these pairs of interacting QTLs. These interacting QTLs were independent of the additive QTLs

identified for number of tillers.

## 3.3.4.6. Dry root mass QTLs

ICIM detected three QTLs for dry root mass under drought stress condition. The qDRM8.25 was

identified in both IM and ICIM mapping procedures. Each of these QTLs accounted for 4-7% of

the total variation in phenotype. N-22 alleles were responsible for increasing effect for dry

root mass QTLs *qDRM1.11* and *qDRM1.37*. However, Cocodrie allele increased mean phenotypic value at the *qDRM8.25*. Four QTLs were detected for dry root mass during normal condition. Three of those QTLs (*qDRM2.03, qDRM3.30*, and *qDRM6.06*) were detected by both IM and ICIM methods. There were four pairs of epistatic QTLs identified for dry shoot mass. No additive QTLs co-localized with the identified epistatic QTLs.

## 3.3.4.7. Dry shoot mass QTLs

One dry shoot mass QTL (*qDSM1.38*) was detected by both IM and ICIM mapping. It accounted for 11% of the total phenotypic variation and the alleles for increased mean effect were contributed by N-22. Two QTLs were detected for dry shoot mass under non-stress condition. These QTLs individually explained 4-11% of the variation in phenotype. Seven pairs of epistatic QTLs were diagnosed for dry shoot mass. The increasing effects in three pairs of these QTLs were contributed by N-22 allele and the mean increasing effects in other four pairs of QTLs were contributed from Cocodrie allele.

#### **3.3.4.8. Root shoot ratio QTLs**

One QTL (*qRSR2.03*) was detected by ICIM for root shoot ratio under irrigated condition. It accounted for 8% of the total phenotypic variation and the increasing mean effect was due to the contribution from N-22 allele. Ten pairs of epistatic QTLs were identified for root shoot ratio. The mean increasing effect in six of these QTL pairs were due to N-22 alleles and the increasing effects in four other QTL pairs were due to Cocodrie alleles.

### **3.3.5.** Mapping of segregation distortion loci

Mapping of segregation distortion loci showed nine regions that deviated from 1:1 segregation ratio (Appendix Table B2). Three segregation distortion loci were observed in each of the chromosome 1 and 10, one each on chromosomes 2, 4, and 12. Among the nine, three of

the distortion loci deviated more towards Cocodrie and six loci towards N-22. The size of the segregation distortion loci varied from 25 kb on chromosome 12 to 325 kb on chromosome 10. Segregation distortion loci on chromosome 1 at 95 cM and 109 cM position were highly skewed in favor of N-22. None of the additive and epistatic QTLs identified in our study co-localized with the segregation distortion loci.

## 3.3.6. Co-localization with previously identified QTLs

To study the robustness of our QTL mapping, we conducted a survey to determine the congruency of the previously reported QTLs with the QTLs identified in this study. Four of our shoot length QTLs co-localized with the previously reported QTLs (Table 3.8). The QTLs, *qSL1.37* and *qSL1.38*, located within the chromosomal region of 37,851,779 - 38,894,388 bp in chromosome 1, co-localized with plant height QTL qDTH1.1 (Drought tolerant height) (Vikram et al. 2011). Two QTLs at the chromosomal location (26,857,374 - 30,334,896 bp), qSL4.25 and qSL4.29, were similar to qPH4 detected by Xu et al. (2004). QTL for tiller number qNT3.28 was located in the same chromosomal region as qNOT3.2 (Hemamalini et al. 2000). Two QTLs for dry root mass (*qDRM1.38* and *qDRM1.37*) co-localized with the two previously reported dry root mass QTLs in 38 Mb and 37 Mb region of chromosome 1, respectively (Shen et al. 2001; Nguyen et al. 2004). Dry shoot mass QTL (qDSM1.38) was located at the same chromosomal region to the previously reported qDTB1.1 (Vikram et al. 2011). Dry shoot mass QTL qDSM8.08 co-localized with shoot dry weight QTL reported by Nagata et al. (2002). QTLs for fresh root mass (*qFRM1.22b*) was congruent with the same chromosomal region as previously identified QTL FRW1c (Li et al. 2005). The localization of some of our QTLs with the previously reported QTLs showed the consistency and reliability of our mapping procedures.

#### **3.3.7.** Gene ontology analysis

Due to high saturation of SNP markers on the linkage map, numbers of genes in QTL confidence intervals were as low as nine genes for *qSL3.24* whereas there were 539 genes for *qFSM8.11*. The total numbers of genes identified in 14 QTLs under drought stress were 1052 with an average of 75 genes per QTL (Additional table 1, Available upon request). The listed candidate genes for each trait were classified for gene ontology groups (Table 3.9; Additional table 2, Available upon request). Among 49 genes for QTL controlling root length, there were 22 genes that were annotated for at least one gene ontology group. There were 10 significant gene ontology terms for the genes controlling root length. Seven gene ontology terms were specific to biological processes and 3 were specific to molecular function. The percentage of genes assigned to at-least one gene ontology term ranged from 45% for root length to 72% for fresh root mass. Among 1052 genes, 534 genes were assigned to at least one gene ontology terms. There were 199 gene ontology terms identified as biological processes, 142 as molecular function and 21 as cellular component.

#### **3.4.** Discussion

Drought is a major abiotic stress which reduces rice productivity in both uplands and rainfed lowlands. Understanding the genetics of drought tolerance is necessary to develop rice varieties that can maintain high yield in drought affected regions. The QTL mapping is a useful tool to identify the chromosomal regions and the genes associated with drought tolerance. The QTL analysis using linkage maps with limited number of markers results in large confidence interval of QTLs, which makes the mapping work less precise and inefficient. GBS is a low depth whole genome sequencing approach, which can be used to generate large number of SNPs between the
lines (Elshire et al. 2011). Using a high-density SNP linkage map facilitated by GBS, QTLs for drought responsive root and shoot traits were identified with narrow confidence intervals that led to identification of candidate genes in this study.

A clear understanding of the genetics of root system under drought stress is necessary to develop the plant ideotype with a better root system. There was a 22% increase in root length in the donor N-22 under drought stress compared to the control environment. Deep root is an important adaptive mechanism of drought tolerant cultivars because it helps the plants to extract water from deep layers of the soil during water stress (Champoux et al. 1995; Zheng et al. 2003; Uga et al. 2013). N-22 was superior to Cocodrie in respect of shoot length, fresh shoot mass, fresh root mass, number of tillers, dry shoot mass, dry root mass, and root-shoot ratio. The reduction in shoot length and shoot mass was greater in N-22 compared to Cocodrie under drought stress. However, the reduction in root mass was more for Cocodrie. The increase in root length, reduction in shoot length, and shoot mass are some of the adaptive features, which should be incorporated for developing drought tolerant rice cultivars (Kamoshita et al. 2002; Uga et al. 2013). Transgressive segregation was observed for all the traits in both directions suggesting contribution of alleles from both parents toward trait manifestation (Ali et al. 2000). High heritability values for all the traits in both the environmental conditions indicated less environmental influence on these traits.

Correlation studies showed that the root length and root biomass were positively correlated to shoot length and shoot biomass, which is in agreement with earlier report (Yadav et al. 1997). This increase in shoot length, shoot biomass, and root length under drought may be due to the increase in water and nutrient uptake capacity of the deeper root system (Yoshida and Hasegawa 1982; Champoux et al. 1995). Shoot length was negatively correlated to number of tillers which

Traits <sup>a</sup>		This study	Previous studies					
	QTL	Position of QTLs (bp)	QTL	Marker interval	Position of QTLs (bp)	References <sup>b</sup>		
SI	qSL1.37 qSL1.38	37089296-37273187 38023681-38286772	qDTH1.1	RM11493- RM431	37851779-38894388	1		
SL	qSL4.25 qSL4.29	25750452-27194959 29179250-29482850	qPH4	RM241-G102	26857374-30334896	2		
NT	qNT3.28	28513305-28809504	qNOT3-2	RZ448-RZ519	28789373-28812372	3		
DDM	qDRM1.38	38023681-38286772	TRDW1.1	RG727-RG109	38280484-38531467	4		
DKM	qDRM1.37	37376121-37561874	Total root weight QTL	RZ730-RZ801	34937981-40566030	5		
	qDSM1.38	38023681-38286772	qDTB1.1	RM315-RM431	36734135-38894388	1		
DSM	qDSM8.08	8971655-9136647	Shoot Dry weight QTL	xnpb38-xnpb104	8923052-8924004, 34470620-37713609	6		
FRM	qFRM1.22b	22796323-22958631	FRW1c	RM306-RM5	22796323-22958631	7		

Table 3.8. List of previously reported QTLs co-localized with the QTLs identified in this study

<sup>a</sup> SL: Shoot length, NT: Number of tillers, DRM: Dry root mass, DSM: Dry shoot mass, FRM: Fresh root mass
<sup>b</sup> 1: Vikram et al. 2011, 2: Xu et al. 2004, 3: Hemamalini et al. 2000, 4, Nguyen et al. 2004, 5: Shen et al. 2001, 6: Nagata et al. 2002, 7: Li et al. 2005

Total Number of Percentage of Number of significant gene ontology terms<sup>b</sup> Traits number of genes annotated Biological Molecular Cellular Total annotated genes<sup>a</sup> Process Function component genes Root Length 44.9 7 3 49 22 10 0 Shoot Length 27 18 152 69 45.4 2 47 Fresh root mass 65 47 72.3 32 14 48 2 47.7 52 Fresh shoot mass 539 257 61 9 122 Number of tillers 96 56 58.3 27 23 4 54 Dry root mass 108 57 52.8 32 22 58 4 13 Dry shoot mass 43 26 69.5 10 23 0 Total 1052 534 199 142 21 362

Table 3.9. Gene ontology (GO) analysis of QTL regions for each drought responsive trait

<sup>a</sup> Total number of genes assigned to at least one GO terms

<sup>b</sup> A significant gene ontology is declared when the p-value of the assigned GO is less than 0.001

could be due to plant's allocation of assimilates in increasing the number of tillers while reducing the plant height (Yoshida and Hasegawa 1982).

The average QTL interval in our study was 0.486 Mb. This narrow confidence interval, compared to previously identified QTLs, would be useful for marker assisted selection and pyramiding of the desired QTLs in high yielding varieties. In addition, QTLs with small confidence intervals can accelerate fine mapping and QTL cloning with less time and effort. Marker assisted pyramiding of drought tolerant QTLs have been done by several researchers (Shamsudin et al. 2016a, b) to incorporate drought tolerance in elite varieties. Grain yield QTL during drought was useful to increase yield under drought stress condition (Swamy et al. 2017). The congruence of drought tolerant QTL *DTY1.1* (Vikram et al. 2011) with the QTL (*qSL1.38*) identified in our study illustrated the importance of secondary agronomic traits in improving grain yield under drought stress conditions.

In this study, QTLs controlling several roots and shoot attributes at the vegetative stage of plant growth under drought stress were identified and compared with those identified under control condition. The root length QTLs under drought stress were different from those identified under irrigated condition. This may be due to the difference in expression of the genes for root length under stress and non-stress environments (Zhang WP et al. 2001). The increase in root length under drought stress may be due to cell wall loosening and expansion of the cell membrane (Zheng et al. 2003). There were 49 genes involved in the *qRL12.04* confidence interval. One of these genes, Brevis radix (BRX) was known to regulate cell proliferation and elongation in the root system in addition to its involvement in brassinosteroid (BR) pathway and in regulation of auxin-responsive genes (Rodrigues et al. 2009). The other two QTLs controlling

65

root length under non-stress environment were located on chromosomes 1 and 2 and contained 7 and 15 genes, respectively.

Adaptation to drought stress can be achieved by reducing shoot growth. This is evident by reduced plant height under drought stress compared to the control environment in both parents and the RIL population (Table 3.1). Five shoot length QTLs were detected under water stress conditions. The QTL qSL1.38 was adjacent to the sd1 locus (38.3 Mb) and contained 43 genes. A tight linkage between sd1 and drought yield QTL qDTY1.1 was earlier reported (Vikram et al. 2015). The Sdl locus was found to be associated with many underground and above ground traits in rice (Yadav et al. 1997). The qSL1.38, co-localized with qDSM1.38, explained the positive association between shoot mass and the shoot length. Presence of QTLs in the same genomic region for different traits is expected for highly correlated traits (Ali et al. 2000). The interacting QTLs had a very low contribution to phenotypic variation suggesting minor role of epistasis in controlling the shoot length under drought stress. Genes encoding Universal stress protein (LOC\_Os01g19820), Calvin cycle protein (LOC\_Os01g19740), and Pentatricopeptide protein (LOC\_Os01g19548, LOC\_Os01g65840) were present in these QTL regions. The Universal stress protein and Calvin cycle proteins were reported to improve drought tolerance in plants (Sinha et al. 2016; Kwasniewski et al. 2016) whereas the Pentatricopeptide protein was known to regulate the stomatal closure and prevent plants from dehydration (Jiang et al. 2015). The genomic region of the major QTL qSL4.06 harbored genes such as OsFBX121 - F-box domain containing protein, expressed (LOC\_Os04g11890), O-methyltransferase (LOC\_Os04g11970), and Glycosyltransferase (LOC\_Os04g12010), which were reported to improve abiotic stress tolerance in plants (Lam et al. 2007; Keppler and Showalter 2010; Yan et al. 2011). Drought tolerance in plants can be either due to metabolic regulation or osmoregulation. However, the

molecular mechanism of drought tolerance in rice via osmotic adjustment may be different from that of the avoidance mechanism obtained by developing a deep root system (Zhang J et al. 2001).

Root mass contributes to adaptation and growth of plants under drought stress. The QTL *qFRM1.36* controlling the fresh root mass in rice under drought condition contained 65 genes within its confidence interval. Two important candidate genes present in this QTL region were WRKY (LOC\_Os01g62510) and Laccase protein (LOC\_Os01g62480, LOC\_Os01g62490, LOC\_Os01g62600). WRKY gene family is involved in enhancing drought tolerance in rice by reducing cell death, water loss, and electrolyte leakage with increased proline content (Jiang et al. 2016). Laccase gene family, involved in catalytic activity, oxidoreductase, ligase, and hydrolase activity, is known for enhancing tolerance to copper stress in Arabidopsis (Liu et al. 2017).

The decrease in shoot mass during water stress may be one of the adaptive mechanisms in plants that help to accumulate metabolites in roots under water stress (Kamoshita et al. 2002). One QTL on chromosome 8 was identified to control fresh shoot mass under drought stress condition. However, QTLs for fresh shoot mass under irrigated condition was observed on chromosomes 1, 3, 5, and 10. Serine threonine protein kinase gene (LOC\_Os08g23290), present in this QTL region, was strongly induced under drought and extreme salinity conditions (Kulik et al. 2011).

The QTLs for number of tillers were mostly concentrated on chromosome 3. Coatomer subunit protein (LOC\_Os03g50340, LOC\_Os03g50350), heat shock protein (LOC\_Os03g61940), and cytochrome P450 (LOC\_Os03g061980) were some of the candidate genes present in these QTL regions. The Coatomer protein is involved in cellular process,

67

localization, and membrane related functions whereas heat shock protein and cytochrome P450 are responsible for the metabolic function and catalytic activity. Cytochrome P450 genes were reported to be drought responsive (Gorantla et al. 2007). Heat shock proteins, responsible for exhibiting universal tolerance to various abiotic stresses like heat, drought, salt, and cold, were expressed in root, stem, leaf, internode, and spikelet during drought stress (Wang et al. 2015)

Dry root mass indicates the amount of dry matter present in the root system, which can be used by the plants during stress condition. Three additive QTLs controlling dry root mass in rice under drought stress were identified by ICIM. The candidate genes present in this QTL region included Cytochrome P450 gene (LOC\_Os08g39694), G-patch domain (LOC\_Os08g39880), ENT domain (LOC\_Os08g39970), and Ty3-gypsy class protein (LOC\_Os08g39910). Dry root mass QTLs under well-irrigated conditions differed from those under stress conditions. They were located on chromosomes 2, 3, and 6. In our study, the *qDSM1.37* co-localized with fresh root mass QTL (*qFRM1.37*) under irrigated condition. Both *qDSM1.38* and *qDSM8.08* overlapped the same QTL regions reported in earlier studies (Vikram et al. 2011; Nagata et al. 2002). There was only one QTL *qRSR2.03* for root shoot ratio identified under during irrigated condition and its overlapping with the dry root mass QTL *qDRM2.03* was corroborated by a strong correlation between these traits. Li et al. (2005) identified a QTL for root shoot ratio in chromosome 6, which co-localized with the QTL for root shoot ratio *qRSR6.06* identified by interval mapping under non-stress environment.

#### **3.5.** Conclusions

The high-resolution mapping of QTLs in this study using a high-density SNP linkage map led to the selection of several candidate genes in the QTL regions, which may be involved in some adaptive mechanisms in both root and shoot system leading to enhanced drought tolerance. The consistent QTLs for drought related traits can be introgressed into adaptive high yielding varietal backgrounds to develop drought tolerant rice varieties. For more precise breeding effort, validation of the role of candidate genes in improving drought tolerance followed by the development gene-based markers should be undertaken.

# **3.6. References**

- Ali ML, Pathan MS, Zhang J, Bai G, Sarkarung S, Nguyen HT (2000) Mapping QTLs for root traits in a recombinant inbred population from two *indica* ecotypes in rice. Theor Appl Genet 101:756-766
- Basu S, Ramegowda V, Kumar A and Pereira A (2016) Plant adaptation to drought stress. version 1. F1000Res 5:F1000 Faculty Rev-1554 (doi: 10.12688/f1000research.7678.1)
- Blum A (2002) Drought tolerance-is it a complex trait? In: Saxena NP and O'Toole JC (ed) Field screening for drought tolerance in crop plants with emphasis on rice. Proceedings of an International workshop on field screening for drought tolerance in rice, December 2000, International Crop Research Institute for Semi-arid Tropics, Patancheru, India, pp 17-24
- Champoux MC, Wang G, Sarkarung S, Mackill DJ, OToole JC, Huang N, McCouch SR (1995) Locating genes associated with root morphology and drought avoidance in rice via linkage to molecular markers. Theor Appl Genet 90:969-981
- Comas LH, Becker SR, Cruz VM, Byrne PF, Dierig DA (2013) Root traits contributing to plant productivity under drought. Front Plant Sci 4:442
- Courtois B, Shen L. Petalcorin W, Carandang S, Mauleon R, Li Z (2003) Locating QTLs controlling constitutive root traits in the rice population IAC 165 x Co39. Euphytica 134:335-345
- De Leon TB, Linscombe S, Subudhi PK (2016) Molecular dissection of seedling salinity tolerance in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) using a high-density GBS-based SNP linkage map. Rice 9:52
- Dixit S, Singh A, Kumar A (2014) Rice breeding for high grain yield under drought: A strategic solution to a complex problem. Intl J Agron 2014:1-15
- Elshire RJ, Glaubitz JC, Poland JA, Kawamoto K, Buckler ES, Mitchell SE (2011) A robust, simple genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) approach for high diversity species. PLoS ONE 6:1-10

- Glaubitz JC, Casstevens TM, Lu F, Harriman J, Elshire RJ, Sun Q, Buckler ES (2014) TASSEL-GBS: A high capacity genotyping by sequencing analysis pipeline. PLoS ONE 9:1-11
- Gorantla M, Babu PR, Lachagari VBR, Reddy AMM, Wusirika R, Bennetzen JL, Reddy AR (2007) Identification of stress-responsive genes in an *indica* rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) using ESTs generated from drought-stressed seedlings. J Exp Bot 58:253-265
- Gowda M, Venu RC, Roopalakshmi K, Sreerekha MV, Kulkarni RS (2003) Advances in rice breeding, genetics, and genomics. Mol Breed 11:337-352
- Hemamalini GS, Shashidhar HE, Hittalmani S (2000) Molecular marker assisted tagging of morphological and physiological traits under two contrasting moisture regimes at peak vegetative stage in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Euphytica 112:69-78
- Hijmas RJ, Serraj R (2009) Modeling spatial and temporal variation of drought in rice production. In: Serraj R, Bennett J, Hardy B (ed) Drought frontiers in rice - crop improvement for improved rainfed production, World Scientific Publishing, Singapore and IRRI, Philippines, pp 19-31.
- Holland JB, Nyquist WE, Martinez CT (2003) Estimating and interpreting heritability for plant breeding: An update. Plant Breed Rev 22:9-112
- Jiang SC, Mei C, Liang S, Yu YT, Lu K, Wu Z, Wang XF, Zhang DP (2015) Crucial roles of the pentatricopeptide repeat protein SOAR1 in Arabidopsis response to drought, salt and cold stresses. Plant Mol Biol 99:369-385
- Jiang Y, Qiu Y, Hu Y, Yu D (2016) Heterologous expression of AtWRKY57 confers drought tolerance in *Oryza sativa*. Front Plant Sci 7:145
- Kamoshita A, Babu RC, Boopathi NM, Fukai S (2008) Phenotypic and genotypic analysis of drought-resistance traits for development of rice cultivars adapted to rainfed environments. Field Crops Res 109:1-23
- Kamoshita A, Wade LJ, Ali ML, Pathan MS, Zhang J, Sarkarung S, Nguyen HT (2002) Mapping QTLs for root morphology of a rice population adapted to rainfed lowland conditions. Theor Appl Genet 104:880-893
- Keppler BD, Showalter AM (2010) IRX14 and IRX14-LIKE, two glycosyl transferases involved in glucuronoxylan biosynthesis and drought tolerance in Arabidopsis. Mol Plant 5:834-841
- Kosambi DD (1944) The estimation of map distances from recombination values. Ann Eugen 12:172-175
- Kulik A, Wawer I, Krzywinska E, Bucholc M, Dobrowokska G (2011) SnRk2 protein kinaseskey regulators of plant responses to abiotic stresses. Omics 15:859-872

- Kwasniewski M, Golec AD, Janiak A, Chwialkhowska K, Nowakowska U, Sablok G, Szarejko I (2016) Transcriptome analysis reveals the role of the root hairs as environmental sensors to maintain plant functions under water-deficiency conditions. J Exp Bot 67:1079-1094
- Lam KC, Ibrahim RK, Behdad B, Dayanandan S (2007) Structure, function, and evolution of plant O-methyltransferases. Genome 50:1001-1013
- Langmead B, Salzberg S (2012) Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2. Nat Methods 9:357-359
- Li Z, Mu P, Li C, Zhang H, Li A, Gao Y, Wang X (2005) QTL mapping of root traits in a doubled haploid population from a cross between upland and lowland *japonica* rice in three environments. Theor Appl Genet 110:1244-1252
- Linscombe SD, Jodari F, Bollich PK, Groth DE, White LM, Chu QR, Dunand RT, Sanders DE (2000) Registration of 'Cocodrie' rice. Crop Sci 40:294
- Liu Q, Luo L, Wang X, Shen Z, Zheng L (2017) Comprehensive analysis of rice laccase gene (*OsLAC*) family and ectopic expression of *OsLAC10* enhances tolerance to copper stress in Arabidopsis. Intl J Mol Sci 18:209
- Meng L, Li H, Zhang L, Wang J (2015) QTL IciMapping: Integrated software for genetic linkage map construction and quantitative trait locus mapping in bi-parental populations. Crop J 33:269-283
- Murray MG, Thompson WF (1980) Rapid isolation of high molecular weight plant DNA. Nucl Acid Res 8:4321-4326
- Nagata K, Fukuta Y, Shimizu H, Yagi T, Terao T (2002) Quantitative trait loci for sink size and ripening traits in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Breeding Sci 52:259-273
- Nguyen TTT, Klueva N, Chamareck V, Aarti A, Magpantay G, Millena ACM, Pathan MS, Nguyen HT (2004) Saturation mapping of QTL regions and identification of putative candidate genes for drought tolerance in rice. Mol Gen Genomics 272:35-46
- Ooijen JW (1999) LOD significance thresholds for QTL analysis in experimental populations of diploid species. Heredity 83:613-624
- Palanog AD, Swamy BPM, Shamsudin NAA, Dixit S, Hernandez JE, Boromeo TH, Cruz PCS, Kumar A (2014) Grain yield QTLs with consistent-effect under reproductive-stage drought stress in rice. Field Crops Res 161:46-54
- Pandey S, Bhandari H (2009) Drought: economic costs and research implications. In: Serraj R, Bennett J, Hardy B (ed) Drought frontiers in rice - crop improvement for improved rainfed production. World Scientific Publishing, Singapore and IRRI, Philippines, pp 3-17

- Prince SJ, Beena R, Gomez SM, Senthivel S, Babu RC (2015) Mapping consistent rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) yield QTLs under drought stress in target rainfed environments. Rice 8:25
- Rodrigues A, Santiago J, Rubio S, Saez A, Osmont KS, Gadea J, Hardtke CS, Rodriguez P (2009) The short-rooted phenotype of the brevis radix mutant partly reflects root abscisic acid hypersensitivity. Plant Physiol 149:1917-1928
- Saikumar S, Gouda PK, Saiharini A, Varma CMK, Vineesha O, Padmavathi G, Shenoy VV (2014) Major QTL for enhancing rice grain yield under lowland reproductive drought stress identified using an *O. sativa/O. glaberrima* introgression line. Field Crops Res 163:119-131
- Sandhu N, Singh A, Dixit S, Cruz MTS, Maturan PC, Jain RK, Kumar A (2014) Identification and mapping of stable QTL with main and epistasis effect on rice grain yield under upland drought stress. BMC Genet 15:63
- SAS Institute Inc. (2011) Base SAS® 9.3 Procedures Guide. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- Shamsudin NAA, Swamy BPM, Ratnam W, Sta Cruz MT, Raman A, Kumar A (2016a) Markerassisted pyramiding of drought yield QTLs into a popular Malaysian rice cultivar, MR219. BMC Genet 17:30
- Shamsudin NAA, Swamy BPM, Ratnam W, Sta-Cruz MT, Sandhu N, Raman AK, Kumar A (2016b) Pyramiding of drought yield QTLs into a high-quality Malaysian rice cultivar MRQ74 improves yield under reproductive stage drought. Rice 9:21
- Shen L, Courtois B, McNally KL, Robin S, Li Z (2001) Evaluation of near-isogenic lines of rice introgressed with QTLs for root depth through marker-aided selection. Theor Appl Genet 103:75-83
- Sinha P, Pazhamala T, Singh VK, Saxena RK, Krishnamurthy L, Azam S, Khan AW, Varshney RK (2016) Identification and validation of selected universal stress protein domain containing drought-responsive genes in pigeonpea (*Cajanus cajan* L.). Front Plant Sci 6:1065
- Srividhya A, Vemireddy LR, Ramanarao PV, Sridhar S, Jayaprada M, Anuradha G, Srilakshmi B, Reddy HK, Hariprasad AS, Siddiq EA (2011) Molecular mapping of QTLs for drought related traits at seedling stage under PEG induced stress conditions in rice. Am J Plant Sci 2:190-201
- Swamy BPM, Kumar A (2013) Genomics-based precision breeding approaches to improve drought tolerance in rice. Biotech Adv 31:1308-1318
- Swamy BPM, Shamsudin NAA, Rahman SNA, Mauleon R, Ratnam W, Cruz MTS, Kumar A (2017) Association mapping of yield and yield-related traits under reproductive stage drought stress in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Rice 10:21

- Tian T, Liu Y, Yan H, You Q, Yi X, Du Z, Xu W, Su Z (2017) AgriGO v2.0: a GO analysis toolkit for the agricultural community, 2017 update. Nucl Acids Res gkx382. doi:10.1093/nar/gkx382
- Uga Y, Sugimoto K, Ogawa S, Tane J, Ishitani M, Hara N, Kitomi Y, Inukai Y, Ono K, Kanno N et al. (2013) Control of root system architecture by deeper rooting 1 increases rice yield under drought conditions. Nat Genet 45:1097-1102
- Venuprasad R, Bool ME, Quiatchon L, Cruz MTS, Amante M, Atlin GN (2012) A large-effect QTL for rice grain yield under upland drought stress on chromosome 1. Mol Breed 30:535-547
- Vikram P, Swamy BPM, Dixit S, Ahmed HU, Cruz MTS, Singh AK, Kumar A (2011) qDTY<sub>1.1</sub>, a major QTL for rice grain yield under reproductive-stage drought stress with a consistent effect in multiple elite genetic backgrounds. BMC Genet 12:89
- Vikram P, Swamy BPM, Dixit S, Singh R, Singh BP, Miro B, Kohli A, Henry A, Singh NK, Kumar A (2015) Drought susceptibility of modern rice varieties: an effect of linkage of drought tolerance with undesirable traits. Sci Rep 5:14799
- Wang A, Yu X, Mao Y, Liu Y, Liu G, Liu Y, Niu X (2015) Overexpression of a small heatshock-protein gene enhances tolerance to abiotic stresses in rice. Plant Breed 134:384-393
- Xu CG, Li XQ, Xue Y, Huang YW, Gao J, Xing YZ (2004) Comparison of quantitative trait loci controlling seedling characteristics at two seedling stages using rice recombinant inbred lines. Theor Appl Genet 109:640-647
- Yadav R, Courtois B, Huang N, McLaren G (1997) Mapping genes controlling root morphology and root distribution in a doubled-haploid population of rice. Theor Appl Genet 94:619-632
- Yan YS, Chen XY, Yang K, Sun ZX, Fu YP, Zhang YM, Fang RX (2011) Overexpression of an F-box protein gene reduces abiotic stress tolerance and promotes root growth in rice. Mol Plant 4:190-197
- Yoshida S, Hasegawa S (1985) The rice root system: its development and function. In: Drought resistance in crops with emphasis on rice. International Rice Research Institute, Philippines, pp 97-114
- Zhang J, Zheng HG, Aarti A, Pantuwan G, Nguyen TT, Tripathy JN, Sarial AK, Robin S, Babu RC, Nguyen BD, Sarkarung S, Blum A, Nguyen HT (2001) Locating genomic regions associated with components of drought resistance in rice: comparative mapping within and across species. Theor Appl Genet 103:19-29
- Zhang WP, Shen XY, Wu P, Hu B, Liao CY (2001) QTLs and epistasis for seminal root length under a different water supply in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Theor Appl Genet 103:118-123

Zheng BS, Yang L, Zhang WP, Mao CZ, Wu YR, Yi KK, Liu FY, Wu P (2003) Mapping QTLs and candidate genes for rice root traits under different water-supply conditions and comparative analysis across three populations. Theor Appl Genet 107:1505-1515

# Chapter 4. Genetic Analysis of Yield and Agronomic Traits Under Reproductive Stage Drought Stress in Rice Using a High-Resolution Linkage Map

#### 4.1. Introduction

Rice is an important food crop grown all around the world. Due to high water requirement, rice cultivation in the rainfed and water limiting environments is severely affected. Irrigated rice covers 55% of the rice-growing areas and produces 75% of the total production while the remaining is contributed by areas exposed to moisture stresses (CGIAR Science Council 2009). Since rice productivity in irrigated areas has stagnated, efforts should be made to increase rice production in the rainfed ecosystem. Exploitation of natural genetic variation to develop drought tolerant varieties and effective water management practices are some of the strategies to address this challenge.

Drought tolerance in rice is inherently complex involving multiple mechanisms. Phenotyping for drought tolerance should involve primary traits (plant height, root length, and number of tillers), secondary traits (plant water status, leaf rolling, and leaf death) and integrated traits (spikelet fertility, harvest index, and test weight) (Kamoshita et al. 2008). Identification of quantitative trait loci (QTLs) and genes controlling the root traits (Uga et al. 2013; Bhattarai and Subudhi 2018) and various other physiological traits (Zhang et al. 2001, Nguyen et al. 2004) has been done in the past. But due to poor correlation of these traits with yield, there has been little progress in improving rice productivity in drought prone areas. Yield improvement is dependent upon several yield component traits. Progress has been made in developing drought tolerant cultivars by direct selection for yield. However, due to low heritability of yield, it is difficult to make improvement in both yield and drought tolerance simultaneously (Palanog et al. 2014).

This chapter, previously published as: Bhattarai U, Subudhi P (2018) Genetic analysis of yield and agronomic traits under reproductive-stage drought stress in rice using a high-resolution linkage map. Gene 669:69-76, is reprinted here by the permission of Elsevier

Plant height, spikelet fertility, plant biomass, and harvest index are some associated traits that influence grain yield in rice (Prince et al. 2015). Therefore, QTLs for yield along with other highly heritable yield component traits would be an effective strategy to enhance yield under drought stress.

Efforts have been made to identify drought-tolerant donors and to develop suitable selection criteria for breeding drought-tolerant varieties (Kumar et al. 2014). Several QTLs for drought tolerance have been identified in the past (Bernier et al. 2007; Saikumar et al. 2014; Palanog et al. 2014; Dixit et al. 2014a, 2014b; Prince et al. 2015; Solis et al. 2018). Most of these QTL studies were based on direct selection for yield. QTLs for yield have been identified on chromosomes 1, 2, 3, 6, and 12. The qtl12.1 was the first yield QTL for drought tolerance at the reproductive stage (Bernier et al. 2007). This QTL has been used in marker-assisted breeding to develop a drought-tolerant version of 'Sabitri', a popular rice variety of Nepal (Dixit et al. 2017b). A large effect reproductive stage drought responsive QTL (qDTY1.1) has been identified on chromosome 1 (Ghimire et al. 2012; Venuprasad et al. 2012) with a consistent effect in various genetic backgrounds. A possible linkage between *qDTY1.1* and *sd1* affects the introgression of this yield enhancing QTL to elite varieties (Vikram et al. 2015). Besides this, the drought-tolerant QTLs on chromosome 2 (qDTY2.1, qDTY2.2, and qDTY2.3) for grain yield were also identified (Palanog et al. 2014). A reduction in flowering duration due to the interaction of *qDTY3.2* with two other QTLs *qDTY1.1* and *qDTY12.1* was observed. Drought tolerant rice varieties could be developed by marker-assisted breeding and QTL pyramiding of drought-tolerant QTLs. An interaction between two or more QTLs was reported to increase grain yield under drought stress (Swamy et al. 2013; Sandhu et al. 2018). Pyramiding drought tolerant QTLs (qDTY2.2, qDTY3.1, and qDTY12.1) in Malaysian rice variety showed increase in yield

(Shamsudin et al. 2016). Identification of stable large effect QTL across various environments and genetic backgrounds is needed to develop drought-tolerant rice varieties.

QTL based identification and cloning of genes has been helpful for rice improvement (Uga et al. 2013). A limited effort has been made in the past to study drought tolerance in USA rice varieties. In this study, we identified the drought-tolerant QTLs for yield and various yield attributing traits in rice at the reproductive stage drought stress using a recombinant inbred line (RIL) population involving a susceptible southern US rice variety 'Cocodrie'.

### 4.2. Materials and methods

### 4.2.1. Development of mapping population

The mapping population comprised of RILs derived from a cross between Cocodrie and N-22. Cocodrie is a high yielding rice variety developed by Louisiana State University Agricultural Center and is sensitive to drought (Linscombe et al. 2000). N-22 is a popular drought tolerant cultivar with low yield potential (Kumar et al. 2014). The F<sub>1</sub>s derived from a cross between Cocodrie and N-22 were selfed for six generations and the seeds were advanced by single seed descent method to generate F<sub>7</sub> RILs for drought phenotyping and genotyping.

### **4.2.2.** Phenotyping under drought stress

One hundred eighty-one RILs and two parents (Cocodrie and N-22) were phenotyped for drought tolerance. The experiment was conducted inside the greenhouse of Louisiana State University Agricultural Center during summer 2016. Plants were grown in 2-gallon plastic pots filled with silty clay soil. The pots were placed in a plastic covered concrete bench filled with water. Nutrient solution (0.2%) was prepared using Jack's Professional (20-20-20) (J.R. Peters, Inc.) and was applied every week for the first four weeks of plant growth. Slow release fertilizer 'Osmocote' (4 g) was applied in every pot after 35 d and 55 d of plant growth. Three plants were grown in each pot. There were three replications and the experiment was conducted in completely randomized design. Two replications were subjected to drought treatment and one set was used as control. The pots were transferred from the irrigated bench to the non-irrigated bench when the plants started to emerge panicle. The plants were left un-irrigated for one week. The degree of drought severity was assessed by observing >50% spikelet sterility in majority of the RILs and some irreversible damage in highly susceptible RILs. After one week, the plants were replaced in the bench filled with water. Irrigation was continued until the plants attained physiological maturity. The control bench was continuously irrigated until harvest. Measurements were taken on three plants from each pot in each replication for morphological and yield parameters. Days to flowering (DTF) was determined as the number of days for emergence of the panicle. Plant height (PH) was measured from the base of the culm to the tip of the plant. Leaf rolling score (LRS) was determined following the standard evaluation system (SES) of rice (IRRI, 2002). Dry matter content (DM) was measured as the ratio of dry plant mass to the fresh plant mass and was expressed in percentage. Grain yield per plant (GY) was measured averaging the gain yield from all drought treated plants in each replication. Yield index (YI) was calculated as the ratio of the plant yield at drought and control condition. Harvest index (HI) was calculated as the percentage ratio of grain yield to the biomass yield under drought stress. Root length, dry root mass, and root shoot ratio were measured under both stress and control environment in the same mapping population in an earlier experiment and the detailed protocol on phenotyping was described in Bhattarai and Subudhi (2018).

## 4. 2.3. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was carried out using SAS 9.3 (SAS Inc. 2011). Frequency distribution graphs were constructed using a pivot table in Microsoft Excel 2010. Mean, standard deviation,

78

and coefficient of variance were computed using PROC MEANS procedure. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was estimated using PROC MIXED procedure in SAS, considering the line as fixed effect and replication as random effect. Broad-sense heritability (based on family mean basis) was estimated in SAS using the SAS code (Holland et al. 2003). Pearson correlation coefficients were calculated using PROC CORR procedure. The previously generated data on root traits under both stress and non-stress environments in the same mapping population was used for determining correlation with four yield-related traits (spikelet fertility, grain yield under stress, yield index, and harvest index). Principal component analysis (PCA) was done to understand the relationship among the variables. PCA was done using JMP software (SAS Inc. 2013).

### 4. 2.4. Linkage mapping and QTL analysis

A total of 4748 SNPs previously generated by genotyping by sequencing (GBS) in Cocodrie x N-22 RILs were used for the construction of linkage map and QTL mapping (Bhattarai and Subudhi 2018). Linkage mapping and QTL analysis were performed using interval mapping (IM) and inclusive composite interval mapping (ICIM) software (Meng et al. 2015). The markers were placed on the linkage map based on the physical map of the reference genome Nipponbare. Kosambi mapping function was used to calculate the genetic distance between the markers (Kosambi 1944). Both additive and epistatic QTLs were identified. The additive QTLs having LOD scores greater than 2 were considered as significant and the epistatic QTLs with LOD scores greater than 4 were considered as significant. The nomenclature of QTLs was done following the procedure described earlier (Bhattarai and Subudhi 2018). For example, a QTL for days to flowering in chromosome 3 and 1Mb region is written as *qDTF3.01*. A positive additive

effect represented contribution of Cocodrie allele toward increased trait mean and a negative additive effect indicated N-22 allele responsible for increasing the trait mean.

### 4.2.5. Gene ontology and annotation

The QTL intervals were determined by the physical position of the SNP markers flanking the respective QTLs. All the genes present in each QTL interval was retrieved from the MSU rice genome annotation project database (http://rice.plantbiology.msu.edu/). Trait-wise gene ontology annotation was done using agriGo gene ontology analysis toolkit (Tian et al. 2017). Singular enrichment analysis (SEA) tool in agriGO was used to find the gene ontology term. The suggested locus ID from Gramene database (http://www.gramene.org/) was used as a background for the analysis. The significance of the GO terms was tested using the hypergeomatric statistical test method with a significance threshold of 0.05. The significant gene ontology terms for each trait were classified for biological process, molecular function, and cellular component.

## 4.2.6. Differential expression of the genes

The data on differentially expressed genes in N-22 under both stress and non-stress conditions were retrieved from Shankar et al. (2016) and the expression of candidate genes within the QTL flanking markers were analyzed. The expression details of genes within the important QTL regions (PVE > 7% or confidence interval < 100kb) were manually checked to determine the differentially expressed genes. The genes present within the QTL intervals and also significantly differentially expressed based on the transcriptome data (Shankar et al. 2016) were labeled as the candidate genes. The plant parts in which these candidate genes were expressed were identified using Affymetrix gene chip data (NCBI database: GSE24048, GSE 26280, GSE25176, GSE41647) available in Genevestigator (Hruz et al. 2008).

## 4.3. Results

## 4.3.1. Performance of parents and RILs under drought

The parents showed significant differences for all traits except for leaf rolling score and plant dry matter content (Table 4.1). N-22 showed early flowering (72 d) compared to Cocodrie (78 d). The spikelet fertility and grain yield for N-22 were higher (58% and 11.3 g/plant) than that of Cocodrie (34% and 2.9 g/plant), respectively. A higher yield index was observed for N-22 (0.30). A low harvest index was observed for both the parents; however, it was numerically higher in N-22 (18%) compared to that of Cocodrie (5%). A moderate coefficient of variation was observed for all traits except for harvest index (97%), indicating a wide variation among the RILs. The heritability was high for days to flowering and plant height. A moderate heritability was observed for all other traits except spikelet fertility which had a low heritability. The frequency distribution showed a nearly normal distribution for all traits (Figure 4.1). The RILs showed transgressive segregation on both sides. Analysis of variance showed significant differences among the RILs for all traits (Appendix Table C1).

Troit	Parents		RILs			
ITau	N-22	Cocodrie	Mean	SD <sup>a</sup>	$\mathrm{CV}^{\mathrm{b}}$	Heritability <sup>c</sup>
Days to flowering	72	$78^{**}$	76.3	5.4	24.5	0.95
Plant height (cm)	93.7	$77.7^{*}$	97.9	23.8	24.3	0.94
Leaf rolling score	4.0	5.0 <sup>ns</sup>	5.3	1.6	29.9	0.72
Plant dry matter content (%)	49.4	50.2 <sup>ns</sup>	40.2	13.0	32.5	0.66
Spikelet fertility (%)	57.9	$33.9^{*}$	39.3	25.5	64.8	0.36
Grain yield under stress	11.3	2 9*	8 1	54	66 5	0.62
(g/plant)	11.5	2.9	0.1	Э.т	00.5	0.02
Yield index	0.3	$0.1^{*}$	0.4	0.3	65.3	0.63
Harvest index (%)	17.7	5.3*	13.6	13.2	97.3	0.78

Table 4.1. Various statistical parameters for yield and yield-related traits under r	eproductive
stage drought stress in Cocodrie $\times$ N-22 RIL population	

<sup>\*,\*\*</sup>Difference between the mean value of Cocodrie and N-22 significant at 5% and 1% level of probability, respectively; <sup>ns</sup>Non-significant

<sup>a</sup>Standard deviation

<sup>b</sup>Coefficient of variation (%)

<sup>c</sup>Heritability (broad sense)

## **4.3.2.** Trait associations

Most of the traits showed significant correlations with each other except plant dry matter content (Table 4.2). Plant dry matter content was significantly and negatively correlated only to plant height and yield. Days to flowering, plant height, and leaf rolling score were negatively correlated to spikelet fertility, grain yield, yield index, and harvest index. The grain yield was highly correlated to spikelet fertility, yield index, and harvest index. Leaf rolling score was negatively and significantly correlated with grain yield, spikelet fertility, yield index, and harvest index. No significant correlations were observed between root parameters and yield under drought stress (Appendix Table C2.). However, a negative and significant correlation was observed between root length and spikelet fertility under control condition.



Figure 4.1. Frequency distribution for various yield and yield related traits in Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population under reproductive stage drought stress. The traits include days to flowering, plant height, plant dry matter content, spikelet fertility, grain yield under stress, yield index, and harvest index. The parental and RIL mean are represented by arrows pointing downwards. C, N, and R indicate Cocodrie, N-22, and RIL means, respectively.

Trait <sup>\$</sup>	DTF	PH	LRS	DM	SF	GY	YI	HI
DTF	1	$0.24^{**}$	0.21**	0.06 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.17*	-0.23**	-0.20*	-0.17*
PH		1	$0.47^{**}$	-0.16*	-0.31**	-0.09 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.11 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.27**
LRS			1	-0.05 <sup>ns</sup>	-0.43**	-0.24**	-0.29**	-0.29**
DM				1	0.07 <sup>ns</sup>	$-0.18^{*}$	-0.09 <sup>ns</sup>	0.02 <sup>ns</sup>
SF					1	$0.50^{**}$	$0.43^{**}$	$0.44^{**}$
GY						1	$0.67^{**}$	$0.73^{**}$
YI							1	$0.56^{**}$
HI								1

Table 4.2. Correlation coefficients among various yield and yield-related traits under reproductive stage drought stress in Cocodrie  $\times$  N-22 RIL population

<sup>\$</sup>DTF, Days to Flowering; PH, Plant height (cm); LRS, Leaf rolling score; DM, Plant dry matter content (%); SF, Spikelet fertility (%); GY, Grain yield under stress (g); YI, Yield index; HI, Harvest index (%) <sup>\*,\*\*</sup>Significant correlation at 5% and 1% level of probability, respectively <sup>ns</sup>Non significant

### 4.3.3. Principal component analysis

The principal component analysis, conducted for all the traits, projected three important principal components (Appendix Table C3.). The first and the second principal components explained 39% and 17% of the total variation. The three principal components explained a cumulative of 69% of the total variation. The first principal component was associated with yield-related traits such as spikelet fertility, yield under drought stress, yield index, and harvest index (Appendix Table C4., Figure 4.2). The second principal component accounted for shoot related traits like plant height, leaf rolling score, and plant dry matter content. The third principal component was related to days to flowering. There were three component traits in our study that included yield component, shoot component, and days to flowering.

## 4.3.4. QTL analysis

QTL analysis was based on 4748 GBS-based SNP markers (Bhattarai and Subudhi 2018). Interval mapping (IM) and Inclusive composite interval mapping (ICIM) detected 31 and 21 QTLs for eight traits, respectively (Table 4.3, Appendix Table C5.). The phenotypic variance explained by these QTLs ranged from 2.4-47.4% and 2.8-24.7% in ICIM and IM analyses,



Figure 4.2. Principal component (PC) analysis of eight yield and yield related traits in rice. Each trait is indicated by one projected arrow. The lines indicate the direction and magnitude of the variable's contribution to the principal component. The principal components are shown in the axis and the variance contributed by each principal component is indicated inside the parentheses: (a) component analysis between PC1 and PC2, (b) component analysis between PC2 and PC3, and (c) component analysis between PC1 and PC3.

respectively. Although ICIM detected QTLs on eight different rice chromosomes, majority of them (8) were located on chromosome 1 (Figure 4.3). Inclusive composite interval mapping detected two QTLs (*qDTF3.01* and *qDTF11.08*) for days to flowering with phenotypic variances of 13% and 7%, respectively. The favorable alleles for both QTLs came from Cocodrie. Interval mapping detected eight QTLs for days to flowering. Both ICIM and IM detected *qDTF3.01*. Interval mapping detected five QTLs controlling days to flowering on chromosome 3. Five plant height QTLs were detected by both ICIM and IM method. The QTLs for plant height were clustered on chromosome 1. *qPH1.38* was a major effect QTL with a LOD score of 35 and a phenotypic variance of 47%. The favorable allele for this QTL was contributed by N-22. The other QTLs detected for plant height under stress were on chromosomes 3, 5, and 9.

Traits <sup>a</sup>	QTL <sup>b</sup>	Chr <sup>c</sup>	Genetic	Physical	Left Marker	Right Marker	LOD <sup>d</sup>	PVE	Additive	Favorable
			Pos. (cM)	Pos. (Mb)				(%) <sup>e</sup>	effect	parental allele
DTF	qDTF3.01	3	5	1.11-1.50	S3_1110340	S3_1497144	4.40	12.5	1.60	Cocodrie
	<i>qDTF11.08</i>	11	44	8.95-9.00	S11_8950871	S11_9004531	2.51	6.9	1.20	Cocodrie
PH	qPH1.07	1	39	7.06-7.08	S1_7055941	S1_7080781	2.72	2.4	3.64	Cocodrie
	<i>qPH1.38</i>	1	193	38.29-38.61	S1_38286772	S1_38611845	34.77	47.4	-16.31	N-22
	qPH3.32	3	207	32.85-33.29	S3_32853301	S3_33287194	2.75	2.5	-3.73	N-22
	qPH5.24	5	98	24.89-25.27	S5_24888719	S5_25271367	4.17	3.8	-4.60	N-22
	qPH9.14	9	57	14.85-15.32	S9_14854433	\$9_15323072	4.50	4.5	5.02	Cocodrie
LRS	qLRS1.37	1	186	37.27-37.37	S1_37273187	S1_37368297	8.70	18.1	-0.57	N-22
	qLRS7.07	7	43	7.18-8.03	S7_7182433	S7_8031540	3.48	6.6	0.35	Cocodrie
	qLRS12.17	12	67	17.79-19.26	S12_17786116	S12_19257062	3.08	6.2	-0.33	N-22
DM	qDM1.07	1	39	7.06-7.08	S1_7055941	S1_7080781	2.53	5.3	2.65	Cocodrie
	qDM3.33	3	207	33.00-33.07	S3_33000563	\$3_33074353	2.97	6.7	3.00	Cocodrie
SF	qSF1.38	1	193	38.29-38.61	S1_38286772	S1_38611845	3.70	7.7	-5.35	N-22
	qSF6.23	6	98	23.93-24.29	S6_23928806	S6_24288517	2.17	4.1	3.87	Cocodrie
	qSF7.0.4	7	0	0.43-0.55	S7_425945	\$7_553805	3.92	7.8	-5.39	N-22
	qSF11.19	11	71	19.37-19.70	S11_19374580	S11_19696359	2.79	5.8	4.67	Cocodrie
GY	qGY1.42	1	241	42.93-42.97	S1_42928362	S1_42966746	2.10	6.1	-1.03	N-22
YI	qYI1.42	1	242	42.98-43.07	S1_42981696	S1_43065133	2.24	5.0	-0.06	N-22
	qYI12.03	12	29	39.37-40.53	S12_3937337	S12_4053360	2.36	5.3	-0.06	N-22
HI	qHI1.37	1	188	37.56-37.74	S1_37561874	S1_37740707	3.59	7.0	3.63	Cocodrie
	qHI6.25	6	114	25.15-25.72	S6_25146090	S6_25717883	2.02	3.7	2.65	Cocodrie

Table 4.3. List of additive QTLs for yield and yield-related traits identified using ICIM in Cocodrie  $\times$  N-22 RIL population under reproductive stage drought stress

<sup>a</sup>DTF, Days to Flowering; PH, Plant height (cm); LRS, Leaf rolling score; DM, Plant dry matter content (%); SF, Spikelet fertility (%); GY, Grain yield under stress (g); YI, Yield index; HI, Harvest index (%)

<sup>b</sup>The name of the QTL. 'q' followed by the abbreviation of the trait, followed by the chromosome number, one decimal place and the physical location of the QTL in mega base pair <sup>c</sup>Chromosome number in which the QTL is present. <sup>d</sup>Logarithm of odds value for the individual QTL <sup>e</sup>Phenotypic variance explained by the QTL expressed in percentage



Figure 4.3. Genetic map showing the positions of QTLs for eight yield and yield related traits in Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population. The QTLs for these traits under reproductive stage drought stress were identified by ICIM. The QTLs represented by star and square indicated that the alleles for these QTLs are contributed by Cocodrie and N-22, respectively. The saturation of the markers in the linkage map is indicated by the dark lines. The vertical line on the left show the scale for genetic length of chromosomes.

Inclusive composite interval mapping discovered three QTLs for leaf rolling score

(qLRS1.37, qLRS7.07, and qLRS12.17). Both ICIM and IM detected qLRS1.37 and qLRS7.07.

The qLRS1.37 accounted for 18% of the phenotypic variance and the increasing mean effect for

this QTL came from N-22 allele. The phenotypic variances contributed by qLRS7.07 and

qLRS12.17 were 7% and 6%, respectively. Two QTLs for plant dry matter content (qDM1.07

and qDM3.33) were detected by ICIM; the alleles for increasing mean effect in both these QTLs

were contributed by Cocodrie. The QTLs, qDM1.07 and qDM3.33, overlapped with the plant

height QTLs qPH1.07 and qPH1.32, respectively.

Four QTLs controlling the spikelet fertility were identified by ICIM procedure. Both IM and ICIM detected *qSF1.38* and *qSF7.04*. The *qSF1.38* overlapped with the plant height QTL and explained 8% of the phenotypic variance. There were two other spikelet fertility QTLs detected by interval mapping at 39 Mb and 40 Mb positions on chromosome 1.

Both the mapping procedures discovered one QTL controlling the grain yield under stress. The grain yield QTL, *qGY1.42* was at 42 Mb position on chromosome 1. It contributed only 6% of the phenotypic variance and the mean increasing effect in this QTL was due to the N-22 allele. Two QTLs for yield index (*qY11.42* and *qY112.03*) were mapped by both IM and ICIM; the alleles for increasing mean effect for both QTLs came from N-22. Each QTL explained 5% of the phenotypic variance. ICIM and IM identified two (*qH11.37* and *qH16.25*) and three (*qH11.37*, *qH11.42* and *qH13.24*) QTLs for harvest index, respectively. *qY11.37* accounted for 7% of the phenotypic variance. The increasing mean effects for both *qH11.37* and *qH16.25* were due to Cocodrie alleles.

Nine epistatic QTLs with LOD values greater than 4.0 were identified for six traits by ICIM procedure (Appendix Table C6, Appendix Figure C1). Among these QTLs, two were intrachromosomal epistatic QTLs. These two intra-chromosomal QTLs were discovered on chromosomes 3 and 4; and were responsible for controlling plant height and plant dry matter content, respectively. Another epistatic QTL combination was for spikelet fertility on chromosomes 4 and 8. Three grain yield epistatic QTLs were found to be interacting in chromosomes 2, 3, 4, and 8. One epistatic QTL each for yield index and harvest index was observed. The epistatic QTLs did not overlap with any of the additive QTLs detected.

### 4.3.5. Gene annotation and ontology study

A total of 989 genes were located within 21 QTL regions identified in this study (Additional table 4.3, Available upon request). The average number of genes per QTL was 45 (Table 4.4). Leaf rolling score had 357 genes within 3 QTL regions. However, the grain yield QTL harbored only four genes. Among all identified genes, 44% were annotated with agriGO. Gene ontology (GO) study revealed 463 GO terms for all eight traits. One hundred twenty-seven GO terms each were identified for plant height and leaf rolling score. Two GO terms were identified for one annotated gene present in grain yield QTL. The number of significant GO terms was quite small with only 64 being significant at the threshold value of 0.05. All significant GO terms for all traits were listed in Appendix Table C7. There were 30 significant GO terms for days to flowering. Most of these GO terms were categorized as biological processes and were responsible for the regulation of metabolic processes. The genes for two yield-related traits, spikelet fertility and harvest index, contained 15 and 3 significant GO terms, respectively. The GO terms for these traits included regulation of various biological pathways and enzyme activities.

## 4.3.6. Differential expression of genes within the QTL regions

There were 8 significantly up-regulated genes and 2 significantly down-regulated genes (p < 0.05) in 6 important QTL regions under drought stress (Table 4.5). The gene regulating fatty acid hydroxylase ( $LOC\_Os03g03370$ ) was up-regulated and may be responsible for days to flowering. The large effect QTL *qPH1.38*, and *qSF1.38* contained two genes (mitochondrion protein, and no apical meristem protein) that were differentially expressed under drought stress. Four genes were differentially expressed for the QTLs controlling leaf rolling score. MYB family transcription factor and no apical meristem protein were the notable up-regulated genes in

these QTL regions. The *qSF7.0.4* controlling the spikelet fertility had one major up-regulated potassium channel protein gene. Two genes (*LOC\_Os01g64920* and *LOC\_Os0164960*) in harvest index QTL (*qHI1.37*) were down-regulated during drought stress. These genes were responsible for nuclear matrix protein 1 and chlorophyll A-B binding protein, respectively.

The above ten differentially expressed genes were expressed in five different parts of the rice plant. *LOC\_Os01g64350* was highly expressed in panicle. *LOC\_Os01g64960*,

*LOC\_Os01g66120*, *LOC\_Os07g01810*, and *LOC\_Os03g03370* were expressed in the shoot parts i.e. seedling, flag leaf, and leaf, whereas *LOC\_Os01g66120*, and *LOC\_Os01g64960* were highly expressed in roots under drought stress (Appendix Figure C2).

## 4.4. Discussion

Drought is a major issue in rainfed and upland rice producing ecosystem around the world. Yield reduction is pronounced in areas experiencing drought stress (Palanog et al. 2014; Shamsudin et al. 2016). Using a dense linkage map, drought responsive QTLs were identified in narrow confidence intervals followed by identification of candidate genes within the QTL regions. This helped to narrow down the number of drought responsive genes. Although the yield potential of Cocodrie was much higher in well-watered condition compared to N-22, it showed significantly lower yield under drought stress. Yield index showed the potential of plants to produce grains under moisture stress compared to control condition. A higher yield index indicates better performance under stress condition. N-22 showed a higher yield index suggesting its better performance under drought compared to Cocodrie. High heritabilities for days to flowering and plant height indicated that these traits were least influenced by environmental conditions. However, higher environmental influence was observed for spikelet

Number of	Number of	Number of	Number of	% of genes	Number of	Number of	% of
QTLs <sup>b</sup>	genes <sup>c</sup>	genes/QTL	annotated	annotated	GO terms	significant GO	significant GO
			genes <sup>d</sup>			terms <sup>e</sup>	terms
2	58	29	28	48.2	56	30	53.6
5	238	47.6	120	50.4	127	9	7.1
3	357	119	143	40.0	127	7	5.5
2	17	8.5	12	70.6	3	0	0
5	173	34.6	64	37.0	90	15	16.7
1	4	4	1	25	2	0	0
2	29	14.5	13	44.8	12	0	0
2	113	56.5	49	43.4	46	3	6.5
22	989	45	430	43.5	463	64	13.82
-	Number of QTLs <sup>b</sup> 2 5 3 2 5 1 2 2 2 2 22	Number of $QTLs^b$ Number of genesc25852383357217517314229211322989	Number of QTLsbNumber of genescNumber of genes/QTL2 $58$ $29$ 5 $238$ $47.6$ 3 $357$ $119$ 2 $17$ $8.5$ 5 $173$ $34.6$ 1 $4$ $4$ 2 $29$ $14.5$ 2 $113$ $56.5$ 22 $989$ $45$	Number of QTLsbNumber of genescNumber of genes/QTLNumber of annotated genesd2582928523847.612033571191432178.512517334.664144122914.513211356.5492298945430	Number of QTLsbNumber of genescNumber of geneslNumber of annotated genesl% of genes annotated 	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

Table 4.4. Gene ontology (GO) analysis of the genes present in QTL interval for each trait

<sup>a</sup>DTF, Days to Flowering; PH, Plant height (cm); LRS, Leaf rolling score; DM, Plant dry matter content (%); SF, Spikelet fertility (%); GY, Grain yield under stress (g); YI, Yield index; HI, Harvest index (%)

<sup>b</sup>Total number of QTLs identified for each trait

°Total number of genes present within all the QTL region identified for the specific trait

<sup>d</sup>Number of genes which are assigned at-least one gene ontology terms

<sup>e</sup>GO terms with the p-value less than 0.05

Trait	QTL	Differentially expressed gene	Regulation <sup>a</sup>	Gene function
Days to flowering	qDTF3.01	LOC_Os03g03370	Up	Fatty acid hydroxylase
Plant	aDU1 20	LOC_Os01g66120	Up	No apical meristem protein
height	<i>qPH1.38</i>	LOC_Os01g66240	Up	Mitochondrion protein
Leaf rolling score	qLRS1.37	LOC_Os01g64310	Up	No apical meristem protein
		LOC_Os01g64340	Up	Expressed protein
		LOC_Os01g64350	Up	Expressed protein
		LOC_Os01g64360	Up	MYB family
Spikelet fertility	aSE1 20	LOC_Os01g66120	Up	No apical meristem protein
	<i>qsr1.3</i> 0	LOC_Os01g66240	Up	Mitochondrion protein
	qSF7.0.4	LOC_Os07g01810	Up	Potassium channel protein
Harvest	qHI1.37	LOC_Os01g64920	Down	Nuclear matrix protein 1
index		LOC_Os01g64960	Down	Chlorophyll A-B binding protein

Table 4.5. List of differentially expressed genes present within the identified important drought responsive QTL regions in N-22

<sup>a</sup>UP: up-regulation of genes, Down: down-regulation of genes

fertility. A moderate to low heritability for yield was observed in the present study which agrees in earlier studies (Palanog et al. 2014, Solis et al. 2018).

Correlations among the traits help to select the secondary traits for use in crop improvement. The negative correlation of plant shoot traits with yield-related traits suggested that the early flowering and dwarf plants may increase yield (Khowaja et al. 2009; Dixit et al. 2014; Palanog et al. 2014). A high correlation of grain yield with spikelet fertility, harvest index, and yield index under drought stress showed that these integrated traits can be used to improve grain yield in rice (Prince et al. 2015). Similarly, leaf rolling score could also be used as an early selection criterion to increase yield in plant breeding programs. Yield was not affected by length and mass of the root which was evident from the correlation between root traits and the yield traits under water stress. The increase in root length and root mass during water stress increased the plant's tolerance to drought (Bhattarai and Subudhi 2018). However, this increase might not always be responsible for increase in yield (Khowaja et al. 2009).

In this study, drought responsive QTLs were identified on all chromosomes except chromosomes 2, 4, and 8. The region on chromosome 1 (37.2- 38.6 Mb) was identified as QTL hotspot with four QTLs within 1.4Mb region. This region harbored many QTLs with a large impact on grain yield and plant height (Dixit et al. 2014). We identified 2 QTLs for days to flowering on chromosomes 3 and 11. *qDTF3.01* co-localized with the grain yield QTL *qDTY3.2* (Vikram et al. 2016) and the flowering locus *Hd9* (Lin et al. 2002). This observation indicated that the increase in yield under drought stress may be due to early flowering nature of the plant which helped them to escape the drought stress. This locus was not only responsible for increasing grain yield under drought stress but was also responsible for maintaining cooler canopy temperature which might contribute towards increasing the grain yield (Saikumar et al. 2014).

A reduction in plant height under drought stress was observed in rice (Saikumar et al. 2014). Two QTLs for plant height (*qPH1.07* and *qPH1.38*) on chromosome 1 co-localized with the QTLs for plant dry matter content and spikelet fertility. The major effect QTL *qPH1.38* colocalized with the previously identified large effect yield QTL *qDTY1.1* (Vikram et al. 2011, Venuprasad et al. 2012). Although this QTL was tightly linked to *sd1* locus, it was not responsible for increasing yield under drought stress (Khowaja et al. 2009; Vikram et al 2015). Our QTL mapping approach using a saturated genetic map followed by scanning of the differentially expressed genes in the *qPH1.38* region helped us to exclude the involvement of *sd1* in imparting drought tolerance (Vikram et al. 2015). Based on the gene expression data of N-22 under drought stress, two genes, no apical meristem protein (*NAC*) (*LOC\_Os01g66120*), mitochondrion protein ( $LOC\_Os01g66240$ ) were identified as possible candidates for future investigation (Table 4.5). The gene encoding NAC protein was highly expressed during drought and salinity (Dixit et al. 2014; Hu et al. 2015; Swamy et al. 2017). Another QTL *qPH9.14* colocalized with the grain yield QTL *qDTY9.1*, which was expressed under both moderate and severe drought stress (Swamy et al. 2013) and was reported to control the spikelet fertility under drought (Yue et al. 2005). The QTLs identified for both shoots and panicle traits indicated that the same set of genes can be expressed in different parts of the plant and could affect different traits.

Leaf rolling score was a good early indicator of plants' tolerance to drought. It was possible that the same QTLs may be expressed to govern both shoot traits and yield (Prince et al. 2015). Therefore, selection for yield during the drought condition could be made by observing the leaf rolling in rice. We detected a QTL that controlled both leaf rolling score (qLRS1.37) and harvest index (qHI1.37). This region (37.2- 37.3Mb) was identified downstream of the *sd1* locus (38.3Mb). The QTL hotspot for grain yield and many other agronomic traits was previously identified (Venuprasad et al. 2012; Kumar et al. 2014). The QTL for leaf rolling score (qLRS12.17) was the same QTL that was previously identified as a large-effect QTL for grain yield (qtl12.1) under drought stress (Bernier et al. 2007). This QTL was responsible for increasing the plant water uptake by 7% under water-limited condition (Bernier et al. 2009). It had been incorporated into a popular rice variety 'Sabitri' from Nepal to improve its drought tolerance (Dixit et al. 2017b).

Increase in grain yield is one of the major objectives of any plant breeding program. In this study, QTLs for spikelet fertility, grain yield, yield index, and harvest index were identified. The QTL for spikelet fertility *qSF1.38* co-localized with the previously identified grain yield QTL

*qDTY1.1* (Vikram et al. 2015). Co-localization of QTLs was earlier reported (Prince et al. 2015). Three new QTLs on chromosomes 6, 7, and 11 were identified for spikelet fertility. One novel QTL affecting the grain yield under drought stress was identified at 42 Mb position on chromosome 1. This QTL was also responsible for yield index. The QTL spread within 38 Kb genomic region and harbored only 5 genes. A new QTL for yield index was located upstream of *DTY12.1* on chromosome 12. There were two QTLs for harvest index in this study. The *qH11.37* was present upstream of *sd1* locus and another QTL *qH16.25* co-localized with an earlier identified QTL *qDTY6.1* (Dixit et al. 2014). This QTL pyramided with *SUB1* provided tolerance to both drought and submergence in rice (Dixit et al. 2017a). Therefore, the QTLs identified in this study offer opportunity to develop new drought-tolerant varieties using marker-assisted breeding and QTL pyramiding.

Both pleiotropic and epistatic interactions were involved in governing drought tolerance in rice (Solis et al. 2018). Root related QTLs identified in previous mapping experiment using the same mapping population (Bhattarai and Subudhi 2018) did not co-localize with the yield QTLs in this study. The absence of correlation between root traits and yield components was in agreement with the observation of Khowaja et al. (2009). However, there were reports regarding involvement of drought tolerant QTLs in improving yield which might be due to increased water uptake and root characteristics (Bernier et al. 2009; Catolos et al. 2017). The contrasting results may be due to the difference in genetic backgrounds and the environments.

#### 4.5. Conclusions

The success of any QTL mapping lies in identifying large effect and stable QTLs in a narrow confidence interval. Using a high-density SNP map, three major QTLs (*qDTF3.1, qPH1.38* and *qLRS1.37*) were identified. Majority of drought tolerant QTLs were identified on chromosome 1.

Identification of the differentially expressed genes within the QTL region helped to reduce the number of candidate genes associated with drought tolerance. Ten differentially expressed genes in 6 QTL regions were identified as potential candidate genes for validation in future before incorporating them into breeding program to develop drought tolerant rice cultivars.

# 4.6. References

- Bernier J, Kumar A, Ramaiah V, Spaner D, Altin G (2007) A large-effect QTL for grain yield under reproductive-stage drought stress in upland rice. Crop Sci 47:507-518
- Bernier J, Serraj R, Kumar A, Venuprasad R, Impa, S, Gowda RPV, Oane R, Spaner D, Altin G (2009) The large-effect drought resistance QTL *qtl12.1* increases water uptake in upland rice. Field Crops Res 110:139-146
- Bhattarai U, Subudhi PK (2018) Identification of drought responsive QTLs during vegetative growth stage of rice using a saturated GBS-based SNP linkage map. Euphytica 214:38
- Catolos M, Sandhu N, Dixit S, Shamsudin NAA, Naredo MEB, McNally KL, Henry A, Diaz MG, Kumar A (2017) Genetic loci governing grain yield and root development under variable rice cultivation conditions. Front Plant Sci 8:1763
- CGIAR Science Council (2009) Report of the seventh external program and management review of the International Rice Research Institute (IRRI). Rome, Italy: Science Council Secretariat
- Dixit S, Huang BE, Cruz MTS, Maturan PT, Ontoy JCE, Kumar A (2014a) QTLs for tolerance of drought and breeding for tolerance of abiotic and biotic stress: An integrated approach. PLoS ONE 9:e109574.
- Dixit S, Singh A, Cruz MTS, Maturan PT, Amante M, Kumar A (2014b) Multiple major QTL lead to stable yield performance of rice cultivars across varying drought intensities. BMC Genet 15:16.
- Dixit S, Singh A, Sandhu N, Bhandari A, Vikram P, Kumar A (2017a) Combining drought and submergence tolerance in rice: marker-assisted breeding and QTL combination effects. Mol Bred 37:43
- Dixit S, Yadaw RB, Mishra KK, Kumar A (2017b) Marker-assisted breeding to develop the drought tolerant version of Sabitri, a popular variety from Nepal. Euphytica 213:184
- Ghimire KH, Quiatchon LA, Vikram P, Swamy BPM, Dixit S, Ahmed H, Hernandez JE, Borromeo TH, Kumar A (2012) Identification and mapping of a QTL (*qDTY1.1*) with a consistent effect on grain yield under drought. Field Crops Res 131:88-96

- Holland JB, Nyquist WE, Martinez CT (2003) Estimating and interpreting heritability for plant breeding: An update. Plant Breed Rev 22:9-112
- Hu W, Wei Y, Xia Z, Yan Y, Xiaowan H, Zou M, Lu C, Wang W, Peng M (2015) Genome-wide identification and expression analysis of the NAC transcription factor family in cassava. PLoS ONE10:e0136993
- Hruz T, Laule O, Szabo G, Wessendorp F, Bleuler S, Oertle L, Widmayer P, Gruissem W, Zimmermann P (2008) Genevestigator V3: a reference expression database for the metaanalysis of transcriptomes. Adv Bioinform 420747. http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2008/420747.
- International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) (2002) Standard evaluation system for rice (SES). Philippines
- Kamoshita A, Babu RC, Boopathi NM, Fukai S (2008) Phenotypic and genotypic analysis of drought-resistance traits for development of rice cultivars adapted to rainfed environments. Field Crops Res 109:1-23
- Khowaja FS, Norton GJ, Courtois B, Price AH (2009) Improved resolution in the position of drought-related QTLs in a single mapping population of rice by meta-analysis. BMC Genomics 10:276
- Kosambi DD (1944) The estimation of map distances from recombination values. Ann. Eugen. 12:172-175
- Kumar A, Dixit S, Ram T, Yadaw RB, Mishra KK, Mandal NP (2014) Breeding high-yielding drought-tolerant rice: genetic variations and conventional and molecular approaches. J Exp Bot 65:6265-6278
- Lin H, Ashikari M, Yamanouchi U, Sasaki T, Yano M (2002) Identification and characterization of a quantitative trait locus *Hd9* controlling flowering date in rice. Breed Sci 52:35-41
- Linscombe SD, Jodari F, Bollich PK, Groth DE, White LM, Chu QR, Dunand RT, Sanders DE (2000) Registration of 'Cocodrie' rice. Crop Sci 40:294
- Meng L, Li H, Zhang L, Wang J (2015) QTL IciMapping: Integrated software for genetic linkage map construction and quantitative trait locus mapping in bi-parental populations. Crop J 33:269-283
- Nguyen TTT, Klueva N, Chamareck V, Aarti A, Magpantay G, Millena ACM, Pathan MS, Nguyen HT (2004) Saturation mapping of QTL regions and identification of putative candidate genes for drought tolerance in rice. Mol Gen Genomics 272:35-46
- Palanog AD, Swamy BPM, Shamsudin NAA, Dixit S, Hernandez JE, Boromeo TH, Cruz PCS, Kumar A (2014) Grain yield QTLs with consistent-effect under reproductive-stage drought stress in rice. Field Crops Res 161:46-54

- Prince SJ, Beena R, Gomez SM, Senthivel S, Babu RC (2015) Mapping consistent rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) yield QTLs under drought stress in target rainfed environments. Rice 8:25
- Saikumar S, Gouda PK, Saiharini A, Varma CMK, Vineesha O, Padmavathi G, Shenoy VV (2014) Major QTL for enhancing rice grain yield under lowland reproductive drought stress identified using an *O. sativa/ O. glaberrima* introgression line. Field Crops Res 163:119-131.
- Sandhu N, Dixit S, Swamy BPM, Vikram P, Venkateshwarlu C, Catolos M, Kumar A (2018) Positive interactions of major-effect QTLs with genetic background that enhances rice yield under drought. Sci Rep 8:1626
- SAS Institute Inc. (2011) Base SAS® 9.3 Procedures Guide. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- SAS Institute Inc. (2013) Using JMP 11. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- Shamsudin NAA, Swamy BPM, Ratnam W, Cruz, MTS, Sandhu N, Raman AK, Kumar A (2016) Pyramiding drought yield QTLs into a high-quality Malaysian rice cultivar MRQ74 improves yield under reproductive stage drought. Rice 9:21
- Shankar R, Bhattacharjee A, Jain M (2016) Transcriptome analysis in different rice cultivars provides novel insights into desiccation and salinity stress responses. Sci Rep 6:23719
- Solis J, Gutierrez A, Mangu V, Sanchez E, Bedre R, Linscombe S, Baisakh N (2018) Genetic mapping of quantitative trait loci for grain yield under drought in rice under controlled greenhouse conditions. Front Chem 5:129
- Swamy BPM, Ahmed HU, Henry A, Mauleon R, Dixit S, Vikram P, Tilatto R, Verulkar SB, Perraju P, Mandal NP, Variar M, Robin S, Chandrababu R, Singh ON, Dwivedi JL, Das SP, Mishra KK, Yadaw RB, Aditya TL, Karmakar B, Aatoh K, Moumeni A, Kikuchi S, Leung H, Kumar A (2013) Genetic, physiological and gene expression analyses reveal that multiple QTL enhance yield of rice mega-variety IR64 under drought. PLoS ONE 8:e62795
- Swamy BPM, Shamsudin NAA, Rahman SNA, Mauleon R, Ratnam W, Cruz MTS, Kumar A (2017) Association mapping of yield and yield-related traits under reproductive stage drought stress in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Rice 10:21
- Tian T, Liu Y, Yan H, You Q, Yi X, Du Z, Xu W, Su Z (2017) AgriGO v2.0: a GO analysis toolkit for the agricultural community, 2017 update. Nucl Acids Res gkx382, doi:10.1093/nar/gkx382
- Uga Y, Sugimoto K, Ogawa S, Tane J, Ishitani M, Hara N, Kitomi Y, Inukai Y, Ono K, Kanno N et al. (2013) Control of root system architecture by deeper rooting 1 increases rice yield under drought conditions. Nat Genet 45:1097-1102

- Venuprasad R, Bool ME, Quiatchon L, Cruz MTS, Amante M, Atlin GN (2012) A large-effect QTL for rice grain yield under upland drought stress on chromosome 1. Mol Bred 30:535-547
- Vikram P, Swamy BPM, Dixit S, Ahmed HU, Cruz MTS, Singh AK, Kumar A (2011) *qDTY*<sub>1.1</sub>, a major QTL for rice grain yield under reproductive-stage drought stress with a consistent effect in multiple elite genetic backgrounds. BMC Genet 12:89
- Vikram P, Swamy BPM, Dixit S, Singh R, Singh BP, Miro B, Kohli A, Henry A, Singh NK, Kumar A (2015) Drought susceptibility of modern rice varieties: an effect of linkage of drought tolerance with undesirable traits. Sci Rep 5:14799
- Vikram P, Swamy BPM, Dixit S, Trinidad J, Cruz MTS, Maturan PC, Amante M, Kumar A (2016) Linkages and interactions analysis of major effect drought grain yield QTLs in rice. PLoS ONE 11:e0151532.
- Yue B, Xiong L, Xue W, Xing Y, Luo L, Xu C (2005) Genetic analysis for drought resistance of rice at reproductive stage in field with different types of soil. Theor Appl Genet 111:1127-1136
- Zhang J, Zheng HG, Aarti A, Pantuwan G, Nguyen TT, Tripathy JN, Sarial AK, Robin S, Babu RC, Nguyen BD, Sarkarung S, Blum A, Nguyen HT (2001) Locating genomic regions associated with components of drought resistance in rice: comparative mapping within and across species. Theor Appl Genet 103:19-29
## **Chapter 5. Conclusions**

Rice is a major crop grown all over the world. It is mostly grown in lowland areas with adequate water supply. Upland rice cultivation is also in practice but not common due to low yield. Global climate change is affecting the agricultural production. Availability of water for agricultural purpose is declining gradually. With all these constraints, rice cultivation is becoming a challenge in all rice growing areas of the world. Therefore, the development of high yielding rice genotypes with reduced water requirement is necessary.

Exploration of the available germplasm resources is the first step in every successful breeding program. Although low genetic diversity in USA rice germplasm is well documented, our drought tolerance screening experiment revealed several US genotypes such as Jes, Leah, Roy J, Jazzman, Madison, Lacassine, and Glutinous zenith as drought tolerant. Principal component analysis showed a high degree of variation for tolerance to drought in USA rice germplasm. The variation in drought tolerance among rice genotypes was not dependent on the state which released them except for rice genotypes from California. Most of the California genotypes were separated from the rice genotypes from other states and were more susceptible to drought. Our study concluded that plant biomass, harvest index, and number of tillers were important traits for drought tolerance screening in rice. The average PIC of the USA rice collection was 0.33 which was less compared to the average PIC of the global rice collection. Further, population structure analysis revealed that the USA rice genotypes can be differentiated based on the US states of origin. The rice varieties from Louisiana were separated from the rice varieties from the other states of USA. Texas and Arkansas rice varieties were closely related, whereas the rice varieties from California formed a distinct group. The markers, RM523 and RM570, were associated with grain yield in rice under drought stress. Similarly, a new marker

RM351 on chromosome 7 was linked with spikelet fertility, grain yield, and harvest index with a phenotypic variance of 7%. These markers will be useful for direct selection of yield under drought.

Root plays a vital role in drought tolerance capacity of rice. Drought tolerant genotypes tend to increase the root length under drought stress. There was 22% increase in root length in the donor N-22 under drought stress compared to the control environment. A new QTL (qRL12.04) controlling the root length under drought stress was identified in our study. Two more QTLs for root length, qRL2.04 and qRL1.08, were identified under non-stress condition. Some large effect QTLs for shoot length (qSL1.38, qSL4.06) and dry shoot mass (qDSM1.38) were also identified. The high-resolution QTL mapping helped in identifying the candidate genes in the QTL regions.

Reproductive stage drought is most detrimental for rice cultivation. It drastically reduces grain yield. Identification of QTLs for drought tolerance at the reproductive stage is needed to stabilize rice productivity in drought prone areas. The negative correlation of leaf rolling score with spikelet fertility, grain yield, yield index, and harvest index, suggested the utility of LRS as an early selection criterion for yield traits. Two major QTLs for days to flowering (qDTF3.01 and qDTF11.08) with a phenotypic variance of 13% and 7%, respectively, were identified. Majority of drought tolerant QTLs were identified on chromosome 1. One new QTL for grain yield under drought (qGY1.42) in chromosome 1 with a phenotypic variance of 6% was mapped. Three major QTLs (qDTF3.1, qPH1.38 and qLRS1.37) for drought tolerance at flowering stage were mapped on the high-density SNP map. Identification of differentially expressed genes within the QTL regions helped to identify the candidate genes associated with the traits. Ten differentially expressed genes in 6 QTL regions were identified as potential candidates for

drought tolerance. Validation of the role of these candidate genes for drought tolerance is necessary before incorporating them in any plant breeding program.

In summary, the USA rice collection contained some drought tolerant genotypes based on our evaluation in greenhouse condition. These genotypes can be used as donors in drought breeding programs. The genetic diversity of USA rice collection is very low. Therefore, introduction of new genotypes and the hybridization with the exotic germplasms is necessary to increase genetic diversity in US rice germplasm. Although large number of QTLs were identified for various root traits, agronomic traits, and yield attributes in this study, the large effect QTLs should be given immediate attention for validation and incorporation into elite varieties to enhance drought tolerance. Pyramiding of QTLs associated with root traits and above ground traits may lead to development drought tolerant rice varieties.

# **Appendix A. Supplementary Information for Chapter 2**

S.	Genotype	Source <sup>a</sup>	Sub-	Sub-	S.	Genotype	Source	Sub-type	Sub-
Ν	• 1		type <sup>b</sup>	group <sup>c</sup>	Ν	• 1		• 1	group
1	Hasawi	International	Indica	NG	36	Jazzman	Louisiana	Japonica	AD
2	Cheriviruppu	International	Indica	SG3	37	Neptune	Louisiana	Japonica	SG4
3	Pokkali	International	Indica	SG3	38	Caffey	Louisiana	Japonica	SG4
4	Nona Bokra	International	Japonica	NG	39	Templeton	Louisiana	Japonica	SG6
5	Capsule	International	Indica	NG	40	Taggert	Louisiana	Japonica	SG6
6	FL478	International	Japonica	SG3	41	Jazzman-2	Louisiana	Japonica	AD
7	FL378	International	Japonica	SG3	42	Jes	Louisiana	Indica	SG3
8	TCCP-266	International	Indica	SG3	43	CL162	Louisiana	Japonica	SG3
9	IRRI147	International	Indica	SG3	44	CL181	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7
10	Epagri	International	Indica	SG3	45	CL111	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7
11	Damodar	International	Indica	AD	46	CL131	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7
12	Chengri	International	Indica	SG3	47	Cypress	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7
13	CSR11	International	Indica	SG3	48	CL161	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7
14	PSVRC	International	Indica	SG3	49	LA0702085	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7
15	Pin Kaeo	International	Indica	SG7	50	CL261	Louisiana	Japonica	SG4
16	Dular	International	Indica	SG3	51	N-22	International	Indica	SG3
17	Moroberekan	International	Japonica	SG4	52	CR5272	International	Indica	SG3
18	Nipponbare	International	Japonica	AD	53	Agami	International	Indica	NG
19	Geumgangbyeo	International	Indica	SG3	54	Arang	International	Indica	NG
20	IR-29	International	Indica	NG	55	Kalia-2	International	Indica	SG3
21	Cocodrie	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7	56	SLO16	International	Japonica	SG3
22	R609	Louisiana	Indica	SG3	57	Djogolon	International	Indica	SG3
23	LAH10	Louisiana	Japonica	SG3	58	Colusa	Louisiana	Japonica	AD
24	LA0802140	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7	59	Acadia	Louisiana	Japonica	NG
25	Cheniere	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7	60	Delitus-	Louisiana	Ianonica	\$65
26	Bengal	Louisiana	Ianonica	SG4	61	Tokalon	Louisiana	Japonica	
20	CL 152	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7	62	Evangeline	Louisiana	Japonica	AD SG5
27	Roy I	Louisiana	Japonica		63	Diroque	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7
20	Roy J Pov	Louisiana	Japonica	AD SG6	6 <i>1</i>	Payona	Louisiana	Japonica	SC3
29	CL 142	Louisiana	Japonica	500 5C6	65	Niro	Louisiana	Japonica	SO3 SG5
21	CL142 Mormontou	Louisiana	Japonica	SU0 SG7	66	Magnolia	Louisiana	Japonica	
31	Iunitor	Louisiana	Japonica	SG/	67	Lagrosso	Louisiana	Japonica	AD SG4
34 22	Walla	Louisiana	Japonica	504 5C4	69	Support	Louisiana	Japonica	504 5C4
23 24	wells Cotoboulo	Louisiana	Japonica	500 5C7	00	Ecrovised	Louisiana	Japonica	200 VD
54 25	Valia	Louisiana	Japonica	SU/	09 70	ECTEVISSE	Louisiana	Japonica	AD SC(
33	Kalla	International	Inaica	201	/0	TORO	Louisiana	Japonica	200

Table A1. List of rice genotypes used in the experiment, their source of origin, subtype and the sub-group as classified by structure software

Table A1. continued

S. N	Genotype	Source	Sub-type	Sub- group	S. N	Genotype	Source	Sub-type	Sub- group
71	Nato	Louisiana	Japonica	AD	106	Rexark Rogue_9262	Texas	Japonica	SG1
72	Saturn	Louisiana	Japonica	AD	107	Smooth Zenith	Texas		SG1
73	Della	Louisiana	Japonica	SG6	108	Short Century	Texas	Japonica	SG2
74	Vista	Louisiana	Japonica	SG4	109	Family 24	Arkansas	Japonica	SG1
75	Trenasse	Louisiana	Japonica	AD	110	Century Patna	Texas	Japonica	SG2
76	LA110	Louisiana	Japonica	SG3	111	Early Colusa	California	Japonica	SG8
77	Leah	Louisiana	Japonica	SG5	112	Rexark Rogue_9214	Texas	Japonica	AD
78	Toro-2	Louisiana	Japonica	NG	113	Century Rogue	Texas	Japonica	SG2
79	Mercury	Louisiana	Japonica	SG4	114	Nira 43	Texas	Japonica	AD
80	Lacassine	Louisiana	Japonica	AD	115	Arkose Selection	Arkansas	Japonica	AD
81	Jodon	Louisiana	Japonica	AD	116	Pecos	Texas	Japonica	SG1
82	Dellrose	Louisiana	Japonica	SG6	117	Skybonnet	Texas	Japonica	SG6
83	Lafitte	Louisiana	Japonica	SG4	118	Tebonnet	Arkansas	Japonica	SG6
84	Dellmati	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7	119	M-202	California	Japonica	SG8
85	Earl	Louisiana	Japonica	SG4	120	M-102	California	Japonica	SG8
86	Della-2	Louisiana	Japonica	SG7	121	Rico 1	Texas	Japonica	AD
87	Gulfrose	Texas	Japonica	AD	122	M-103	California	Japonica	SG8
88	R27	Missouri	Japonica	SG4	123	Katy	Arkansas	Japonica	SG2
89	Starbonnet	Arkansas	Japonica	AD	124	S-301	California	Japonica	SG8
90	Zenith	Arkansas	Japonica	AD	125	Maybelle	Texas	Japonica	SG1
91	Rexark	Arkansas	Japonica	SG3	126	Sierra	Texas	Japonica	SG6
92	Earlirose	California	Japonica	SG8	127	Lotus	Texas	Japonica	SG6
93	Caloro	California	Indica	AD	128	Neches	Texas	Japonica	SG6
94	Gody	California	Japonica	SG4	129	Carolina Gold	Texas	japonica	SG1
95	Bond	Arkansas	Japonica	AD	130	Presidio	Texas	Japonica	SG1
96	Newbonnet	Arkansas	Japonica	SG6	131	Sabine	Texas	Japonica	AD
97	Vegold	Arkansas	Japonica	SG6	132	Lavaca	Texas	Japonica	SG6
98	Gold Zenith	Arkansas	1	AD	133	MS-1995-15	Mississippi	Japonica	SG3
99	Belle Patna	Texas	Japonica	SG6	134	MS-1996-9	Mississippi	Japonica	SG3
100	Nova	Arkansas	Japonica	AD	135	Delitus	Louisiana	Japonica	AD
101	Palmyra	Missouri	Japonica	SG1	136	Salvo	Louisiana	Japonica	AD
102	Nova 66	Arkansas	Japonica	AD	137	Stormproof	Arkansas	Japonica	SG1
103	Glutinous Zenith	Texas	Japonica	SG3	138	Calady	California	Japonica	SG8
104	Dawn	Texas	Japonica	SG2	139	Zenith-2	Arkansas	Japonica	SG1
105	Bluebelle	Texas	Japonica	SG6	140	Arkansas Fortuna	Arkansas	japonica	SG2

Table A1. continued

S.	Genotype	Source	Sub-type	Sub-	S.	Genotype	Source	Sub-	Sub-
Ν	•••		• -	group	Ν	• •		type	group
141	Arkrose	Arkansas	japonica	SG8	174	Terso	California	Japonica	SG8
142	Prelude	Arkansas	Japonica	SG2	175	Texas Patna	Texas	Japonica	SG1
143	Asahi	Arkansas	Japonica	SG8	176	Bluebonnet	Texas	Japonica	SG2
144	Kamrose	Arkansas	Japonica	SG8	177	Cody	California	Japonica	SG2
145	Newrex	Texas	Japonica	AD	178	RD	Texas	Japonica	SG6
146	M-301	California	Japonica	SG8	179	Rexark-2	Arkansas	Japonica	SG1
147	S-201	California	japonica	SG8	180	Calrose-2	California	japonica	SG8
148	<b>M-401</b>	California	Japonica	SG8	181	TP 49	Texas	Japonica	AD
149	M-302	California	Japonica	SG8	182	SP 14	Texas	Japonica	AD
150	Bellemont	Texas	Japonica	AD	183	C-4	Texas	Japonica	SG1
151	M-201	California	Japonica	AD	184	Hill Long Grain	Texas	Japonica	AD
152	Northrose	Arkansas	Indica	AD	185	Nortai	Arkansas	Japonica	AD
153	Calrose	California	japonica	SG2	186	Brazos	Texas	Japonica	AD
154	Bluebelle-2	Texas	Japonica	SG2	187	Lebonnet	Texas	Japonica	SG2
155	Lady Wright	Arkansas	Japonica	AD	188	Saturn Rogue	Arkansas	Japonica	SG2
156	Early Prolific	Arkansas	Japonica	SG1	189	Mars	Arkansas	Japonica	AD
157	Hybrid Mix	Texas	Japonica	AD	190	Starbonnet	Arkansas	Japonica	AD
158	Hill medium	Texas	Japonica	SG3	191	Gold Nato	Arkansas		SG2
159	Glutinous Selection	Texas	Japonica	SG2	192	Earlirose-2	California	Japonica	NG
160	R-50	Missouri	Japonica	SG2	193	Early Wataribur	California	Japonica	SG8
161	MO R-500	Missouri	Japonica	AD	194	Conway	California	Japonica	NG
162	R-54	Missouri	Japonica	SG2	195	Texmont	Texas	Japonica	NG
163	R-52	Missouri	Japonica	AD	196	Alan	Arkansas	Japonica	NG
164	R-27-1	Missouri	Japonica	NG	197	Millie	Arkansas	Japonica	NG
165	Jefferson	Texas	Japonica	SG2	198	Dellmont	Texas	Japonica	NG
166	Melrose	Texas	Japonica	AD	199	Rosemont	Texas	Japonica	NG
167	Dixiebelle	Texas	Japonica	AD	200	Orion	Arkansas	Japonica	NG
168	Jasmine 85	Texas	Indica	AD	201	M-204	California	Japonica	SG8
169	Carlpearl	California	Japonica	AD	202	Adair	Arkansas	Japonica	NG
170	Madison	Texas	Japonica	SG6	203	LaGrue	Arkansas	Japonica	NG
171	Tsuri Mai	California	Japonica	SG8	204	Jackson	Texas	Japonica	NG
172	Kokubelle	California	Japonica	AD	205	Azucena	International	Indica	NG
173	Maxwell	California	Japonica	SG8					

<sup>a</sup> source where the variety has been developed (International means the variety has been developed in any other countries except USA), <sup>b</sup> *Indica* or *japonica* subtype, <sup>c</sup> Sub-group as classified by Structure software (SG: Subgroup, AD: Admixture, NG: Not genotyped)

Variable	PC1	PC2	PC3	PC4	PC5	PC6	PC7	PC8	PC9
Eigen value	3.24	2.77	1.08	0.76	0.40	0.35	0.28	0.05	0.04
Variation (%)	36.05	30.81	12.04	8.49	4.46	3.97	3.17	0.54	0.47
Cumulative	36.05	66.86	78.90	87.39	91.85	95.82	98.98	99.53	100.00
DTF	0.24	0.38	0.42	0.04	0.62	0.25	-0.42	0.03	0.05
NT	-0.08	0.18	-0.80	0.44	0.25	0.18	-0.16	< 0.01	0.02
LRS	-0.40	0.01	0.29	0.59	-0.17	-0.47	-0.41	-0.01	0.04
FW	0.11	0.57	< 0.01	0.04	-0.27	-0.10	0.22	0.52	0.52
DW	-0.01	0.54	0.16	0.29	-0.18	0.17	0.41	-0.48	-0.36
PDMC	-0.31	-0.35	0.27	0.40	0.18	0.51	0.40	0.24	0.20
SF	0.44	-0.16	< 0.01	0.28	0.44	-0.56	0.44	< 0.01	-0.01
GY	0.49	-0.14	0.05	0.30	-0.34	0.19	-0.16	0.46	-0.51
HI	0.48	-0.22	0.02	0.23	-0.29	0.19	-0.16	-0.48	0.54

Table A2. Eigen vectors and eigen values of the principal components for various agronomic traits, yield, and yield-related traits in rice genotypes under drought stress

PC, Principal components; DTF, Days to flowering; NT, Number of tillers; LRS, Leaf rolling score; FW, Fresh plant weight (g/plant); DW, Dry plant weight (g/plant); PDMC, Plant dry matter content (%); SF, Spikelet fertility (%); GY, Grain Yield (g/plant); HI, Harvest index (%)

Table A3. Representative groups of traits identified by PCA analysis of various agronomic traits, yield, and yield-related traits in rice genotypes under drought stress

Groups	No. of variables	Most representative	Variation within	Overall variation
	in each group	variable	cluster (%)	(%)
1	4	Harvest index	0.73	0.32
2	4	Fresh weight	0.68	0.30
3	1	No. of tillers	1.00	0.11



Figure A1. Frequency distribution of the various agronomic traits, yield, and yield-related traits in rice genotypes under drought stress



Figure A2. Estimated population structure of rice genotypes based on the membership fraction for K=2 to K=10

**Appendix B. Supplementary Information for Chapter 3** 

Phenotype	QTL1 <sup>a</sup>	Chr. 1	Pos.1 (cM)	LeftMarker1	RightMarker1	QTL2 <sup>a</sup>	Chr. 2	Pos. 2 (cM)	LeftMarker2	RightMarker2	LOD <sup>b</sup>	PVE (%) <sup>c</sup>	Add 1 <sup>d</sup>	Add 2 <sup>e</sup>	Add x Add <sup>f</sup>
	qRL6.28	6	126	S6_28019279	S6_28021750	qRL6.07	6	41	S6_7788675	S6_7933830	3.07	9.97	-1.26	0.83	2.62
Root	qRL7.03	7	20	S7_3892845	S7_3976452	qRL7.19	7	75	S7_19188413	S7_19306981	3.02	8.86	-0.72	1.28	-2.56
Length	qRL3.22	3	107	S3_22735459	S3_23020366	qRL9.11	9	24	S9_11218694	S9_11434669	3.37	8.67	0.50	-0.13	-2.67
	qRL8.27	8	120	S8_27458765	S8_27384353	qRL11.07	11	38	S11_7244556	S11_7426709	3.05	8.30	-0.94	0.36	-2.55
	qSL2.32	2	142	S2_32333805	S2_32458819	qSL2.05	2	2	S2_554664	S2_778122	3.62	4.35	0.31	-0.79	3.98
	qSL4.25	4	104	S4_25750452	S4_27194959	qSL4.23	4	75	S4_23194872	S4_23150306	3.12	4.97	3.32	-0.77	-4.07
	qSL1.40	1	215	S1_40478022	S1_40705018	qSL4.19	4	110	S4_19236701	S4_18975813	3.21	9.30	-3.04	2.50	-3.90
C1 (	qSL4.28	4	114	S4_28342068	S4_29179250	qSL5.21	5	85	S5_21788829	S5_21839740	3.42	6.69	3.16	-2.15	3.70
Shoot Length	qSL1.06	1	35	S1_6333407	S1_6943788	qSL8.03	8	25	S8_3472333	S8_3802712	3.07	3.99	-1.02	-0.21	3.72
Length	qSL4.02	4	14	S4_2407777	S4_4321194	qSL10.20	10	86	S10_20449122	S10_21032523	3.35	4.14	1.27	-1.36	3.93
	qSL6.25	6	40	S6_25081992	S6_25111550	qSL10.18	10	71	S10_18108623	S10_18258549	3.03	3.68	0.66	0.13	3.70
	qSL7.02	7	15	S7_2717377	S7_3316814	qSL10.15	10	61	S10_15894101	S10_16140874	3.25	6.60	2.98	0.39	-3.83
	qSL4.09	4	125	S4_9392529	S4_13158661	qSL11.16	11	53	S11_16085790	S11_16448415	3.23	3.92	0.32	0.24	-3.75
	qFRM1.40	1	210	S1_40016682	S1_40478022	qFRM1.40	1	215	S1_40478022	S1_40705018	18.30	4.54	0.23	-0.29	-0.86
	qFRM2.19	2	77	S2_19367035	S2_20325320	qFRM2.18	2	72	S2_18661775	S2_19167826	7.49	3.29	-0.62	0.61	-0.56
	qFRM1.02	1	15	S1_2425271	S1_3509893	qFRM3.04	3	27	S3_4903639	S3_5301261	3.27	0.75	0.12	-0.04	-0.17
	qFRM1.21	1	90	S1_21230560	S1_21995746	qFRM4.16	4	44	S4_16795210	S4_17838166	3.59	0.82	0.17	-0.11	-0.24
Fresh Root	qFRM5.14	5	45	S5_14082123	S5_16517328	qFRM5.16	5	50	S5_16601737	S5_17246658	7.50	3.66	0.45	-0.43	-0.67
Mass	qFRM6.04	6	26	S6_4715280	S6_5656440	qFRM6.04	6	21	S6_4715280	S6_5656440	13.32	3.67	0.57	-0.69	-0.55
	qFRM8.24	8	100	S8_24396362	S8_24844138	qFRM8.23	8	95	S8_23531495	S8_24143416	8.66	3.34	-0.61	0.64	-0.56
	qFRM5.24	5	15	S5_2536669	S5_2495045	qFRM9.14	9	49	S9_14554692	S9_14623034	3.21	0.53	0.03	0.01	-0.17
	qFRM11.26	11	13	S11_2666525	S11_3246051	qFRM11.02	11	8	S11_2188349	S11_2666525	10.71	3.86	0.40	-0.47	-0.55
	qFRM12.04	12	35	S12_4833513	S12_5581320	qFRM12.05	12	40	S12_5581320	S12_6566235	12.56	3.47	-0.53	0.51	-0.55

Table B1. Epistatic QTLs for various root and shoot related traits identified by Interval Mapping (IM) in the Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population under water stressed condition

Table B1. continued

Phenotype	QTL1 <sup>a</sup>	Chr 1	. Pos.1 (cM)	LeftMarker1	RightMarker1	QTL2 <sup>a</sup>	Chr. 2	Pos. 2 (cM)	LeftMarker2	RightMarker2	LOD <sup>b</sup>	PVE (%) <sup>c</sup>	Add 1 <sup>d</sup>	Add 2 <sup>e</sup>	Add x Add <sup>f</sup>
	qFSM1.40	1	210	S1_40016682	S1_40478022	qFSM1.40	1	215	S1_40478022	S1_40705018	10.34	9.99	1.44	-1.57	-1.80
	qFSM2.18	2	72	S2_18661775	S2_19167826	qFSM3.36	3	187	S3_36366411	S3_36293343	3.46	2.85	0.02	-0.16	0.52
	qFSM4.18	4	49	S4_18975813	S4_19236701	qFSM4.15	4	39	S4_15947149	S4_16543430	5.67	9.62	-1.73	1.49	-1.66
Fresh	qFSM5.14	5	45	S5_14082123	S5_16517328	qFSM5.16	5	50	S5_16601737	S5_17246658	3.15	8.93	1.72	-1.67	-1.88
Mass	qFSM4.15	4	39	S4_15947149	S4_16543430	qFSM6.29	6	136	S6_29661482	S6_29794732	3.43	2.37	-0.07	0.08	0.51
111105	qFSM3.24	3	112	S3_24662730	S3_24845126	qFSM11.03	11	18	S11_3423882	S11_3485041	3.08	2.44	0.15	-0.09	-0.49
	qFSM7.08	7	50	S7_8795148	S7_9344830	qFSM11.18	11	3	S11_1851686	S11_1939712	3.23	2.24	-0.13	-0.04	0.50
	qFSM11.26	11	102	S11_26213113	S11_26959420	qFSM12.18	12	5	S12_1853909	S12_1883341	3.39	2.57	-0.05	-0.24	0.52
Number of	qNT1.25	1	120	S1_25275758	S1_26447134	qNT6.15	6	1	S6_1523304	S6_1909168	3.03	8.63	-0.01	-0.10	-0.23
Tillers	qNT2.30	2	137	S2_30823340	S2_31011182	qNT8.22	8	85	S8_22107509	S8_22155070	3.52	9.89	0.08	0.04	-0.21
	qDRM6.19	6	71	S6_19730828	S6_19918181	qDRM6.13	6	66	S6_13499374	S6_13177618	3.47	9.59	0.08	-0.07	-0.09
Dry Root	qDRM1.21	1	90	S1_21230560	S1_21995746	qDRM10.02	10	11	S10_2494063	S10_2484885	3.02	9.16	0.06	0.04	0.05
Mass	qDRM2.19	2	77	S2_19367035	S2_20325320	qDRM11.03	11	23	S11_3245887	S11_3855765	3.30	7.99	-0.01	0.01	0.04
	qDRM9.08	9	14	S9_8165314	S9_8942722	qDRM12.19	12	65	S12_19257062	S12_19492731	3.15	6.09	0.01	-0.01	-0.03
	qDSM1.24	1	110	S1_24665184	S1_24958936	qDSM3.30	3	152	S3_30361166	S3_30382168	3.02	4.97	-0.04	0.04	0.12
	qDSM1.09	1	60	S1_9873666	S1_10011753	qDSM7.12	7	55	S7_12924589	S7_13244713	3.34	5.56	0.03	-0.05	-0.11
	qDSM3.24	3	112	S3_24662730	S3_24845126	qDSM8.15	8	55	S8_15711098	S8_15976748	3.33	5.94	-0.01	0.06	-0.10
Dry Shoot Mass	qDSM1.23	1	100	S1_23171705	S1_23339178	qDSM11.16	11	53	S11_16085790	S11_16448415	4.59	7.10	0.05	0.15	0.17
	qDSM4.22	4	79	S4_22450799	S4_22428384	qDSM11.07	11	38	S11_7244556	S11_7426709	3.31	5.11	-0.03	0.02	-0.11
	qDSM11.25	11	98	S11_25112259	S11_25140979	qDSM12.18	12	5	S12_1853909	S12_1883341	3.12	4.71	-0.01	0.01	0.11
	qDSM2.30	2	137	S2_30823340	S2_31011182	qDSM12.14	12	55	S12_14722646	S12_15344105	3.29	5.40	0.03	0.02	-0.11

Table B1. continued

Phenotype	QTL1 <sup>a</sup>	Chr. 1	. Pos.1 (cM)	LeftMarker1	RightMarker1	QTL2 <sup>a</sup>	Chr. 2	Pos. 2 (cM)	LeftMarker2	RightMarker2	LOD <sup>b</sup>	PVE (%) <sup>c</sup>	Add 1 <sup>d</sup>	Add 2 <sup>e</sup>	Ad d x Add <sup>f</sup>
	qRSR1.40	1	215	S1_40478022	S1_40705018	qRSR1.40	1	220	S1_40705018	S1_40884049	3.78	6.59	0.07	-0.07	-0.06
	qRSR2.19	2	77	S2_19367035	S2_20325320	qRSR2.18	2	72	S2_18661775	S2_19167826	3.37	6.60	-0.06	0.05	-0.06
	qRSR1.05	1	30	S1_5521992	S1_5863007	qRSR3.24	3	112	S3_24662730	S3_24845126	3.11	2.05	0.00	0.00	-0.02
_	qRSR2.05	2	2	S2_778122	S2_554664	qRSR3.05	3	27	S3_4903639	S3_5301261	3.12	2.10	0.00	-0.01	-0.02
Root	qRSR1.07	1	45	S1_7702003	S1_8235309	qRSR7.01	7	5	S7_1316514	S7_1792249	3.31	2.95	0.01	-0.01	-0.02
Ratio	qRSR8.02	8	1	S8_261276	S8_498009	qRSR10.13	10	51	S10_13377773	S10_13599476	3.71	2.60	-0.01	-0.01	0.02
Tutio	qRSR1.21	1	90	S1_21230560	S1_21995746	qRSR10.24	10	11	S10_2494063	S10_2484885	3.39	2.85	0.03	0.02	0.02
	qRSR2.19	2	77	S2_19367035	S2_20325320	qRSR11.03	11	23	S11_3245887	S11_3855765	3.69	3.27	-0.01	0.01	0.02
	qRSR12.04	12	30	S12_4402981	S12_4833513	qRSR12.04	12	35	S12_4833513	\$12_5581320	4.49	7.05	-0.06	0.06	-0.05
	qRSR1.23	1	100	S1_23171705	S1_23339178	qRSR12.19	12	65	S12_19257062	S12_19492731	3.44	2.61	0.03	0.03	0.03

<sup>a</sup> qRL, qSL, qFRM, qFSM, qNT, qDRM, qDSM and qRSR are QTLs for root length, shoot length, fresh root mass, fresh shoot mass, number of tillers, dry root mass, dry shoot mass and root shoot ratio respectively. The number before the decimal indicate chromosome and the number after decimal indicate the physical location of the QTL in mega base pair.

<sup>b</sup> logarithm of odds;

<sup>c</sup> Percentage of phenotypic variance explained by the QTL; <sup>d</sup> Additive effect of QTL1; <sup>e</sup> Additive effect of QTL2;

<sup>f</sup>Epistatic effect between QTL 1 and QTL 2

Chromosome	Position	Left Marker	Right Marker	Marker	LOD <sup>a</sup>	Segregatio	n ratio <sup>b</sup>
	(cM)			Interval (bp)	)	Cocodrie	N-22
1	95	S1_22441843	S1_22495172	53329	25.89	0.13	1
1	109	S1_24665184	S1_24958936	293752	11.39	0.31	1
1	227	S1_41353426	S1_41629534	276108	4.2	1	0.51
2	30	S2_9838728	S2_9922843	84115	3.33	0.55	1
4	51	S4_19245327	S4_19306756	61429	6.01	1	0.44
10	43	S10_11626385	S10_11951640	325255	4.35	0.5	1
10	25	S10_5314446	S10_5341825	27379	4.49	0.5	1
10	16	S10_2493909	S10_3091088	597179	5.05	0.47	1
12	0	S12_550217	S12_524851	25366	3.12	1	0.56

Table B2. Mapping of segregation distortion loci in the Cocodrie x N-22 RIL population

<sup>a</sup> Logarithm of odds

<sup>b</sup>segregation ratio is the proportion of the alleles contributed by each parent. Since we used a RIL population, the expected segregation ratio is 1:1. Segregation ratio of 0.13:1 means the ratio is skewed towards N-22 parent and does not follow the expected Mendelian ratio of 1:1



Figure B1. Experimental setup for drought experiment to evaluate root traits in rice



Figure B2. Difference in root length between N-22 and Cocodrie under water stress and nonstress condition

# **Appendix C. Supplementary Information for Chapter 4**

Trait	MSS <sup>a</sup>	SSE <sup>b</sup>	F-value	P-value <sup>c</sup>
Days to flowering	55.54	3.49	15.87	< 0.0001
Plant height (cm)	1044.45	87.85	11.89	< 0.0001
Leaf rolling score	3.63	1.3	2.79	< 0.0001
Dry matter content (%)	238.68	101.03	2.36	< 0.0001
Spikelet fertility (%)	750.83	545.45	1.38	0.015
Grain yield under stress (g)	39.74	18.26	2.18	< 0.0001
Yield index	0.11	0.04	2.22	< 0.0001
Harvest index (%)	237.94	111.38	2.14	< 0.0001

Table C1. Analysis of variance for yield and yield-related traits in the Cocodrie × N-22 RIL population under reproductive stage drought stress.

<sup>a</sup>MSS is mean sum of square

<sup>b</sup>SSE is sum of square of error

<sup>c</sup>P-value is the level of significance for the difference between the RILs

Table C2. Correlation coefficients among yield-related traits and root traits in the Cocodrie  $\times$  N-22 RIL population under reproductive stage drought stress

		Stress			Control	
Traits	Root length	Dry root	Root shoot	Root length	Dry root	Root shoot
	(cm)	mass (g)	ratio	(cm)	mass (g)	ratio
Spikelet fertility (%)	0.03	-0.08	-0.07	-0.16*	-0.13	-0.07
Grain yield under stress (g)	0.08	0.08	0.04	-0.08	-0.13	-0.09
Yield index	0.01	0.06	0.02	-0.10	-0.11	-0.03
Harvest index (%)	0.06	-0.04	0.03	-0.01	-0.13	-0.09

\*Significant correlation between the traits at 5% level of probability

Principal component	Eigenvalue	Percent <sup>a</sup>	Cumulative Percent <sup>b</sup>
1	3.12	39.03	39.03
2	1.40	17.44	56.47
3	0.98	12.22	68.69
4	0.83	10.37	79.06
5	0.56	6.97	86.03
6	0.51	6.43	92.46
7	0.40	5.04	97.50
8	0.20	2.50	100.00

Table C3. Eigen value for the eight principle components and variance explained by each principal component

<sup>a</sup>Percentage of variance explained by each principal component <sup>b</sup>Cumulative variance explained by each additional principal component

Table C4. Eigen vectors for each principal component for yield and yield-related traits in rice

Trait	Prin1	Prin2	Prin3	Prin4	Prin5	Prin6	Prin7	Prin8
Days to flowering	-0.22	0.15	0.65	-0.67	-0.15	-0.11	0.07	-0.07
Plant height	-0.25	0.59	0.10	0.11	0.62	0.00	-0.37	0.16
Leaf rolling score	-0.33	0.43	0.11	0.36	-0.41	0.49	0.37	0.02
Plant dry matter content	-0.04	-0.48	0.66	0.47	0.27	0.11	0.00	-0.10
Spikelet fertility	0.41	-0.06	0.00	-0.35	0.30	0.76	0.08	0.11
Grain yield under stress	0.46	0.34	0.11	0.11	-0.09	0.00	-0.18	-0.77
Yield index	0.43	0.26	0.13	0.10	0.25	-0.36	0.69	0.20
Harvest index	0.45	0.12	0.28	0.15	-0.42	-0.03	-0.43	0.54

Troit		Chr <sup>b</sup>	Pos	Laft Markar	Dight Markor		PVE	Additive	Parental
ITali	QILS	CIII	$(cM)^c$	Lett Warker	Kight Marker	LOD	(%) <sup>e</sup>	effect	effect
	qDTF3.01	3	5	S3_1110340	S3_1497144	5.05	5.42	1.84	Cocodrie
	qDTF3.03	3	15	S3_3069783	S3_3408012	5.00	5.50	1.85	Cocodrie
	qDTF3.05	3	29	S3_5496857	S3_5545956	4.17	4.48	1.68	Cocodrie
Days to	qDTF3.06	3	39	S3_6763336	S3_7002098	3.64	3.91	1.56	Cocodrie
flowering	qDTF3.10	3	71	S3_10656190	S3_10941996	3.60	4.30	1.64	Cocodrie
	qDTF9.12	9	48	S9_12697203	S9_13964645	2.54	2.81	1.32	Cocodrie
	qDTF10.14	10	57	S10_14261588	S10_14469114	2.76	2.99	-1.39	N-22
	qDTF11.08	11	44	S11_8950871	S11_9004531	3.06	3.33	1.45	Cocodrie
	qPH1.28	1	138	S1_28190405	S1_28383640	2.13	2.72	-5.44	N-22
	qPH1.31	1	154	S1_31008477	S1_31033244	2.21	2.82	-5.45	N-22
Plant height	qPH1.37	1	186	S1_37273187	S1_37368297	19.65	20.13	-14.50	N-22
-	<i>qPH1.38</i>	1	192	S1_38023681	S1_38286772	24.52	24.69	-15.99	N-22
	qPH7.02	7	17	S7_2717377	S7_3316814	3.90	5.11	7.2406	Cocodrie
Leaf rolling	qLRS1.37	1	186	S1_37273187	S1_37368297	7.47	10.92	-0.56	N-22
	qLRS1.38	1	193	S1_38286772	S1_38611845	6.67	9.94	-0.53	N-22
	qLRS7.04	7	0	S7_425945	S7_553805	2.83	4.36	0.35	Cocodrie
score	qLRS7.07	7	42	S7_7182433	S7_8031540	2.71	4.54	0.36	Cocodrie
	qLRS12.19	12	68	S12_19106376	S12_19379440	2.78	4.38	-0.36	N-22
Plant dry	2								
matter	qDM1.07	1	43	S1_7295376	S1_7604334	2.22	5.50	2.60	Cocodrie
content									
	qSF1.38	1	192	S1_38023681	S1_38286772	3.77	6.74	6.13	Cocodrie
	qSF1.39	1	203	S1_39580930	S1_39526933	2.45	4.14	4.77	Cocodrie
Spikelet	qSF1.40	1	208	S1_40016682	S1_40478022	2.82	4.91	5.21	Cocodrie
fertility	qSF3.0.6	3	0	S3_645267	S3_723901	2.89	4.82	-5.14	N-22
	qSF7.0.4	7	0	S7_425945	S7_553805	2.78	4.63	-5.07	N-22
	qSF12.24	12	98	S12_24162384	S12_24262862	2.78	4.67	-5.08	N-22
Grain yield under stress	qGY1.42	1	241	S1_42928362	S1_42966746	2.10	6.12	-1.02	N-22
<b>X</b> 7' 1 1 ' 1	qYI1.42	1	242	S1_42981696	S1_43065133	2.24	4.99	-0.06	N-22
	qYI12.03	12	29	S12_3937337	S12_4053360	2.36	5.27	-0.06	N-22
Uorwoot	qH11.37	1	188	S1_37561874	S1_37740707	3.29	7.74	3.63	Cocodrie
index	qH11.42	1	241	S1_42928362	S1_42966746	3.02	7.18	-3.49	N-22
	qHI3.24	3	149	S3_24801891	S3_24951818	2.05	4.88	2.87	Cocodrie

Table C5. List of additive QTLs for yield and yield-related traits in the Cocodrie  $\times$  N-22 RIL population under reproductive stage drought stress using interval mapping (IM)

<sup>a</sup>The name of the QTL. 'q' followed by the abbreviation of the trait, followed by the chromosome number, one decimal place and the physical location of the QTL in mega base pair <sup>b</sup>Chromosome number

<sup>c</sup>Position of the QTL in genetic map

<sup>d</sup>Logarithm of odds value for individual QTL

<sup>e</sup>Phenotypic variance explained by the QTL expressed in percentage

Table C6. List of epistatic QTLs for yield and yield-related traits in the Cocodrie  $\times$  N-22 RIL population under reproductive stage drought stress using inclusive composite interval mapping (ICIM)

Trait <sup>S</sup>	<sup>5</sup> QTL 1 <sup>a</sup> C	Chr1 <sup>b</sup>	Pos1 cM) <sup>c</sup>	Left Marker1	Right Marker1	QTL 2 <sup>a</sup>	Chr2	b Pos2 (cM)	Left Marker 2	Right Marker 2	LOD	$^{d}_{(\%)^{e}}^{\text{PVE}} \text{Add}$	l <sup>f</sup> Add2	Add <sup>g</sup> x Add <sup>h</sup>
DU	qPH4.16 4	4	15	S4_16795210	S4_17838154	qPH4.33	4	135	S4_3326832	S4_33121074	4.1	9.2 1.2	2.3	-4.7
ГΠ	qPH3.31 3	3 2	200	S3_31944839	S3_32058772	qPH11.11	11	55	S11_1693112	IS11_16969972	4.8	8.1 -1.2	-0.3	-4.7
DM	qDM3.143	3 1	00	S3_14006351	S3_13604998	qDM3.13	3	110	S3_13604998	S3_14015710	5.0	3.2 7.1	-7.8	-6.5
SF	qSF4.05 4	4 3	30	S4_5728274	S4_6059987	qSF8.06	8	40	S8_6155282	S8_7256740	4.0	8.2 -0.2	1.0	-5.3
	qGY2.05 2	2 3	35	S2_5852996	S2_5848610	qGY3.05	3	30	S3_5496857	S3_5545956	4.3	9.2 0.2	-0.3	-1.4
GY	qGY4.30 4	- 1	25	S4_30600109	S4_31395132	qGY8.08	8	45	S8_8574594	S8_8874263	4.4	10.1 0.4	-0.1	-1.4
	qGY2.03 2	2 2	20	S2_3854717	S2_4310292	qGY8.21	8	85	S8_21174020	S8_21441966	4.9	10.8 0.3	-0.2	-1.5
YI	qYI2.22 2	2 1	00	S2_22663089	S2_22746914	qYI7.39	7	25	S7_3920664	S7_4483382	5.1	14.3 -0.1	0.1	-0.1
HI	qHI1.08 1	. 5	5	S1_852431	S1_1098433	qYI4.25	4	100	S4_25750452	S4_27194959	4.7	10.3 -1.1	0.1	4.1

<sup>\$</sup>PH, Plant height (cm); DM, Plant dry matter content (%); SF, Spikelet fertility (%); GY, Grain yield under stress (g); YI, Yield index; HI, Harvest index (%)

<sup>a</sup>The name of the QTL. 'q' followed by the abbreviation of the trait, followed by the chromosome number, one decimal place and the physical location of the QTL in mega base pair

<sup>b</sup>Chromosome number

<sup>c</sup>Position of the QTL in genetic map

<sup>d</sup>Logarithm of odds value for the combined effect of QTL1 and QTL2

<sup>e</sup>Phenotypic variance explained by the combined effect of QTL1 and QTL2 expressed in percentage

<sup>f</sup>Additive effect of QTL1

<sup>g</sup>Additive effect of QTL2

<sup>h</sup>Epistatic effect of the interaction between the QTL1 and QTL2

Trait	GO accession	Term type <sup>a</sup>	Term	P-value
	GO:0080090	Р	regulation of primary metabolic process	< 0.01
	GO:0019222	Р	regulation of metabolic process	< 0.01
	GO:0031323	Р	regulation of cellular metabolic process	< 0.01
	GO:0050789	Р	regulation of biological process	< 0.01
	GO:0032774	Р	RNA biosynthetic process	< 0.01
	GO:0010467	Р	gene expression	< 0.01
	GO:0065007	Р	biological regulation	< 0.01
	GO:0060255	Р	regulation of macromolecule metabolic process	< 0.01
	GO:0016070	Р	RNA metabolic process	< 0.01
	GO:0051252	Р	regulation of RNA metabolic process	< 0.01
	GO:0006355	Р	regulation of transcription, DNA-dependent	< 0.01
	GO:0006351	Р	transcription, DNA-dependent	< 0.01
	GO:0031326	Р	regulation of cellular biosynthetic process	< 0.01
	GO:0045449	Р	regulation of transcription	< 0.01
Days to	GO:0019219	Р	regulation of nucleobase, nucleoside, nucleotide and nucleic acid metabolic process	< 0.01
flowering	GO:0010468	Р	regulation of gene expression	< 0.01
	GO:0009889	Р	regulation of biosynthetic process	< 0.01
	GO:0050794	Р	regulation of cellular process	< 0.01
	GO:0051171	Р	regulation of nitrogen compound metabolic process	< 0.01
	GO:0010556	Р	regulation of macromolecule biosynthetic process	< 0.01
	GO:0006350	Р	transcription	0.01
	GO:0044249	Р	cellular biosynthetic process	0.02
	GO:0044237	Р	cellular metabolic process	0.02
	GO:0008152	Р	metabolic process	0.03
	GO:0009058	Р	biosynthetic process	0.03
	GO:0030528	F	transcription regulator activity	< 0.01
	GO:0016491	F	oxidoreductase activity	0.04
	GO:0043226	С	organelle	0.04
	GO:0043229	С	intracellular organelle	0.04
	GO:0005622	С	intracellular	0.03

Table C7. Significant gene ontology (GO) terms identified for each trait using agriGO and their classification into various sub-classes

Table C7. continued

Trait	GO accession	Term type <sup>a</sup>	Term	P-value
	GO:0006575	Р	cellular amino acid derivative metabolic process	< 0.01
	GO:0006576	Р	cellular biogenic amine metabolic process	< 0.01
	GO:0006519	Р	cellular amino acid and derivative metabolic process	< 0.01
Dlant	GO:0044106	Р	cellular amine metabolic process	< 0.01
Plaint	GO:0009308	Р	amine metabolic process	0.01
neight	GO:0006520	Р	cellular amino acid metabolic process	0.01
	GO:0034641	Р	cellular nitrogen compound metabolic process	0.02
	GO:0043565	F	sequence-specific DNA binding	0.02
	GO:0030528	F	transcription regulator activity	0.02
	GO:0008219	Р	cell death	< 0.01
	GO:0016265	Р	death	< 0.01
Leaf	GO:0012501	Р	programmed cell death	< 0.01
rolling	GO:0006915	Р	apoptosis	< 0.01
score	GO:0008234	F	cysteine-type peptidase activity	< 0.01
	GO:0016757	F	transferase activity, transferring glycosyl groups	< 0.01
	GO:0016758	F	transferase activity, transferring hexosyl groups	< 0.01
	GO:0032774	Р	RNA biosynthetic process	0.01
	GO:0045449	Р	regulation of transcription	0.04
	GO:0050789	Р	regulation of biological process	0.04
	GO:0006355	Р	regulation of transcription, DNA-dependent	0.04
	GO:0065007	Р	biological regulation	0.02
	GO:0019219	Р	regulation of nucleobase, nucleoside, nucleotide and nucleic acid metabolic process	0.04
Spikelet	GO:0050794	Р	regulation of cellular process	0.03
fertility	GO:0051171	Р	regulation of nitrogen compound metabolic process	0.04
	GO:0051252	Р	regulation of RNA metabolic process	0.04
	GO:0006350	Р	transcription	0.02
	GO:0006351	Р	transcription, DNA-dependent	0.01
	GO:0043169	F	cation binding	0.03
	GO:0043167	F	ion binding	0.03
	GO:0003700	F	transcription factor activity	0.03

Table C7. continued

Trait	GO accession	Term type <sup>a</sup>	Term	P-value
Spikelet fertility	GO:0017111	F	nucleoside-triphosphatase activity	0.04
Uorwoot	GO:0070011	F	peptidase activity, acting on L-amino acid peptides	< 0.01
index	GO:0008233	F	peptidase activity	0.01
Index	GO:0004175	F	endopeptidase activity	0.03

<sup>a</sup>Term type: P, biological process; F, molecular function; C, cellular component



Figure C1. Genetic network of epistatic QTLs for eight yield and yield related traits under reproductive stage drought stress in rice



Figure C2. Expression potential of the genes in five different parts of the rice plant

## **Appendix D: Permissions to Reprint**

### SPRINGER NATURE LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Sep 24, 2018

This Agreement between Louisiana State University – Uttam Bhattarai ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4435640402181
License date	Sep 24, 2018
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Euphytica
Licensed Content Title	Identification of drought responsive QTLs during vegetative growth stage of rice using a saturated GBS-based SNP linkage map
Licensed Content Author	Uttam Bhattarai, Prasanta K. Subudhi
Licensed Content Date	Jan 1, 2018
Licensed Content Volume	214
Licensed Content Issue	2
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	electronic
Portion	full article/chapter
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	>50,000
Author of this Springer Nature content	γes
Title	Dr.
Instructor name	Prasanta K. Subudhi
Institution name	Louisiana State University
Expected presentation date	Oct 2018
Requestor Location	Louisiana State University 104 Sturgis hall
	BATON ROUGE, LA 70808 United States Attn: Louisiana State University
Billing Type	Invoice
Billing Address	Louisiana State University

9/24/18, 8:00 PM

#### 104 Sturgis hall

BATON ROUGE, LA 70808 United States Attn: Louisiana State University 0.00 USD

#### Total

Terms and Conditions

Springer Nature Terms and Conditions for RightsLink Permissions Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH (the Licensor) hereby grants you a non-exclusive, world-wide licence to reproduce the material and for the purpose and requirements specified in the attached copy of your order form, and for no other use, subject to the conditions below:

 The Licensor warrants that it has, to the best of its knowledge, the rights to license reuse of this material. However, you should ensure that the material you are requesting is original to the Licensor and does not carry the copyright of another entity (as credited in the published version).

If the credit line on any part of the material you have requested indicates that it was reprinted or adapted with permission from another source, then you should also seek permission from that source to reuse the material.

- Where print only permission has been granted for a fee, separate permission must be obtained for any additional electronic re-use.
- Permission granted free of charge for material in print is also usually granted for any electronic version of that work, provided that the material is incidental to your work as a whole and that the electronic version is essentially equivalent to, or substitutes for, the print version.
- A licence for 'post on a website' is valid for 12 months from the licence date. This licence does not cover use of full text articles on websites.
- 5. Where 'reuse in a dissertation/thesis' has been selected the following terms apply: Print rights of the final author's accepted manuscript (for clarity, NOT the published version) for up to 100 copies, electronic rights for use only on a personal website or institutional repository as defined by the Sherpa guideline (www.sherpa.ac.uk/romeo/).
- 6. Permission granted for books and journals is granted for the lifetime of the first edition and does not apply to second and subsequent editions (except where the first edition permission was granted free of charge or for signatories to the STM Permissions Guidelines http://www.stm-assoc.org/copyright-legal-affairs/permissions/permissions-guidelines/), and does not apply for editions in other languages unless additional translation rights have been granted separately in the licence.
- Rights for additional components such as custom editions and derivatives require additional permission and may be subject to an additional fee. Please apply to Journalpermissions@springernature.com/bookpermissions@springernature.com for these rights.
- The Licensor's permission must be acknowledged next to the licensed material in print. In electronic form, this acknowledgement must be visible at the same time as the figures/tables/illustrations or abstract, and must be hyperlinked to the journal/book's

https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?publisher...02e-bab6-40b6-95f7-b10fa04bb667%20%20&targetPage=printablelicense Page 2 of 4

homepage. Our required acknowledgement format is in the Appendix below.

- 9. Use of the material for incidental promotional use, minor editing privileges (this does not include cropping, adapting, omitting material or any other changes that affect the meaning, intention or moral rights of the author) and copies for the disabled are permitted under this licence.
- Minor adaptations of single figures (changes of format, colour and style) do not require the Licensor's approval. However, the adaptation should be credited as shown in Appendix below.

### Appendix - Acknowledgements:

#### For Journal Content:

Reprinted by permission from [the Licensor]: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

#### For Advance Online Publication papers:

Reprinted by permission from [the Licensor]: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication), advance online publication, day month year (doi: 10.1038/sj.[JOURNAL ACRONYM].)

#### For Adaptations/Translations:

Adapted/Translated by permission from [the Licensor]: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

## Note: For any republication from the British Journal of Cancer, the following credit line style applies:

Reprinted/adapted/translated by permission from [the Licensor]: on behalf of Cancer Research UK: : [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

## For Advance Online Publication papers:

Reprinted by permission from The [the Licensor]: on behalf of Cancer Research UK: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication), advance online publication, day month year (doi: 10.1038/sj. [JOURNAL ACRONYM])

#### For Book content:

Reprinted/adapted by permission from [the Licensor]: [Book Publisher (e.g. Palgrave Macmillan, Springer etc) [Book Title] by [Book author(s)] [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)



Please note that, as the author of this Elsevier article, you retain the right to include it in a thesis or dissertation, provided it is not published commercially. Permission is not required, but please ensure that you reference the journal as the original source. For more information on this and on your other retained rights, please visit: <u>https://www.elsevier.com/about/our-business/policies/copyright#Author-</u> rights



Copyright @ 2018 Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. All Rights Reserved. Privacy statement. Terms and Conditions. Comments? We would like to hear from you, E-mail us at customercare@copyright.com

## Vita

Uttam Bhattarai is a Nepalese citizen by birth. He attended his undergraduate college from Institute of Agriculture and Animal Sciences at Tribhuvan University, Nepal. After graduation, Uttam was awarded a Nepal Aid Fellowship from Indian Embassy in Nepal to pursue his master's degree in plant breeding and genetics in India. Uttam completed his master's degree from Assam Agricultural University, Jorhat India in 2013. Prior to starting his Ph.D., he did two months internship at Academia Sinica Taiwan during July and August 2013. Uttam joined Dr. Prasanta Subudhi's lab in January 2014 as a Ph.D. student. He is working on genetics of drought tolerance in USA rice genotypes. During his Ph. D studies at Louisiana state university, Uttam also graduated his master's in applied statistics as a dual degree from the same university. He has already published two first authored publications from his Ph.D. research.